ANTIANGIOGENIC THERAPY IN ADVANCED LUNG ADENOCARCINOMA: EFFICACY AND KRAS MUTATION AS A PROGNOSTIC BIOMARKER

PhD thesis

Áron Kristóf Ghimessy

Clinical Medicine Doctoral School Semmelweis University





Supervisor:	Balázs Döme, MD, PhD.
Official reviewers:	Gergely Dénes Huszty MD, PhD, Zoltán Heiler MD, PhD,

Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Béla Szende, Professor emeritus

Members of the Complex Examination Committee: Krisztina Bogos MD, PhD. Marcell A. Szász PhD

Budapest 2020

Table of contents

1. Abbreviations 4 -
2. Introduction 8 -
2.1. Lung cancer 8 -
2.1.1. Epidemiology 8 -
2.1.2. Etiology 9 -
2.1.2.1. Smoking 9 -
2.1.2.2. Environmental risk factors 11 -
2.1.2.2.1. Radon 11 -
2.1.2.2.2. Asbestos 11 -
2.1.2.2.3. Air pollution 11 -
2.1.2.3. Genetic risk factors 12 -
2.1.2.4. Coexisting diseases and infections 12 -
2.1.3. Histology and molecular background of lung cancer 13 -
2.1.3.1. Adenocarcinoma 15 -
2.1.3.2. Squamous Cell Carcinoma 18 -
2.1.3.3. Large Cell Carcinoma 19 -
2.1.3.4. Neuroendocrine tumors 19 -
2.1.3.4.1. Small Cell Lung Cancer 19 -
2.1.4. Screening, clinical diagnosis, staging and prognosis of lung cancer 20 -
2.1.4.1. Screening 20 -
2.1.4.2. Clinical diagnosis of lung cancer 23 -
2.1.4.2.1. Functional evaluation of patients diagnosed with lung cancer 25 -
2.1.4.3. Staging of lung cancer 27 -
2.1.4.4. Prognosis of lung cancer 30 -
2.1.4.4.1. Prognosis of SCLC 30 -
2.1.4.4.2. Prognosis of NSCLC 31 -
2.1.5. Treatment of lung cancer 33 -
2.1.5.1. Treatment options for SCLC 33 -
2.1.5.2. Treatment of NSCLC 35 -
2.1.5.2.1. Treatment of early stage NSCLC 35 -
2.1.5.2.2. Treatment of locally advanced (stage III) NSCLC 43 -
2.1.5.2.1. Treatment of metastatic NSCLC 44 -
2.2. Vascular endothelial growth factor and bevacizumab 48 -

2.3. KRAS mutation and antivascular treatment
3. Objectives 53 -
3.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC
3.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC 53 -
4. Methods 55 -
4.1. General ethical consideration 55 -
4.2. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC
4.2.1. Study design 56 -
4.2.2. Patients 56 -
4.2.3. Treatment 56 -
4.2.4. Progression-free and overall survival 57 -
4.2.5. Statistics 58 -
4.3. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC 58 -
4.3.1. Study population 58 -
4.3.2. Molecular diagnosis 60 -
4.3.3. Statistical methods 61 -
5. Results 62 -
 5. Results 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC 62 -
 5. Results
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 - 5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints - 67 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 - 5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints - 67 - 5.1.3.2.1. Tumor response - 67 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 - 5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints - 67 - 5.1.3.2.1. Tumor response - 67 - 5.1.3.2.2. Overall survival - 69 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 - 5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints - 67 - 5.1.3.2.1. Tumor response - 67 - 5.1.3.2.2. Overall survival - 69 - 5.1.3.2.3. Safety and adverse events - 70 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 - 5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints - 67 - 5.1.3.2.1. Tumor response - 67 - 5.1.3.2.2. Overall survival - 69 - 5.1.3.2.3. Safety and adverse events - 70 - 5.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC - 73 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 - 5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints - 67 - 5.1.3.2.1. Tumor response - 67 - 5.1.3.2.2. Overall survival - 69 - 5.1.3.2.3. Safety and adverse events - 70 - 5.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC - 73 - 5.2.1. Incidence of KRAS mutations in LADC patients treated with bevacizumab and chemotherapy - 73 -
5. Results - 62 - 5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC - 62 - 5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients - 62 - 5.1.2. Treatment - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3. Efficacy analysis - 64 - 5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival - 64 - 5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints - 67 - 5.1.3.2.1. Tumor response - 67 - 5.1.3.2.2. Overall survival - 69 - 5.1.3.2.3. Safety and adverse events - 70 - 5.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC - 73 - 5.2.1. Incidence of KRAS mutations in LADC patients treated with bevacizumab and chemotherapy - 73 - 5.2.2. The presence of KRAS mutations has clinical utility in predicting disease outcome in LADC patients receiving concurrent antiangiogenic and chemotherapy- 77 -

6. Discussion 85 -
6.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC
6.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC 91 -
7. Conclusion 95 -
7.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC
7.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC
8. Summary 96 -
9. Összefoglalás 97 -
10. References 98 -
11. Bibliography of the candidate's publications 138 -
11.1. Publications related to the thesis 138 -
11.2. Publications not related to the thesis 138 -
12. Acknowledgements 147 -

1. Abbreviations

AE	adverse event
AIS	adenocarcinoma in situ
ALK	anaplastic lymphoma kinase
ARID1A	AT-rich interactive domain-containing protein 1A
BEV	bevacizumab
BRAF	B-Raf proto-oncogene
CDKN2A	cyclin-dependent kinase Inhibitor 2A
CHT	chemotherapy
CI	confidence interval
CK7	cytokeratin 7
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CR	complete response
CRC	colorectal cancer
CRF	case report form
СТ	computer tomography
DLCO	diffusing capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ECOG	Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group
EGFR	Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
EMA	European Medicines Agency
ERBB2	v-erb-b2 avian erythroblastic leukemia viral oncogene homolog 2
ERK	extracellular regulated kinases
ESMO	European Society for Medical Oncology
FDA	Food and Drug Administration (U.S.)
FEV1	forced expiratory pressure in 1 second
FVC	forced vital capacity
GABA	gamma-aminobutyric acid
GWAS	genome wide association studies
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HLA-A	human leukocyte antigens on the A locus

HRAS	Harvey rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
KEAP1	Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1
KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma 2 viral oncogene homolog
LA	Locally advanced
LADC	lung adenocarcinoma
LCC	large cell carcinoma
LCNEC	large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma
LDCT	low dose computer tomography
MAP2K1	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 1
MEK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MET	met proto-oncogene (hepatocyte growth factor receptor)
MGA	MAX gene associated
MIA	minimally invasive adenocarcinoma
MLL2	histone lysine methyltransferase gene KMT2D
NA	not applicable
nAChR	nicotinic acetylcholine receptors
NF1	neurofibromatosis type I
NFE2L2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2
NLST	National Lung Screening Trial
NNK	4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(13-pyridyl-1-butanone)
NOTCH1	neurogenic locus notch homolog protein 1
NRAS	Neuroblastoma rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
NSCLC	non-small cell lung cancer
nsNSCLC	non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer
OCS	observational cohort study
OS	overall survival
РАН	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PD	progressive disease
PDYN	prodynorphin
PET	positron emission tomography
PFS	progression-free survival

PIK3CA	phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit alpha				
PR	partial response				
PS	performance status				
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog				
RAF	rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma, receptor tyrosine kinase effector				
RAS	rat sarcoma viral analog				
RB1	retinoblastoma protein 1				
RBM10	RNA-binding protein 10				
RCT	randomized clinical trial				
RECIST	response evaluation criteria in solid tumors				
RET	rearranged during transfection				
RIT1	Ras-like without CAAX 1				
ROS1	ROS proto-oncogene 1				
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase				
SAE	serious adverse event				
SBRT	stereotactic body radiotherapy				
SCLC	small cell lung cancer				
SD	stable disease				
SD	standard deviation				
SETD2	SET domain containing 2				
SMARCA4	SWI/SNF related, matrix associated, actin dependent regulator of				
	chromatin, subfamily a, member 4				
SqCC	squamous cell carcinoma				
STK11	serine/threonine kinase 11				
ТВ	tuberculosis				
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas Program				
TNM	Tumor, node, metastasis - Internationally accepted classification of				
	malignant tumors;				
TP53	tumor protein p53				
TSNA	tobacco-specific N-nitrosamine				
TTF1	thyroid transcription factor 1				
TTP	time-to-progression				

- U2AF1 U2 auxiliary factor 1
- VATS *video-assisted thoracic surgery*
- VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor
- WHO World Health Organization
- WT wild type

2. Introduction

2.1. Lung cancer

2.1.1. Epidemiology

More than 8 million cancer deaths and 14 million new cancer cases were documented worldwide in 2012. Lung and breast cancer were diagnosed most frequently among these, and they represent the leading causes of cancer death overall. However, in more developed countries, lung cancer represents the leading cause of cancer death in women(1) and prostate cancer accounts for the most diagnosed malignancy.

Lung cancer became the second most common malignant tumor in the last century. In the 19th century and even in the beginning of the 20th century lung cancer was a very rare diagnosis. In the 1840s only 22 published cases could be found(2), while in 1912 Adler still only identified 374 published cases(3, 4). Recent statistics show that annually there were 1.825 million new lung cancer cases worldwide in 2012. This is a marked rise from 1.6 million new cases in 2008(5). 409 900 of these cases were reported in Europe which was 13% of all cancer cases(6), however it causes more deaths than breast, prostate and colon cancer combined. It is estimated that the total number of deaths caused by lung cancer was 1.589 million worldwide, which accounts for 17% of all cancer related deaths(7). The incidence of lung cancer still rises worldwide, although it shows great variances between countries.

Hungary has on of highest mortality rates of lung cancer in the world both in men and women. Hungary, unlike other developed countries, records a growing number of new cases. While the incidence hasn't increased over the last few years in men, it continuously does in women(8). In 2014, the registered number of new cases of lung cancer in Hungary was 5189 (60% male, 40% female). Incidence is quite low in the population younger than 40 years $(0-12\%^{000})$, however it rises drastically to $250\%^{000}$ in the male population between 50 and 54 years of age(9).

2.1.2. Etiology

2.1.2.1. Smoking

The use of tobacco attributes to 90% of all lung cancer cases, which makes it the single greatest risk factor regarding lung cancer. Smokers have a 15 fold chance of developing lung cancer compared to non-smoking population. Based on less univoque evidence, they presume that work-associated carcinogens attribute for 9-15%, radon released into air for 10% and pollution for 1-2% of cases.

Society-wide understanding of the relationship between smoking and lung cancer was achieved very slowly due to several factors. One of these factors is the long latency period between smoking initiation and the development of lung cancer and another interesting factor was the marketing activity of the tobacco industry(10). Tobacco had been used by people in Europe, America and Asia for centuries without significant incidence of lung cancer. Tobacco was regarded primarily as medicine or was used only in rituals. Tobacco was brought to Europe in the 15th century but cigarettes were only manufactured first in the 19th century. In this era, cigarettes were expensive and hand-rolled and only men used them occasionally(11, 12).

The world wars had a great role in the fact that smoking got popular first in men and later also in women. Smoking increased dramatically after both world wars because soldiers were handed free cigarettes and developed nicotine addiction. At this time the negative effects of smoking were not know to the wide public so soldiers subsequently brought the habit of smoking home. Early reports already suggested a link between smoking and cancer in the 1920s and 1930s but these reports were not perceived widely thus they had no effect on consumption(13-16). The first major epidemiological studies were released in 1950 by Doll and Hill (17) and Wyander and Graham (18). These definitely established the relation between smoking and lung cancer which led to statements Royal College of Physicians in Great Britain in 1962 (19) and the US Surgeon General in 1964 to warn the public about the dangers of smoking.

Smoking a cigar or a pipe is less dangerous than cigarettes because the tobacco smoke exposition is lower and deep inhalation is rare. The chance of developing lung cancer shows an exponential relationship with the number of cigarettes smoked and the total years of smoking. The length of smoking is of greater importance than the age of the patient and no matter how old someone is, quitting decreases the chance of lung cancer.

Passive smoking is also considered a risk for developing lung cancer, however a metanalysis comparing smoking and non-smoking couples found that passive smoking only increased the risk by 20%(20, 21). In Hungary an estimated 34% of the population is smoking (41% in male and 28% in female) which puts Hungary among the countries with the highest risk of lung cancer.

Nicotine, responsible for the addictiveness of cigarettes, is a natural alkaloid acting as an acetylcholine agonist that binds to the nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChR) in the nervous system, causing release of neurotransmitters into the blood stream, including dopamine, serotonin, norepinephrine, endorphins, and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA). Nicotine upregulates nicotinic receptors and alters gene expression causing dependence and also helping progression of an existing tumor(22-24). Nicotine itself is not regarded as carcinogen, however there are at least 60 known carcinogens produced at tobacco combustion. The most significant are tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines (TSNAs), such as 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(13-pyridyl-1-butanone) (NNK) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), including benzo[a]pyrene and nitrates(25). The relationship of NNK to lung cancers, specifically adenocarcinomas have been demonstrated(26). Combustion of tobacco produce a smoke that has a vapor phase that produce 10^{15} , and a particulate phase with 10^{17} free radicals per gram. The damage done by these free radicals is one of the methods of carcinogenesis, the other is DNA adduct and metabolite formation(24, 25). The carcinogenesis of smoking can be seen on Figure 1.



1. Figure – Carcinogenesis of smoking

2.1.2.2. Environmental risk factors

2.1.2.2.1. Radon

It has been known from the 15th century that mining carried the risk of lung disease. It was observed on miners working in the mountains on the German-Czech border that the incidence of "mountain disease" was very high. In these mines they produced cobalt, arsenic, bismuth, iron, silver and later in the 20th century radium. In the 20th century these mining communities had extremely high incidence of squamous cell lung cancer(4). Residential exposition to radon occurs from soil. Radon is a radioactive gas occurring naturally from the earth's crust from natural decay of uranium. Usually radon level can rise to unsafe measures in residential basements. Cigarette smoking in the same time increases the relative risk of lung cancer from radon(27-29).

2.1.2.2.2. Asbestos

Asbestos is the most common occupational exposure to carcinogens but especially in Eastern Europe asbestos can also be still found in residential buildings. Asbestos was used widely in constructions since the 19th century. It contains chrysotile fibers that have been shown to have association with lung disease and thoracic malignancies such as malignant mesothelioma and lung cancer. Residential and continuous occupational exposure to asbestos carries a 5-fold risk of lung cancer and have a synergistic effect with tobacco smoking(30, 31). A closed eternity factory still produce increased risk for asbestos exposure for residents living in nearby villages in Hungary's Selyp.

2.1.2.2.3. Air pollution

An adult inhales approximately 10 000 liters of air per day which means that even a small concentration of carcinogens can cause changes in the cellular DNA with time. Air pollution in big cities consist of carcinogens released from combustion of fossil fuel, arsenic, nickel and chrome. A study conducted in six large cities in the USA found that the incidence of lung cancer was 40% higher in the most polluted city compared to the one with the least air pollution(32). The frequently cited paper of Doll and Petro estimated

that only 1-2% of lung cancer cases was due to air pollution in 1981(20). Their estimation is still most probably correct.

2.1.2.3. Genetic risk factors

The fact that not all smokers develop lung cancer establishes the role of genetic susceptibility to lung cancer. They observed that having a positive family history for lung cancer increases the risk 1.7 fold(33). Genome wide association studies (GWAS) identified the chromosome regions connected to increased risk of lung cancer: 5p15, 15q25-26 and 6q21(34, 35). Telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) is involved in cell replication and in the development of lung cancer it is associated with adenocarcinomas. TERT is encoded on the 5p15 region. Chromosome locus 6p21 regulates G-protein signaling, and mutations increase the risk of lung cancer development in non-smokers. The 15q25-26 chromosome locus is known for mutations that are positively linked to nicotine dependence and susceptibility for lung cancer(36, 37).

It is interesting that there have been a change in lung cancer histology throughout the years: in the early 20th century squamous cell lung carcinoma was the most frequent, while since the 1970s the incidence of lung adenocarcinoma rose and incidence of squamous cell carcinomas decreased. The background of this change is not entirely known, however several authors contribute this change to the wide use of filters in cigarettes. The use of filters decreased the amount of inhaled PAHs but on the other hand the deeper inhalation increased the amount of nitrogen-oxides and nitrosamines(32).

2.1.2.4. Coexisting diseases and infections

Previous lung injury caused by chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases (COPD) and lung fibrosis also plays a role in lung cancer development, however it is challenging to study their effect separately because smoking also has a role in COPD. Both diseases can cause lung injury through inflammatory pathways and it was also shown that infections such as tuberculosis (TB) were associated with a 1.7 fold increase in risk for lung cancer(38).

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection also carries a risk among other diseases for lung cancer. Lung cancer is the most common malignancy in patients with HIV infection and it also accounts for 30% of cancer deaths related with HIV(39, 40). The HIV virus itself has not been connected directly to oncogenesis, however the immunosuppression caused by it defiantly plays a role since organ transplant recipients and HIV patients have a similar increase in cancer rates(41). Declining CD4 counts were found to be the reason for higher lung cancer rate. 42% of HIV patients also smoke, however HIV-infected patients have a 2.5 fold greater risk of developing lung cancer regardless of the smoking status(42).

2.1.3. Histology and molecular background of lung cancer

The histopathological diagnosis of lung cancer is based on morphologic features. Two main histopathological groups were made: small cell lung cancer (SCLC) and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). SCLC accounts for approximately 15% of cases, while NSCLC accounts for 85%. NSCLC is usually subcategorized into adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma and large cell carcinoma, even though more and more evidence suggests that that these are molecularly heterogenous diseases(43).

Histological classification was last updated in 2015 by the World Health Organization (WHO). It recognizes the new molecular discoveries achieved since 2004.

1. Table - WHO 2015 classification of lung epithelial tumors

Adenocarcinoma	Large cell carcinoma	
Lepidic adenocarcinoma	Adenosquamous carcinoma	
Acinar adenocarcinoma	Pleomorphic carcinoma	
Papillary adenocarcinoma	Spindle cell carcinoma	
Micropapillary adenocarcinoma	Giant cell carcinoma	
Solid adenocarcinoma	Carcinosarcoma	
Variants of adenocarcinoma	Pulmonary blastoma	
Invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma	Other and unclassified carcinomas	
Mixed invasive mucinous and non-mucinous		
adenocarcinoma	Lymphoepithelioma-like carcinoma	
Colloid adenocarcinoma	NUT carcinoma	
Fetal adenocarcinoma	Salivary gland-type tumors	
Enteric adenocarcinoma	Mucoepidermoid carcinoma	
Minimally invasive adenocarcinoma	Adenoid cystic carcinoma	
Non-mucinous	Epithelial–myoepithelial carcinoma	
Mucinous	Pleomorphic adenoma	
Preinvasive lesions	Papillomas	
Atypical adenomatous hyperplasia	Squamous cell papilloma	
Adenocarcinoma in situ	Exophytic	
Non-mucinous	Inverted	
Mucinous	Glandular papilloma	
Squamous cell carcinoma (SqCC)	Mixed squamous cell and glandular papilloma	
Keratinizing SqCC	Adenomas	
Non-keratinizing SqCC	Sclerosing pneumocytoma	
Basaloid SqCC	Alveolar adenoma	
Preinvasive lesion	Papillary adenoma	
SqCC in situ	Mucinous cystadenoma	
Neuroendocrine tumors	Mucous gland adenoma	
Small cell carcinoma		
Combined small cell carcinoma		
Large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC)		
Combined LCNEC		
Carcinoid tumors		
Typical carcinoid		
Atypical carcinoid		
Preinvasive lesion		
Diffuse idiopathic pulmonary neuroendocrine cell		
Hyperplasia		

2.1.3.1. Adenocarcinoma

Adenocarcinoma is currently the most common malignancy of the lung and it is a heterogenic group of tumors. In Hungary adenocarcinoma accounts for 47% of all lung cancer incidence(44). The common in all adenocarcinomas is the glandular structure and some level of mucin production. The growing pattern can be variable, the most common is lepidic growth that follows the alveolar wall, acinar, papillary or solid. Several of these patterns can be present within one tumor but usually one is dominant. The diagnosis of adenocarcinoma is often proven by immunohistochemistry (TTF1, Napsin-A, CK7) and mucin staining.

Adenocarcinoma in situ (AIS) was introduced as a new precancerous category. These tumors are smaller than 3 cm in diameter, they are solitary, the show clearly lepidic growth pattern and they do not invade the pleura, stromal cells or the vessels.

Minimally Invasive Adenocarcinoma (MIA) was also introduced as a new precancerous category. These tumors are not greater than 3 cm in diameter, they are solitary, they show dominantly lepidic growth pattern and they only show minimal (smaller than 5mm) stromal, vascular or pleural invasion.

The nomenclature do not use bronchiolo-alveolar carcinoma and mixed adenocarcinoma anymore(45).



2. Figure – Histologic subtypes of lung adenocarcinoma: A, Predominantly lepidic pattern with lepidic growth on the right with invasive acinar adenocarcinoma on the left; B, Proliferation along the alveolar wall (type II pneumocytes and Clara cells); C, Invasive acinar adenocarcinoma; D, oval-shaped malignant glands invading the fibrous stroma in invasive acinar adenocarcinoma; E, Papillary adenocarcinoma; F, Small papillary clusters of glandular cells in a micropapillary adenocarcinoma; G, Solid adenocarcinoma; H, Solid adenocarcinoma with mucin. Adopted from (46).

The most common significantly mutated pathways include the *EGFR*, *FGFR*, *VEGFR*, *NTRK*, *EPHA/B* and *INSR* genes as seen in Figure 3.



3. Figure – Significantly mutated pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. Oncoproteins are indicated in pink to red and tumor suppressor proteins are shown in light to dark blue. The darkness of the colors shows the number of tumors with genetic alterations.(47)

18 significant somatic mutations were identified in lung adenocarcinoma by comprehensive molecular profiling of 230 tumors by The Cancer Genome Atlas Program (TCGA) in 2014: *TP53* (46%), *KRAS* (33%), *KEAP1* (17%), *STK11* (17%), *EGFR*(14%), *NF1* (11%), *BRAF* (10%), *SETD2* (9%), *RBM10* (8%), *MGA* (8%), *MET* (7%), *ARID1A* (7%), *PIK3CA* (7%), *SMARCA4* (6%), *RB1* (4%), *CDKN2A* (4%), *U2AF1* (3%), and *RIT1* (2%). A mean of 8.9 mutations were reported per megabase which is considered very high. This widened the possibility of targeted therapy. 75% of the examined adenocarcinomas contained genetic changes to the RTK/RAS/RAF signaling pathway and 62% of them had driver genetic alterations that promote this cascade. The most common driver mutations were *KRAS*, *EGFR* and *BRAF* with 32, 11 and 7% respectively in this study. Other promoter mutations included MET exon 14 skipping (4.3%), *ERBB2* mutation (1.7%), *ROS1* fusion (1.7%), *ALK* fusion (1.3%), *MAP2K1* mutation (0.9%), *RET* fusion (0.9%), *NRAS* mutation (0.4%), and *HRAS* mutation (0.4%).



4. Figure – A: Co-mutation plot of variants of known significance within the RTK/RAS/RAF pathway in lung adenocarcinoma. B: New candidate driver oncogenes (blue: 13% of cases) and known somatically activated drivers events (red: 63%) that activate the RTK/RAS/RAF pathway in the majority of the 230 adenocarcinoma cases. Adopted form the TCGA. (48)

The DNA copy numbers were also examined in the remaining 38% of cases were driver mutation was not found. It showed amplification of oncogenes in the RTK/RAS/RAF pathway: *MET* amplification (2.2%) and *ERBB2* amplification (0.9%). New genetic alterations were also identified in this study: *NF1* and *RIT1* mutations, comprising 8.3% and 2.2% respectively. Altogether 75% of lung adenocarcinomas have genetic driver alterations to the RTK/RAS/RAF pathway. This comprehensive study also conducted mRNA profiling, DNA methylation profiling and protein profiling(49).

2.1.3.2. Squamous Cell Carcinoma

In Hungary SqCC accounts for 25% of all lung cancer incidence(50). Squamous Cell Carcinomas are classified as keratinizing SqCC, non-keratinizing SqCC, and basaloid SqCC. Classification is only possible from resected samples. To detect basaloid SqCC immunohistochemistry testing of p63 and p40 is needed.

Comprehensive molecular testing of lung SqCC was performed in 2012 by TCGA. 178 cases of lung SqCC were profiled and complex genetic alterations were identified. Most patients were heavy smokers which caused the high number of genetic changes: a mean of 360 exonic mutations, 165 genetic rearrangements and 323 segments of copy number alterations per tumor. 11 statistically significant mutations were found: *TP53, CDKN2A, PTEN, PIK3CA, KEAP1, MLL2, HLA-A, NFE2L2, NOTCH1, RB1,* and *PDYN.* The incidence of *TP53* was 90%.

This comprehensive study also conducted pathway analysis, mRNA profiling, DNA methylation profiling and protein profiling(51).

2.1.3.3. Large Cell Carcinoma

Large Cell Carcinomas (LCC) are rare, in Hungary LCC accounts for only 2% of all lung cancers. The diagnosis can only be made from resected specimen which can often cause a clinical problem is advanced cases were normally only fine needle or core biopsy would be taken. By definition LCC is a NSCLC that does not show signs of glandular or squamous differentiation(45). Immunohistochemistry has an important role in the diagnosis of LCC because most poorly differentiated tumors can be classified as either adenocarcinoma or SqCC with the right immunopanel (TTF1, Napsin-A, p40, p63, CK5/6).

2.1.3.4. Neuroendocrine tumors

This category "neuroendocrine tumors" was established in the 2015 WHO classification. It consist of three subtypes: SCLC (20%), large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC -3%), and carcinoid tumors. Carcinoids tumors can be divided in atypical (0.2%) and typical (2%) groups. Clinical behavior of neuroendocrine tumors can greatly vary, thus the distinction between high-grade neuroendocrine tumors, such as SCLC and LCNEC, and a carcinoid tumors is very important. The prognosis of the latter group is usually benign and these tumors frequently occur in non-smoking population, whereas high-grade neuroendocrine tumors are usually the most aggressive and the patients are usually heavy smokers.

In the pathological diagnosis of neuroendocrine tumors chromatin structure, the presence of necrosis and proliferative activity (mitosis number) are important.

2.1.3.4.1. Small Cell Lung Cancer

SCLC consists of small cells with typical dust-like chromatin, decreased cytoplasm and high mitosis number (11/2mm²) is seen.

Two groups reported full genomic analysis of SCLC. *SOX2* was reported as a frequently amplified gene in SCLC by Rudin et al(52). It was also shown that *in vitro* suppression of *SOX2* blocked the proliferation of SOX2-amplified SCLC cell lines. Peifer et al. on

the other hand, found mutations in the *CREBBP*, *EP300*, and *MLL* genes that encode histone modifiers. This suggest that histone modification is an important process in SCLC(53). In 2015, George et al. found complex genetic alterations in SCLC, such as C:G>A:T transversions (in 28% of all cases), inactivation of *TP53*, *RB1* and the *NOTCH* family genes (25% of all cases)(54, 55). These changes are often seen in heavy smokers.

2.1.4. Screening, clinical diagnosis, staging and prognosis of lung cancer

2.1.4.1. Screening

Screening for lung disease traditionally existed in most developed countries for the screening of infectious diseases such as tuberculosis (TB). Radiological screening with roentgen started widely after the II. World War when the price of the radiological examination was lowered(56). In Hungary, yearly lung screening was mandatory for every person of the age of 14 or older form 1960 to 2004. Screening examinations were done in a separate lung-screening network with yearly notifications via post.



5. Figure - Lung screening X-rays conducted in Hungary from 1954 to 2014(57)

Screening included chest x-ray and in some cases cytology and bacteriological culture from sputum. This system was primarily set up to find TB cases, however it helped in the discovery of lung cancer as well. With the notable decrease in TB cases and the worsening financial system in the Hungarian health care, the screening network has been partially dismantled since 2004 and screening is not mandatory anymore. In the late 1990's lung cancer screening became an important topic in the developed countries. The first country to introduce a modern screening system with computer tomography (CT) was Japan and the first dedicated program was the Early Lung Cancer Action Program in the USA(58, 59).

Several countries, including the USA, Netherlands, Japan, Denmark conducted observational trials and the conclusion was always the same: lung cancer can be found in an earlier stage with low-dose CT (LDCT) screening(60). To acquire reliable mortality data a randomized trial was warranted. The National Cancer Institute (US) founded the National Lung Screening Trial (NLST), a multi-center randomized study that was conducted from 2002 to 2009 and enrolled a total of 53,456 participants (from 2002 to 2004). Only heavy smokers (more than 30 pack year) were included between the ages of 55 to 75. Approximately 50% of cases were randomized to a chest x-ray arm, while the other 50% to a low dose screening arm. 309 deaths per 100,000 persons-year was observed in the chest radiography arm, while 247 in the LDCT arm, which means a 20% relative reduction in lung cancer mortality. Since LDCT screening is a relatively expensive option, population wide LDCT screening is not affordable for most countries. People should be selected on the basis of lung cancer risk assessment.

2. Table - Approximate 10-year risk of developing lung cancer.Adopted from Bach PB et al. (61)

Duration of smoking						
	25 years		40 years		50 years	
Age	Quit, %	Still smoking, %	Quit, %	Still smoking, %	Quit, %	Still smoking, %
1 pack per day smokers						
55	<1	1	3	5	NA	NA
65	<1	2	4	7	7	10
75	1	2	5	8	8	11
2 packs per day smokers						
55	<1	2	4	7	NA	NA
65	1	3	6	9	10	14
75	2	3	7	10	11	15

Several models were made to predict the risk of lung cancer development. Bach et al. proposed a risk assessment model which primarily counts smoking history (in Table 2.). Later the Spitz model (62) and the Liverpool Lung project (LLP) (63) model were also published. These models take several factors in consideration: age, age, smoking duration, exposure to carcinogens, diagnosed emphysema, prior diagnosis of pneumonia, prior diagnosis of malignant tumor, family history of cancer in first-degree relatives. D'Amelio et al conducted a validation study including the Bach, the Spitz and the LLP

models. The latter two proved to be more discriminative, accurate and clinically more utilizable(64).

Screening with LDCT after lung cancer risk calculation is an affordable and efficient way of early lung cancer detection and thus a way to decrease lung cancer mortality. It raises some ethical considerations, however. Using the above mentioned risk assessment models mean that non-smokers will most probably be excluded from lung cancer screening. Considering the fact that non-smokers can also develop lung cancer, although the chance is thinner, raises concerns about the above described system. No financially feasible, more effective and ethically non-objectionable method has been developed however. In Hungary, currently no lung screening program is available and this situation must be addressed sooner than later.

2.1.4.2. Clinical diagnosis of lung cancer

Lung cancer detection in early stage is the most important step to achieve good results with treatment. 85% of the cases however, are only detected when symptoms occur and in 57% the diagnosis is only made when metastases are already present (65). The problem is that in most cases lung cancer does not cause early symptoms. Symptoms can be divided to subgroups (66):

- Symptoms related to endobronchial growth: Cough (8% to 75%), dyspnea (3% to 60%), pain, wheezing (0% to 2%), poststenotic pneumonia, hemoptysis (6% to 35%), stridor (0% to 2%).
- Symptoms related to intrathoracic extension: Chest pain (20% to 49%), hoarseness (recurrent nerve involved), diaphragm paralysis raised diaphragm (phrenic nerve involved), upper airway inflow obstruction, dysphagia (esophagus involved), pleural effusion (carcinosis pleurae), pericardial effusion (pericardium involved), superior vena cava syndrome (v. cava superior involved), Horner triad, chronic shoulder pain (in Pancoast tumors).
- Systemic cancer symptoms: Weight loss (0% to 68%), fatigue, fever (0% to 20%), night sweats.
- Symptoms of distant metastases: Bone pain (6% to 25%), headache, neurological or psychiatric abnormalities, hepatomegaly, pathological fractures.

• Paraneoplastic syndromes: Cushing syndrome, Lambert-Eaton syndrome, Perre-Marie-Bamberger syndrome, syndrome of inappropriate ADH secretion, etc.

Lung cancer can be detected after the previously mentioned symptoms occur or in asymptomatic changes. Detection is most commonly done by chest x-ray or CT, however MRI (Magnetic Resolution Imaging) and PET (Positron Emission Tomography) are also more frequent.

Lung cancer diagnosis is often made from CT morphology and optionally the level of FDG uptake on PET, when a spiculated mass is seen, however pathological verification is also needed, primarily to distinguish between SCLC and NSCLC because the treatment strategies are very different. SCLC in most cases presents in a later stage with lymph node involvement. Generally small, central lung lesions with extensive lymphatic involvement always raise the concern for SCLC. The pathological diagnosis can be made from biopsies or after operation depending on the stage and treatment plan.



6. Figure – CT axial section of a spiculated mass in the left lower lobe (segment 6). Picture obtained from the Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Institute of Oncology, Budapest.

Lung cancer workup includes flexible bronchoscopy for the intrabronchial evaluation of anatomy and tumor spread. Bronchial washing and brushing can be done, which is ideal for intrabronchial or central tumors. Biopsies can be made through the bronchoscope with x-ray or ultrasound guidance (TBNA – trans-bronchial needle aspiration, EBUS – endobronchial ultrasound). The primary lesion and most regional lymph node stations can be reached with EBUS and also endoscopic ultrasound (EUS) guided biopsy can be of help. In case of peripheral lesions, transthoracic fine needle aspiration or core biopsy under image guidance (usually CT) can be performed to get diagnosis and even the molecular characteristics of the tumor. Thoracentesis can also be of help in case of pleural fluid as a palliative and diagnostic tool. When none of the above mentioned methods yield a result, invasive, surgical techniques can be considered like mediastinoscopy, VATS biopsy or thoracotomy.

To provide adequate treatment it is important to assess how far the tumor have spread (staging) and to estimate the physical condition of the patient.

2.1.4.2.1. Functional evaluation of patients diagnosed with lung cancer

Physical evaluation of patients have to include the assessment of comorbidities, general performance (Karnofsky-index and the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) status is most commonly used) and lung function. The most important comorbidities to take into account are cardiac, liver and renal diseases that can affect the feasibility and the result of certain treatment options. Cardiac echographia with the measurement of cardiac output and in selected cases cardiac stress test is often needed. Liver and renal function is tested with laboratory workup.

The evaluation of lung function is most important before surgical treatment, where the risk of the treatment and the quality of life achieved have to be taken into consideration. Generally, Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second (FEV₁), Forced Vital Capacity (FVC) and Diffusing Capacity (DLCO) are measured. Patients with FEV₁ of more than 80% of the normal (adjusted for size and age) and DLCO more than 80% are suitable for surgical treatment (including pneumonectomy) without further tests. In case either of these values are under 80% spiroergometry is recommended. If the maximum oxygen consumption is above 20mL/min/kg or 75% of normal, the patient can be referred for surgery (including

pneumonectomy). When the maximum oxygen consumption is below 40% of the expected (or < 10mL/min/kg) functional inoperability is established. In case the maximum oxygen consumption is between 40% and 80%, postoperative FEV₁ are calculated on the basis of quantitative ventilation and perfusion on lung scintigraphy. If the estimated FEV₁ after the procedure is higher than 40% of normal, the operation can be performed; if it is below 40% functional inoperability has to be assumed.



7. Figure – Algorithm of functional evaluation recommendation of the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO); 2017 (67)

2.1.4.3. Staging of lung cancer

To evaluate the extent of the disease CT, PET CT, bone scintigraphy, brain MRI, abdominal ultrasound and biopsies are used. The staging is made following the actual international guideline. The latest staging system for lung cancer is the 8th tumor, node, metastasis (TNM) classification which was introduced after examining 77.156 cases and their outcome regarding survival and relapse (68).

T stage is determined by the size of the primary tumor and its involvement of the adjacent structures:

3. Table - T value in the 8th edition of TNM staging. Adopted from: International Association for Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. [69]

T – Primary Tumour						
Тх		Primary tumour cannot be assessed				
то		No evidence of primary tumour				
T1		Tumour 3 cm or less in greatest diameter surrounded by lung or visceral pleura, without evidence of main bronchus				
	T1a(mi)	Mininally invasive adenocarcinoma				
	T1a	Tumour 1 cm or less in greatest diameter				
	T1b	Tumour more than 1 cm but not more than 2 cm				
	T1c	Tumour more than 2 cm but not more than 3 cm				
T2		Tumour more than 3 cm but not more than 5 cm; or tumour with any of the following features: Involves main bronchus (without involving the carina), invades visceral pleura, associated with atelectasis or obstructive pneumonitis that extends to the hilar region				
	T2a	Tumour more than 3 cm but not more than 4 cm				
	T2b	Tumour more than 4 cm but not more than 5 cm				
ТЗ		Tumour more than 5 cm but not more than 7 cm or one tha directly invades any of the following: chest wall, phrenic nerve, parietal pericardium, or associated separate tumour nodule(s) in the same lobe as the primary				
Т4		Tumours more than 7 cm or one that invades any of the following: diaphragm, mediastinum, heart, great vessels, trachea, recurrent laryngeal nerve, oesophagus, vertebral body, carina; separate tumour nodule(s) in a different ipsilateral lobe to that of the primary				

N stage determines the lymph node involvement of lung cancer in the hilar and mediastinal regions. Lymph node involvement separates cases by prognosis and thus have a great effect on treatment.

4. Table - N value in the 8th edition of TNM staging. Adopted from: International Association for Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. (69)

N – Regional Lymph Nodes				
Nx	Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed			
NO	No regional lymph node metastasis			
N1	Metastasis in ipsilateral peribronchial and/or ipsilateral hilar lymph nodes and intrapulmonary nodes, including involvement by direct extension			
N2	Metastasis in ipsilateral mediastinal and/or subcarinal lymph node(s)			
N3	Metastasis in contralateral mediastinal, contralateral hilar, ipsilateral or contralateral scalene or supraclavicular lymph node(s)			

The N categories were made after the survival was assessed in pathological classified cases. N1 was divided into N1a (single station, ipsilateral hilum) and N1b (multiple stations); and N2 into N2a1 (single N2 station without N1 involvement), N2a2 (single N2 station with N1 involvement) and N2b (multiple N2 stations). The 5-year survival rates were the following: N1a, 59%; N1b, 50%; N2a1, 54%; N2a2, 43%; and N2b, 38%. A single-stage mediastinal nodal disease without N1 disease has the same prognosis as multiple N1 station involvement.

M stage defines distant metastases beyond the regional lymph nodes.

5. Table - M value in the 8th edition of TNN	M staging. Adopted from	: International	Association for
Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. (69)			

M – Distant Metastasis						
мо		No distant metastasis				
M1		Distant metastasis				
	M1a	Separate tumour nodule(s) in a contralateral lobe; tumour with pleaural or pericardial nodules or malignant pleural or pericardial effusion				
	M1b	Single extrathoracic metastasis in a single organ				
	M1c	Multiple extrathoracic metastases in one or several organs				

M1b was introduced as a separate category for the single extrathoracic metastases, since this patients had a significantly better survival (with a mean survival of 11.4 months instead of 6.3 months)(70). The treatment strategy also differs for these patients, since in selected oligometastatic cases better survival can be achieved with aggressive local therapy, whereas in M1c cases systemic therapy has better results.

The appropriate stage is given from the TNM values according to the following table:

6. Table – Staging according to the 8th TNM. Adopted from: International Association for Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. (71)

T/M	Subcategory	NO	N1	N2	N3
T1	T1a	IA	IIB	IIIA	IIIB
	T1b	IA	IIB	IIIA	IIIB
	T1c	IA	IIB	IIIA	IIIB
T2	T2a	IB	IIB	IIIA	IIIB
	T2b	IIA	IIB	IIIA	IIB
T3	Т3	IIA	IIIA	IIIB	IIIC
T4	T4	IIIA	IIIA	IIIB	IIIC
M1	M1a	IVA	IVA	IVA	IVA
	M1b	IVA	IVA	IVA	IVA
	M1c	IVB	IVB	IVB	IVB

2.1.4.4. Prognosis of lung cancer

The prognosis depends highly on the histology, most importantly the distinction between SCLC and NSCLC, the biological behavior of the cancer and the stage.

2.1.4.4.1. Prognosis of SCLC

For the staging of SLCL currently the 8th TNM system is used, however another approach classifies SCLC into two groups: Limited Disease (LD) and Extensive Disease (ED). This classification reflects the clinical behavior and the spread of the tumor rather well, since LD patients have significantly superior survival when compared to ED patients. One contributing factor is that often small, accidentally found lesions turn out to be SCLC after final pathological examination. In these cases the surgical removement is done in a very early stage. The TNM system gives a more accurate estimation of the prognosis, however very few cases are found in early stages. When creating the 8th TNM for SCLC, Shirasawa et al. included 277 patients in a retrospective cohort and compared their prognosis. In this cohort 65.7% of the patients were classified as ED and 34.3% as LD, the OS was 37.2 (95% CI 25.7–48.7) and 13.7 (95% CI 11.9–15.5) months, respectively (this can be seen of Figure 8A). On Figure 8B. OS can be seen according to the TNM stages. OS drops markedly between stages, comparison of the curves reveals significant difference between every line (P values were the following: stage I vs II, P=0.04; I vs III, P=0.02; I vs IV, P<0.001; II vs III, P=0.47; II vs IV, P=0.009; III vs IV, P<0.001). It is important to know however, that the distinction between IVA and IB stage is also important because the change of M descriptor was also significantly associated with OS. OS of stage IVB patients with the M1c descriptor was inferior to that of the stage III and IVA patients with the M0, M1a, or M1b descriptors (Figure 9A-B) (72).



8. Figure - Kaplan–Meier analysis-based estimates of survival based on staging system in SCLC patients (n=277). (A) Comparison of survival between LD (n=91; gray) and ED (n=186; black) SCLC patients (P<0.001). (B) Comparison of survival between patients in TNM stages I to IV. Adopted from (72).



9. Figure - Kaplan–Meier analysis-based estimates of survival for ED SCLC patients. (A) Comparison of survival between patients in stages III (n=10, gray solid line), IVA (n=70, gray dotted line), and IVB (n=106, black solid line) (B) Comparison of survival according to the M descriptor of the 8th TNM. Adopted from (72).

2.1.4.4.2. Prognosis of NSCLC

The average 5-year survival in NSCLC is approximately 15%. This dismal result is due to the fact that most cases are found in latter stages (73) as previously mentioned. When

recently validation the 8th TNM Yun et al. compared the survival of 3950 following lung cancer resection. All TNM stages showed significant differences (except IIA and IIB where the difference was not significant). The 5-year median survival was 90.7%, 79.9%, 68%, 58.7% and 44.9% for IA, IB, IIA, IIB and IIIA stages, respectively according to the 7th TNM, however, reassessing the patients with the 8th TNM the 5 year median survival was quite different: 96.1%, 92.3%, 87.9%, 81.1%, 74.7%, 67.2%, 47.5% and 38.3% for IA1, IA2, IA3, IB, IIA, IIB, IIIA and IIIB stages, respectively. These results can be seen on Figure 10. The 8th TNM distinguishes better between both early and advanced stage NSCLC patients according to Yun et al (74).



10. Figure – Survival curves of OS according to the 8th TNM in the cohort of Yun et al. (74)

The 8th TNM was not yet validated in regards to stage IIIB and IV. However, available survival data shows significantly worse survival in these groups. The 5-year survival is reported to be 19%, while the median survival is 16 months in IIIB stage. The median survival drops to 6 months in IV. stage with the 5-year survival only 6%(75). This is already and improved results as 5-year survival virtually never existed in IV. stage before. Further development and superior survival results are to be expected with the introduction of novel therapies such as immunotherapies.

2.1.5. Treatment of lung cancer

2.1.5.1. Treatment options for SCLC

The TNM staging system is useful to select patients for surgical treatment, however only very few cases are suitable for removal, reportedly less than 5%(76). Most of these patients are operated for an unknown lesion in the lung. These patients have superior outcome with 5-year survival up to even 50% is some reports (77, 78). Surgical approach can only be selected in these cases when lymph node involvement is ruled out with adequate mediastinal staging with PET-CT, EBUS and or mediastinoscopy. Postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy (CHT) is indicated even in T1-2,N0,M0 cases. Usually 4 cycles of CHT is administered. In case of unexpected N1 or N2 disease postoperative radiotherapy should be considered depending on the completeness of lymphadenectomy performed by the surgeon.

In cases with N2 disease, even without distant metastases (M0) surgery has no role. Total gross tumor volume proved to be an independent prognostic factor independent on the local therapy(79). N2 patients should undergo combined concurrent chemoradiotherapy. Prophylactic cranial irradiation (PCI) should be considered at al T1-2,N0-1,M0 patients in case they responded to initial treatment.

Patients with T1-4,N0-3, M0 SCLC should be treated with chemotherapy and thoracic radiation concurrently in case the performance status (PS) allows. 70 Gy in daily fractions or 1.5 Gy in 30 fractions twice a day are usually selected options for radiotherapy. For the planning of radiotherapy to choose the target volume a PET CT is usually used.

For patients with metastatic SCLC the treatment is palliative. Most commonly a combination of CHT is used. A big meta-analysis reviewed the data of 19 randomized trials and shown that cisplatin was superior in terms of outcome in combination therapy when compared to other agents(80). Another collecting the data of 36 randomized trials concluded that etoposide, especially in combination with cisplatin showed longer OS than regimens without these two agents(81). The above mentioned results led to the clinical practice of etoposide-cisplatin combination therapy for SCLC as a standard of care. Usually 4-6 cycles are administered in first line treatment.

PCI has led to significantly longer OS and less symptomatic brain metastases in randomized trials (82), thus patients responding well to initial CHT are usually offered PCI as well (25 Gy in 10 daily fractions or 20 Gy in 5 fractions).



*if no confirmation of solitary metastasis is obtained, radiotherapy may be added after first response evaluation and is omitted in case of obvious metastatic involvement ** concomitant chemoradiotherapy as an alternative option

*** or stable disease in case of localised disease

Second-line treatment for SCLC is only recommended in patients who respond to the first-line therapy. In patients who progress during chemotherapy and non-responders (early relapse within 6 weeks) outcomes are poor and further systemic therapy does not yield significant benefit. For these patients best supportive care is offered. Topotecan, a topoisomerase-I inhibitor, is a drug used for previously treated patients with SCLC. Its efficacy in terms of longer OS and better quality of life (better symptom control) was proven in a phase III trial (84). 8 years later the oral version of the drug was also tested in a phase III trial and was found to be equally efficient(85).

Targeted therapies were studied in extent for SCLC both in combination with chemotherapy and as a single agent, however very few studies managed to meet the primary endpoint. The examined drugs included: bevacizumab (86), vandetanib (87) and aflibercept (88) (anti-angiogenesis agents), panobinostat (89) (histon deacetylase inhibitor), oblimersen (90) (an agent targeting apoptosis) and cixutumumab and vismodegib (91) (agents targeting cell signaling). Alisertib, an aurora kinase inhibitor and sunitinib, a multi-targeted receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI; targeting VEGFR, PDGFR and KIT) are the only agents showing preliminary signs of efficacy in SCLC(92,

^{11.} Figure – First line treatment algorithm for SCLC (ESMO 2013). Adopted from (83).

93). The latter also showed improvements in PFS, however it is still not clear whether they will impact the standard of care.

2.1.5.2. Treatment of NSCLC

2.1.5.2.1. Treatment of early stage NSCLC

Surgical removal remains the first choice of treatment in localized, resectable NSCLC (Stage I and II). First-line surgery provides the best survival. As previously mentioned 5-year survival is between 90.7% (IA) and 58.7% (IIB)(74).

The choice of upfront surgery is made after staging, assessment of technical operability and tissue biopsy when needed. The algorithm of lymph node staging recommended by ESMO can be seen on Figure 15.



(a) : In tumours > 3 cm (mainly in adenocarcinoma with high FDG uptake) invasive staging should be considered

(b) : Depending on local expertise to adhere to minimal requirements for staging

(c) : Endoscopic techniques are minimally invasive and are the first choice if local expertise with EBUS/EUS needle aspiration is available
 (d) : Due to its higher NPV, in case of PET positive or CT enlarged mediastinal LN's, videoassisted mediastinoscopy (VAM) with nodal dissection or biopsy remain indicated when endoscopic staging is negative. Nodal dissection has an increased accuracy over biopsy

12. Figure – ESMO 2017: recommended algorithm for staging in patients with M0 NSCLC (FDG
fluorodeoxyglucose; LN - lymph node, NPV - negative predictive value; VAM - video-assisted mediastinoscopy) Adopted from (94).
Surgical techniques have improved significantly in the last twenty years. Most of the traditional thoracic operations were first described between 1900 and 1950. The first anatomical dissection of hilar structures, as lobar vein, artery and bronchus was first done in 1933 by Rienhoff, which was a big step to achieve fewer complications. The techniques improved quickly and anatomical segmentectomy (Churchill and Belsey in 1939) and even sleeve lobectomy was developed by 1947 (Price Thomas) (95). From the 1950s to the 1980s new surgical instruments were developed, but the main types of lung operations were not changed.

Wedge resection is an atypical resection of lung parenchyma most often done by surgical staplers. Atypical in this sense means that the resection line does not follow anatomical structures or borders. It is mainly used for inflammatory, benign, metastatic or unknown lung lesions. Segmentectomy means the selected resection of one or several pulmonary segments. This procedure requires precise surgical technique and was mainly used in situations when the pulmonary function did not allow more extensive parenchyma resection. Lobectomy is the gold standard operation for the removal of primary lung malignancies. Lobectomy means the central dissection and ligation or stapling of the lobar pulmonary artery(s), vein and bronchus. Lobectomy is also often used when the parenchyma of a complete or near complete lobe is damaged by inflammatory diseases or when a secondary tumor is deep in the parenchyma and a wedge resection is not possible. Pneumonectomy is the most extensive operation performed on a single lung, it means the complete removal of the lung on one side by centrally closing the main pulmonary artery, lower and upper lobe veins and the main bronchus.



13. Figure – The main four types of pulmonary resections (Education material from the University of South Carolina; access: cts.usc.edu)

All of the above mentioned procedures were done through a thoracotomy, when the thoracic cavity is approached through a rib space. To get appropriate access to preform complicated operations, long wounds had to be made and the ribs had to be either resected or pushed apart from each other. Thoracotomy was and still is a painful operation and it can have significant complications which sour the patients life. Most pain is caused by damaging the intercostal nerves. Neuralgic pain can last for years after the operation. A less invasive way to operate the chest was introduced very early: the first thoracoscopic procedures are attributed to Jacobeus (1910), who used a cystoscope to evacuate pleural fluids and to take pleural biopsies, although Sir Francis Richard Cruise was the first to apply and endoscope in the chest in 1865. Despite the early thoracic application of the technique, major thoracic procedures were only performed in the late 1980s, early '90s, after the video camera was invented. Rovario performed and described the first lobectomy

done by Video Assisted Thoracic Surgery (VATS) in 1991 (96). Later McKenna presented already 1000 cases of VATS lobectomy and in 2008 the first VATS sleeve lobectomy as well (97). VATS can be done through several small incisions, most commonly three, however newer techniques emerged: Gonzales-Rivas performed the first lobectomy in 2011 through one port (uniportal or single-port) (98). Ever since there was a shift towards single-port and less invasive surgery. At the beginning VATS was only used for small or benign lesions and there was a general view that VATS is less radical. However, later several study proved that OS was comparable after VATS lobectomy as with an open procedure (99-103) and the amount of lymph nodes taken out was also not different (104). In the US centers often choose another minimal-invasive technique instead of VATS, the Robotic Assisted Thoracic Surgery. Robotic surgery got widely accepted as a form of minimal-invasive surgery first in the US. Postoperative pain is reported to be comparable with VATS and the OS comparable with VATS and thoracotomy (105, 106).



14. Figure – Thoracotomy versus VATS. Comparison of (A) intraoperative access and incision and (B) postoperative wound length (Pictures taken in the Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Institute of Oncology, Budapest)

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414

The real advantage of VATS or robotic thoracic surgery is shown in the early postoperative phase when patients are pain-free and can leave the hospital on the postoperative second day. This leads to less pulmonary complications (107), and some studies suggest that even less immunosuppression and thus better resistance against cancer (108). Ceppa et al. used the national database in the US, in their meta-analysis they showed that the greatest benefit of VATS can be seen in patients with poor pulmonary function. The incidence of pulmonary complications in patients with compromised pulmonary reserves, was higher after thoracotomy than after VATS (109), as can be seen on the figure below.



15. Figure – Pulmonary complications after thoracotomy (grey) and VATS (black). The difference of pulmonary complications after surgery is most significant in patients with poor pulmonary function (FEV1 lower than 50%). Adopted from (109).

It is not yet widely accepted that OS is better after VATS or robotic thoracic pulmonary resection and most guidelines do not differentiate, data suggest that minimal invasive resection should be the gold standard of care for early lung cancer (108).



16. Figure – OS is longer in patients who had VATS resection for early lung cancer when compared with those who underwent resection through thoracotomy (left). The difference is still visible after propensity crossmatching, although it is not statistically significant (right). (Figures adopted from Berry et al. (108))

Although imaging, surgical and staging techniques have significantly changed in the last two decades, still the Lung Cancer Study Group (LCSG) 821 trial remains the ground for surgical treatment. According to this trial lobectomy is the cornerstone of surgical therapy for stage I and II NSCLC, as local recurrence was found more frequently after less radical operations (wedge resection and segmentectomy) (110). This data and along that our current practice will most probably be updated as the new TNM distinguishes between several types of stage I NSCLC. Based on large collected cohorts segmentectomy seems equally appropriate for T1a tumors. In squamous cell carcinoma lobectomy was found to be superior even in early stages, however in adenocarcinoma equivalent results were reported after anatomical segmentectomy (111). Of note, in another study anatomical segmentectomy was also found to be equally effective in T1c adenocarcinoma (112). Altogether it can be anticipated that in selected early NSCLC anatomical segmentectomy will be the choice of treatment, however no hard data is available to support this yet. Two major randomized studies are underway (CALGB 140503 and JCOG0802/WJOG4607L) (113, 114). The preliminary results have been published of the latter about the safety and feasibility of segmentectomies (simple and complex as well), their results show that segmentectomy is not inferior in any of the examined parameters (complications, length of hospital stay, duration of air leak etc.) (115).

Lymph node management during surgery is also controversial. In early stages, the removal of lymph nodes is mainly necessary for staging purposes, to get a guaranteed R0 resection and an accurate mediastinal staging. The latest ESMO recommendation implies surgical evaluation of at least six lymph node stations, three of which are mediastinal, including the sub-carinal station. If all of these are negative on pathological report than R0 and N0 can be safely stated (116). It is widely accepted that in early stages, especially stage I OS and PFS, as well as local recurrence might not be influenced by the type of surgical lymph node assessment, however in stage II and particularly IIIA intraoperative nodal dissection is recommended (117). The extent of dissection is also up to debate, the most common technique is lobe specific lymph node dissection, though perioperative lymph node assessment (EBUS, mediastinoscopy) can also be of effect.

For high-risk patients, or for patients who are unwilling to take the risk of an operation, or patients with unresectable tumors primary stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) can be recommended(67). The reported local control rate of SBRT is between 79-90.9% at 5 years (118, 119). The recommended dose is a biologically equivalent tumor dose of 100 Gy. The toxicity using this dose SBRT for stage I or II peripheral NSCLC is low and acceptable, even in elderly and patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (120). Data is available on outcomes of SBRT in patients who underwent the procedure for peripheral stage I tumors and are generally fit for surgery, however, there is no evidence to currently to recommend SBRT over up front surgery (121, 122). One problem with SBRT is the lack of pathological confirmation after the procedure. Randomized studies are being conducted, although three have failed to complete its plan (123). Two studies that have concluded reported comparable recurrence-free survival three years after the procedure . Given, that the toxicities are tolerable and the quality of life is good after SBRT, patient opinion should be more included in the discussion to recommend personalized treatment in the future.



17. Figure - SBRT distribution plan for NSCLC. Adapted from (124).

Multiple primary tumors should also be assessed with curative intent and complete surgical resection is recommended when feasible. In patients with borderline risk, combination of surgery and SBRT has been proven efficient(125).

In case a patient has contraindication against both surgery and SBRT radiofrequency ablation (RFA) might be the reasonable choice of treatment, however the level of supporting evidence is from observational cohorts only (126).

Postoperative radiotherapy is rarely indicated in stage I and II cases. It was found detrimental in cases without lymph node invasion (127). Cases with unexpected N1 and N2 disease are not clear. Postoperative radiotherapy (concurrent with chemotherapy) seem a reasonable choice when R0 resection is suspected (mainly because of N1 lymph nodes) or when the N2 lymph nodes are involved. To support this recommendation a large clinical trial is underway (128).

Adjuvant platinum based chemotherapy was found to have beneficial effect on survival for stage II NSCLC patients(129). Altogether a 4-5% improvement in 5-year survival was reported in N1 and N2 disease. The adjuvant regimen used was 300mg/m2 of cisplatin in three to four cycles (130). The best timing of adjuvant chemotherapy is not entirely clear, although most protocols say 6 weeks after surgery, recent data form the National Cancer Database (United States of America – US) show comparable results after longer interval between resection and chemotherapy (131).

Based on this knowledge, patients with completely resected stage II tumors are recommended adjuvant chemotherapy within 6-8 weeks after surgery. On the other hand,

in stage IA, chemotherapy has not been proven to be beneficial in an adjuvant setting(132). In IB a small benefit was seen in OS and an in depth analysis showed that this was due to patients with tumors >4 cm (133).

In stage IA NSCLC is therefore only followed up after resection, in IB, however adjuvant chemotherapy can be recommended in cases when the tumor size is over 3-4cm.

As of today, no evidence suggest that the use of targeted agents, such as TKIs for EGFR mutant cases, yield a benefit in an adjuvant setting. Prospective studies are being conducted, however until their result is presented, targeted agents are not recommended as adjuvant CHT.

There is less experience with neoadjuvant CHT in early NSCLC, most studies found no survival comparing neoadjuvant and adjuvant modalities (134, 135). In some, selected cases when downstaging or size reduction is needed for surgical removal, neoadjuvant regimens can potentially be of use (less extensive surgical procedure is possible after) (136).

Both adjuvant and neoadjuvant trials have been initiated using immunotherapy (anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 checkpoint inhibitors) for early lung cancer (trials NCT NCT02504372, NCT02273375 and NCT02998528) on the basis of the promising results in second line curative therapy. This might change the clinical practice in the near future.

2.1.5.2.2. Treatment of locally advanced (stage III) NSCLC

Stage III or locally advanced (LA) NSCLCs can be divided in two groups: surgically resectable LA NSCLC and unresectable LA NSCLC. The treatment strategy is understandably different.

Resectable LA NSCLC usually occurs in three instances: 1) single-station N2 lymph node involvement is suspected or confirmed by biopsy (other stations were found negative with PET and biopsy). In these cases complete lymphadenectomy and postoperative CHT has shown superior outcome compared to surgery or chemotherapy alone (137). However, it is not clear whether surgery or SBRT is the better option in these cases. In the limited number of studies comparing the two modalities of local control no clear advantage was shown for either (138, 139).

2) T4N0 tumors where R0 resection is considered feasible. In these cases up front surgery (generally open technique) and postoperative CHT is recommended. Potentially

resectable superior sulcus tumors should first be treated with neoadjuvant concurrent radio-chemotherapy and followed by resection. The same can apply to central T4 cases. Surgery should not be more than 4 weeks after radiotherapy in these cases (139).

3) in cases with multiple level N2 involvement who underwent neoadjuvant chemotherapy and regression is confirmed by CT. In these cases surgery is recommended followed by definitive CHT (140).

Standard cisplatin based systemic therapies were found to be the most effective in an adjuvant setting in stage III, although immunotherapy is currently being evaluated. Pemetrexed-cisplatin failed to show benefit in OS versus the standard cisplatin-etoposide (141).

In unresectable LA NSCLC (in cases of stage III patients where R0 resection is not considered possible by a multidisciplinary team) concurrent chemo-radiotherapy was shown to have the best results (142, 143). There is no data regarding targeted therapy in stage III patients with driving mutations such as EGFR or ALK. No conclusion can be drawn from the two studies examining this subject (144, 145).

2.1.5.2.1. Treatment of metastatic NSCLC

The treatment strategy for stage IV NSCLC varies greatly on histology, molecular pathology, age, comorbidities – performance status (PS) and patient preference. Most cases are offered systemic therapy when the ECOG PS is below 2, with some notable exceptions. Smoking cessation is important in any stage of lung cancer and it should be encouraged in stage IV as well, as it can interfere with some of the systemic treatments (146, 147).

Patients with newly diagnosed metastatic NSCLC should be evaluated by multidisciplinary tumor boards. The first to consider is the PS: PS 0-2 patients are recommended systemic treatment, whereas 3-4 patients are generally offered best supportive care (BSC). Molecular testing should be done in patients, selected for systemic treatment. In case targetable driving mutations are found, target therapy should be offered.



18. Figure - Treatment algorithm of stage IV NSCLC. Recommendation by ESMO, 2018 (148).

The best established oncogenic target in advanced stage NSCLC is *EGFR* mutation (149, 150). First- (erlotinib and gefitinib) and also second generation (afatinib) TKIs were compared with standard CHT and were found superior in terms of disease control, OS and PFS (151-155). Patients with poor PS (3 or 4) can also benefit from TKI therapy when an EGFR mutation is present (156). Clinically stable patients, who have previously benefited from TKI therapy should continue receiving EGFR TKI, even when radiological progression occurs (157). Local control (surgery or radiotherapy) should be considered when radiological progression is only seen in one distant site. It is not clear whether the administration of second generation TKIs yield a significant benefit for patients. Most studies reported improved PFS, however OS was not affected (158-160).Third generation TKIs are being introduced into standard care. Osimertinib is in the most advanced stage, as it was reported to improve both PFS and OS (161). The addition of antiangiogenesis agents, such as bevacizumab was also investigated. Seto et al. reported improved PFS, however the difference was not seen in OS (162). Other studies are also investigating combinations with encouraging early results (163, 164).



19. Figure - Treatment algorithm for stage IV NSCC, molecular tests positive (ALK/BRAF/EGFR/ROS1). ESMO recommendation (148).

ALK rearrangement is also a well-tested target for advanced NSCLC. Crizotinib was the first to be tested against other treatment options. Significant advantage was seen in both objective response rate (ORR) and PFS in two multicenter single-arm studies (165, 166). Second generation ALK inhibitors like alectinib and certinib were found to be more effective in terms of PFS and intracranial activity (167, 168). Patients, treated with crizotibin should be offered next-generation ALK TKIs when they show progression.

Crizotinib and ceritinib were showed to also be effective in ROS1-rearranged NSCLC (169-172), while brigatinib, lorlatinib, repotrectinib and entrectinib were also found to have potential anti-ROS activity in preclinical studies (173).

BRAF mutation was also successfully targeted in advanced adenocarcinoma. *V600E* (*Val600Glu*) is the most commonly observed mutation with and incidence of 1-2% in lung adenocarcinomas and with a higher incidence in smokers (174, 175). Three agents, vemurafenib, dabrafenib and sorafenib were all found to be effective with a mean ORR of 53% (176).

In patients who do not harbor known targetable genetic changes, immune checkpoint inhibitors showed great promise recently. A phase III study, the KEYNOTE-024 established pembrozilumab as a standard first-line treatment for advanced NSCLC when PD-L1 expression is higher than 50% and EGFR mutation and ALK translocation is absent. ORR, PFS, OS, safety and quality of time all favored pembrolizumab over standard CHT (177-179).



20. Figure - Treatment algorithm for stage IV NSCC, when molecular tests are negative (ALK/BRAF/EGFR/ROS1) (148).

CHT with platinum doublets is still standard therapy in all advanced NSCLC patients who do not harbor targetable genetic changes and do not have major comorbidities. A 23% reduction of risk of death, 9% 1-year survival gain, 1.5 month increase in absolute median survival and improved quality of life were observed in two big meta-analyses (180-182).

Antiangiogenic agents showed efficacy as additional therapy (described in detail later). Most studies in advanced squamous cell carcinoma did not report any benefit from targeted therapy (181), thus platinum-based combinations with the addition of a third-generation cytotoxic agent, such as generatione, vinorelbine or taxanes, are recommended.

Role of surgery

Oligometastatic disease was introduced as a new subcategory in advanced NSCLC. M1b disease was defined in contrast to patients with multiple metastases (M1c) (183).

Prospective studies suggest that surgery only has a role in oligometastatic disease, when complete (R0) resection can be reached. Nodal disease means poor prognosis (184-186).

2.2. Vascular endothelial growth factor and bevacizumab

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a key factor to endothelial cell growth and one of the most important regulators of angiogenesis. Increased expression of VEGF can be demonstrated in most solid tumors including NSCLC (187). In many cases, VEGF overexpression is associated with an increased risk of relapse and metastasis (188-191). According to preclinical studies, anti-VEGF monoclonal antibodies are capable of inhibiting the growth of human tumor xenografts both in monotherapy and in combination with chemotherapy (192-195).



21. Figure – VEGF signaling pathways and receptor binding specificity. Adopted from: https://www.bocsci.com/vegf-signaling-pathway.html

Bevacizumab (BEV; Avastin®; Genentech/Roche, South San Francisco, CA, USA) is a humanized monoclonal antibody that acts by binding and neutralizing the VEGF-A isoform, thus preventing VEGF ligand-receptor binding. It has demonstrated its efficacy in colorectal (196, 197), ovarian (198), breast(199, 200) and renal cancer (201, 202). This has also been the first and only antivascular drug to be licensed for the treatment of NSCLC so far.

According to a phase II study (203), bevacizumab treatment in combination with chemotherapy in NSCLC was more effective than chemotherapy alone. The combination was also well tolerated, however, the incidence of lung hemorrhage increased. In a post hoc multivariate analysis, squamous cell histology was identified as an independent risk factor for bleeding (204). Consequently, patients with squamous cell histology were excluded from most of the clinical trials of bevacizumab in NCSLC.

Subsequent to the above Phase II study, the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) E4599 trial was initiated (205). This study, which was the first published Phase III randomized trial of an antiangiogenesis agent in combination with chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC, randomized chemotherapy-naive patients with predominantly non-squamous cell histology were included. In the bevacizumab treatment arm, following completion of chemotherapy, single-agent bevacizumab was continued until disease progression. Results showed that the addition of bevacizumab was associated with a significant improvement in the median overall survival (OS) compared with chemotherapy alone. Progression-free survival (PFS) was also significantly improved.

A second Phase III trial (Avastin® in Lung; AVAiL), evaluating bevacizumab in combination with cisplatin and gemcitabine (206) (another commonly used and efficacious regimen in NSCLC) was originally initiated with a primary end point of OS. However, after the positive OS results of E4599, the study design was amended so as to change the primary end point from OS to PFS. Patients were randomly assigned to receive cisplatin 80 mg/m2 and gemcitabine 1250 mg/m2 for up to six cycles plus low-dose bevacizumab (7.5 mg/kg), high-dose bevacizumab (15 mg/kg) or placebo every 3 weeks until disease progression. PFS was significantly prolonged with bevacizumab. Interestingly, according to the final efficacy analysis, OS was > 13 months in all treatment

groups, which is the longest OS reported for advanced non-squamous NSCLC in a clinical trial setting, although it did not yield a statistically significant prolongation with either bevacizumab dose (207).

As a result of the above trials, bevacizumab in combination with platinum-based chemotherapy was approved for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced NSCLC by the European Medicines Agency (EMEA) in August 2007.

Although bevacizumab was approved with platinum-based chemotherapy in NSCLC in 2007, so far no Hungarian data have been available. The AVALANCHE (ML21783) study was undertaken to assess the clinical outcomes of first-line bevacizumab combined with standard platinum-based regimens in Hungarian clinical practice.

2.3. KRAS mutation and antivascular treatment

KRAS protein, encoded by the KRAS proto-oncogene, is a small GTPase which plays a key role in regulating various cell functions (208). Alterations of the KRAS gene are typically missense mutations that can lead to the oncogenic conversion of KRAS resulting in the constitutive activation of its effector pathways and thus cancer development and progression (209). KRAS is frequently mutated in pancreatic and colorectal cancer (CRC) and in lung adenocarcinoma (LADC). With an incidence of up to 30%, KRAS mutation is the most common driver mutation in LADC. The most prevalent G12C and G12V KRAS mutation subtypes are associated with smoking-, while the G12D subtype has been observed in never-smokers (210, 211). Several other rare mutations of KRAS codon 12, 13 and 61 have also been reported (210).

The prognostic and predictive power of KRAS mutation in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients remains controversial. It was first reported in the late 1980s that KRAS mutation is associated with poorer survival (212, 213) and since then several groups confirmed these findings (214, 215). However, most of these studies were rather heterogeneous in terms of histology, tumor stage and methodologies of KRAS mutation detection. Although two different meta-analyses concluded that KRAS mutation is a negative prognosticator in LADC (216, 217), the most comprehensive study of more than 1500 NSCLC patients (including 300 KRAS mutant cases) from four trials of adjuvant chemotherapy (CHT) reported that KRAS mutation had no clear prognostic or predictive relevance with regards to response to CHT (218).

Previously, our group performed a mutation subtype-specific analysis of 505 stage III– IV LADC patients treated with platinum-based CHT and found that there were no significant differences in progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) among patients with wild type (WT), codon 12 and codon 13 KRAS mutations. Importantly, however, G12V KRAS mutant patients tended to have a higher response rate and a modestly longer median PFS (219).

The importance of subtype-specific KRAS mutation analysis was further highlighted in the preclinical study of Garassino et al. These authors investigated the role of different KRAS mutation subtypes (G12C, G12V and G12D) in the in vitro chemosensitivity of human NSCLC cells and found that the expression of G12C was associated with a reduced response to cisplatin and an increased sensitivity to taxol and pemetrexed. In the same study, G12D mutation led to resistance to taxol and sensitivity to sorafenib, whereas the G12V mutation sensitized the cells to cisplatin (220).

Increased expression and the negative prognostic role of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF, the key angiogenic cytokine) have been reported in most solid tumors including NSCLC (187) (221). Several phase 2 and 3 clinical trials demonstrated that the addition of BEV to CHT improves PFS and OS of NSCLC patients (203, 205, 206, 222, 223). Accordingly, BEV in combination with platinum-based CHT was approved for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced-stage NSCLC by the FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration) and the EMA (European Medicines Agency) in 2006 and 2007, respectively. The efficacy of BEV in a real-life setting in Hungary was shown in the Avalanche study (224).



22. Figure – EGFR signaling pathway and the connection to the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK cascade. Adopted from (225).

Although the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK signaling pathway has been implicated in the regulation of VEGF expression and angiogenesis (226), only very few studies investigated the effect of KRAS mutation on the efficacy of BEV therapy. Most studies focused on CRC, where the addition of BEV to CHT prolonged survival regardless of KRAS mutational status (227-230). Two different groups, however, demonstrated that G12V, G12A (231) and G12D (232) KRAS mutations are associated with poor outcome in metastatic CRC patients receiving BEV. As for nonsquamous NSCLC, in a phase 2 trial evaluating the addition of neoadjuvant BEV to CHT, Chaft et al. found that no patient (0 out of 10) with KRAS mutation showed pathological response to neoadjuvant BEV/CHT, in comparison to 11 of 31 KRAS WT patients (233). In another small study of stage IV NSCLC, BEV therapy was associated with improved OS and PFS in KRAS WT (n=26) but not in KRAS-mutant (n=16) patients (234). No study was done on a large cohort of patients to examine the amino acid substitution-specific KRAS mutational status of BEV/CHT-treated stage III-IV Caucasian patients.

3. Objectives

Bevacizumab is a relatively new treatment option in advanced LADC. The addition of BEV to standard platinum based chemotherapy was validated in several international randomized trials, however no Hungarian data was available.

Despite the research effort no validated predictive or prognostic biomarker is known regarding antivascular treatment in NSCLC.

3.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC

Although BEV was approved with platinum-based chemotherapy in NSCLC in 2007, so far no Hungarian data have been available. The AVALANCHE study (ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier: NCT03170284) was undertaken to assess the clinical outcomes of first-line BEV combined with standard platinum-based regimens in Hungarian clinical practice. To achieve results that represent the Hungarian practice, a multi-institutional, single-arm observational study was conducted.

The primary endpoint of the study was PFS, the time from first administration of BEV to disease progression. Secondary endpoints included tumor response, OS and safety.

3.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC

Based on international literature and previous findings form a sub-cohort of the AVALANCHE study, anti-VEGF therapy is not effective in all patients. The exact mechanisms of therapy resistance and furthermore, a predictive and prognostic biomarker for antivascular therapy is not yet known.

The molecular connection between the KRAS signaling cascade and the VEGF signaling pathway has been established, however its clinical relevance is not yet studied. The aim of this study was to analyze whether KRAS mutation could be used as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC. We examined the amino acid substitution-specific KRAS mutational status in a large cohort of BEV/CHT-treated stage III-IV Caucasian patients and its effect on PFS and OS. Our aim was to show the clinical relevance of subtype

specific KRAS mutational status in anti-VEGF therapy and furthermore to establish a predictive biomarker that can help identify therapy resistant patients and thus to give individualized therapy.

4. Methods

4.1. General ethical consideration

Patient data, including pathological reports, clinicopathological variables and data regarding outcome was collected in the following institutions:

- Bács-Kiskun County Hospital, Kecskemét, Hungary
- Békés County Institute of Pulmonology, Gyula, Hungary
- Borsod-Abaúj-Zemplén County Szent Ferenc Hospital, Miskolc, Hungary
- Clinical Center, University of Pécs, Pécs, Hungary
- Csongrád County Hospital of Chest Diseases, Deszk, Hungary
- Fejér County Szent György Hospital, Székesfehérvár, Hungary
- Institute of Pulmonology, Törökbálint, Hungary
- Jász-Nagykun-Szolnok County Hetényi Géza Hospital and Clinic, Szolnok, Hungary
- Kaposi Mór Teaching Hospital, Kaposvár, Hungary
- Municipality of the City of Budapest Uzsoki Street Hospital, Budapest, Hungary
- National Korányi Institute of Pulmonology, Budapest, Hungary
- Petz Aladár County Teaching Hospital, Győr, Hungary
- Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary
- Szabolcs-Szatmár-Bereg County Jósa András Hospital and Clinic, Nyíregyháza, Hungary
- Szent Borbála Hospital, Tatabány, Hungary
- Tolna County Balassa János Hospital, Szekszárd, Hungary
- Vas County Markusovszky Hospital, Szombathely, Hungary
- Veszprém County Institute of Pulmonology, Veszprém, Hungary
- Zala County Hospital, Zalaegerszeg, Hungary

All data collection and analyzes was approved by the local or national ethical committees. No individual patient data is identifiable in the respective publications or in this thesis. All methods included in this thesis were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. All experiments that were reported in this thesis were done complying with all mandatory laboratory health and safety procedures.

4.2. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC

4.2.1. Study design

AVALANCHE (ClinicalTrial.gov Identifier NCT03170284) was a multi-center singlearm observational study designed to assess the efficacy and safety of bevacizumab therapy in patients with advanced, unresectable, metastatic or recurrent nsNSCLC (nonsquamous, other than predominantly squamous cell histology) in the routine oncology practice in Hungary. Further objective of the study was to assess and identify possible treatment-related prognostic factors.

4.2.2. Patients

This study was originally projected to enroll 150 patients from 40 Hungarian study centers. The planned number of patients was later increased to 300 in order to obtain stronger and more representative real-life efficacy and safety data with bevacizumab therapy in Hungary.

Patients with histology or cytology proven unresectable advanced, metastatic or recurrent (stage IIIB/IV) NSCLC other than predominantly squamous cell histology were included in the present study.

Exclusion criteria were as stated in the Hungarian prescribing information.

The study was done in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, Good Clinical Practice International Conference on Harmonization Tripartite Guidelines, laws and regulations of the participating institutes' country. The study was approved by the Hungarian ethics committee and health authority. All patients provided written informed consent.

4.2.3. Treatment

Eligible patients received first-line bevacizumab with cisplatin or carboplatin in accordance to the approved and reimbursed bevacizumab indication in Hungary

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414

(bevacizumab 7.5 mg/kg, every 3 weeks with any platinum-doublet for up to 6 cycles) then non-progressors proceeded to receive bevacizumab until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. The third component of the combination chemotherapy was one of the following: paclitaxel, gemcitabine, docetaxel or vinorelbine. Based on the therapeutic protocol, patients were followed up until the first progression of their primary disease, or death, or withdrawal of consent, or loss of contact with the patient, or closure of the study, whichever occurred first.

4.2.4. Progression-free and overall survival

Investigators seemed to be frequently using progression-free survival (PFS) and time-toprogression (TTP) interchangeably in clinical trials in the early 2000s (235). The protocol of our study defined TTP as the time elapsed from the date of enrolment until the first documented progression or the death of the patient from any cause which is in accordance with the current definition of PFS. To avoid confusion, PFS will be used hereinafter for the denomination of the primary endpoint of the study. Progression was determined by the investigator at the routine clinical practice follow-up examinations. PFS was calculated from the start of bevacizumab treatment.

Secondary endpoints included best tumor response (complete remission (CR), partial remission (PR), stable disease (SD), progressive disease (PD)), OS (based on retrospective analysis) and indicators of safety (serious and non-serious adverse events). ORR (Objective Response Rate) was calculated from patients experiencing complete or partial remission.

Basic demographic data, basic vital parameters, primary disease-related historical data, ECOG performance status, data related to bevacizumab treatment, results of the staging assessments as well as the patient's comorbidities and concomitant treatments were recorded in an electronic case-report form.

Following the closure of the study, data for the assessment of the primary study parameter (PFS) were available for 252 patients. As per the amended protocol, the secondary endpoint (OS) was retrospectively analyzed based on data from 250 patients.

During the treatment period regular monitoring visits were conducted to ensure highquality data collection. Data related to bevacizumab treatment, blood pressure, body weight, concomitant treatments and adverse events were registered. The following data were recorded at the end-of-treatment visit: end date of bevacizumab treatment, reason for ending treatment, ECOG status, best tumor response observed during treatment, concomitant treatments administered during bevacizumab treatment and adverse events observed during bevacizumab treatment.

4.2.5. Statistics

PFS (primary study endpoint) and OS in the total population were analyzed using Kaplan-Meier curves. Log-rank test was used for comparison between groups. When sufficient data were available, an extended analysis using Cox-regression was also performed.

PFS was defined as the time elapsed from the date of enrolment until the first documented progression or the death of the patient from any cause. For study subjects who had not shown progression and had not died by the closure of the study, the data were censored at the date of the last contact.

OS was defined as the time elapsed from the date of enrolment until the death of the patient from any cause. Regarding subjects who had not died by the closure of the study, the OS data were analyzed retrospectively after the end of the study in the knowledge of their dates of death. Otherwise, data were censored at the date of the last contact.

4.3. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC

4.3.1. Study population

In this single-center, retrospective study, 501 consecutive patients with advanced lung adenocarcinoma (LADC) were included who underwent first-line platinum-based (cisplatin or carboplatin) doublet chemotherapy (CHT) with or without BEV at the National Korányi Institute of Pulmonology, Budapest between 2007 and 2016 (Table 10, Figure 23). The addition of BEV to CHT was individually decided by the treating physician in line with the proof of concept BEV clinical trials [16,18] and with the EMA summary of BEV characteristics. According to our inclusion criteria, cytologically or histologically verified unresectable stage IIIB or IV LADC patients were included. Patients with uncontrollable hypertension, hypertensive encephalopathy, arterial or grade 4 venous thromboembolism, nephrotic syndrome (grade 4 proteinuria), pulmonary bleeding, gastrointestinal perforation, need for major surgery or with hypersensitivity to BEV were considered not eligible for BEV therapy (Figure 23).

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414



23. Figure - Consort diagram for advanced LADC cases. Consort diagram to demonstrate the selection of stage IIIB/IV LADC cases for BEV/CHT or CHT alone in this study. Where patients were excluded, the reasons for exclusion are indicated.

In the BEV/CHT group (n=247), platinum was given together with paclitaxel (84.7%) or gemcitabine (15.3%). In order to rule out the potential confounding effect of different treatment regimens, patients receiving other non-platinum partners, such as pemetrexed or docetaxel, were excluded from the CHT group (n=254). Additionally, all patients receiving tyrosine-kinase inhibitors in any further line of treatment were also excluded. According to the therapy guidelines of the host institute, only ECOG (Eastern

Cooperative Oncology Group) performance status (PS) 0 or 1 LADC patients were included in this study, since higher PS contradicted the use of cytotoxic chemotherapy. Smoking status, TNM stage and molecular tumor characteristics (EGFR and KRAS mutational status) were defined at the time of diagnosis. For the calculation of PFS and OS, date of the first CHT was used. Patients with known EGFR mutations were excluded. Clinical follow-up was closed on the 1st of August, 2017. Median follow up was 21 months in the BEV/CHT group, while 10 months in the CHT group. The study and all treatments were conducted in accordance with the current National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines, based on the ethical standards prescribed by the Helsinki Declaration of the World Medical Association and with the approval of the national level ethics committee that included a waiver for this retrospective study (52614-4/2013/EKU). Due to the retrospective study design and the anonymity of the patient records, an informed consent was not recommended.

4.3.2. Molecular diagnosis

All mutational analyses were performed at the time of diagnosis at the 2nd Department of Pathology of the Semmelweis University as previously described (219, 236, 237). DNA isolation was performed from formalin fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue blocks or cytological specimens of primary tumors or lymphatic or organ metastases (including pleural effusion).

KRAS exon 2 mutations were identified by microcapillary-based restriction fragment length analysis as described (219, 236). Briefly, tumor-rich microscopic area on H&E staining had been determined by pathologists prior to macro dissection from FFPE tissue or cytological smears. DNA was extracted using the MasterPure[™] DNA Purification Kit (Epicentre Biotechnologies, WI) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The microfluid-based restriction fragment detection system characterized by 5% mutant tumor cell content sensitivity. Density ratio of the mutated band to the WT one was calculated and samples containing >5% of the non-WT band were considered mutation positive due to the sensitivity threshold. The base-pair substitution in the mutant samples were verified and determined by sequencing on the ABI 3130 Genetic Analyzer System (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) with the BigDye® Terminator v1.1 Kit.

4.3.3. Statistical methods

Categorical parameters, such as gender (male vs. female), smoking status (never vs. ever smoker), ECOG PS (0 vs. 1), and KRAS mutation status (KRAS-mutant vs. WT) were statistically analyzed by Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Age as a continuous variable was analyzed in the different KRAS mutational groups by Mann-Whitney U test as the data was not normally distributed in each group (as per the Shapiro-Wilk normality test). Kaplan-Meier survival curves and two-sided log-rank tests were used for univariate survival analyses. Median follow-up time was calculated by using the reverse Kaplan-Meier approach. The Cox proportional hazards model was used for uni- and multivariate survival analyses to detect the impact of both continuous and categorical factors and to calculate the hazard ratios (HR) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI). For multivariate survival analyses, the Cox regression model was adjusted for age (as a continuous variable), gender (female versus male), smoking (never- versus ever-smoker), ECOG PS (0 versus 1) and stage (IIIB versus IV). In order to establish potential predictive factors, interaction terms were calculated between KRAS status and other variables (age, sex, smoking status, ECOG PS and stage) in the adjusted multivariate Cox regression model. P values are always given as two-sided and were considered statistically significant below 0.05. Metric data are always shown as median or mean and corresponding range or, in case of OS and PFS, as median and corresponding 95% CI. All statistical analyses were performed using the PASW Statistics 18.0 package (Predictive Analytics Software, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Graphs were created with GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

5. Results

5.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC

5.1.1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients

A total of 284 patients with corresponding diagnosis were identified at the Hungarian study sites, and were subsequently enrolled into the study between 17th June 2008 and 3rd May 2011, out of which data of 283 patients were evaluable. From among the 41 study centers originally involved, no patients were enrolled at 16 sites, thus in fact 25 centers participated actively. The highest number of patients enrolled at one center was 36, whereas the smallest was 1. One patient did not comply with all the inclusion and exclusion criteria: the patient's histological diagnosis was squamous cell carcinoma; therefore evaluable patient population was 283. Central localization of the primary tumor was reported in 61 patients (21.6%) and cavitated tumor in 4 patients (1.4%) in the total patient population.

The study population had to be reduced to 252 in case of PFS and 250 regarding OS. In case of PFS 31 patients and in case of OS 33 patients had to be excluded from the data assessment due to missing or incomplete information. These information could not be recovered retrospectively.

The demographic characteristics of the enrolled and evaluable patients are summarized in Table 7.

Characteristic	n (%)	Treatment	n (%)	
Number of patients		Previous Treatment		
Evaluable patient population	283 (99.6%)	Previous surgery	64 (22.6%)	
Patient population evaluable in terms of PFS	252 (88.7%)	Adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy	18 (6.4%)	
Patient population evaluable in terms of OS	250 (88%)	Radiotherapy	18 (6.4%)	
Age (Year)		Chemotherapeutic agent during study		
Mean	58.16 ± 9.032	Paclitaxel	132 (46.6%)	
Mean (men)	58.30 ± 8.986	Gemcitabine	111 (39.2%)	
Mean (women)	58.02 ± 9.113	Docetaxel	18 (6.4%)	
Gender		Vinorelbine	2 (0.7%)	
Male	143 (50.5%)	Other	7 (2.5%)	
Female	135 (47.7%)	No data	13 (4.6%)	
No data	5 (1.8%)	Reported reasons for endin	ng the study	
Histologic type		Progression of primary disease	172 (60.8%)	
Adenocarcinoma	271 (95.8%)	Deterioration of symptoms	4 (1.4%)	
Bronchoalveolar carcinoma	11 (3.9%)	Loss of contact with the patient	7 (2.5%)	
Squamous cell carcinoma	1 (0.4%)	Adverse event related to Bevacizumab treatment	13 (4.6%)	
Stage		Patient's decision	17 (6.0%)	
III B	52 (18.4%)	Patient's death	16 (5.7%)	
IV	226 (79.9%)	Other	45 (15.9%)	
No data	5 (1.8%)	No data	9 (3.2%)	

7. Table - Patient demographics and treatment in the Avalanche study

5.1.2. Treatment

Prior to enrolment, 64 patients (22.6%) had undergone surgical intervention, 18 patients (6.4%) had received adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy, and 18 patients (6.4%) had received radiotherapy (Table 4).

Patients received cisplatin (N=148, 52.3%) or carboplatin (N=124, 43.8%) treatment in accordance with the protocol in approximately half-and-half proportion during the study. No data are available for 11 patients (3.9%). The other components of the combination chemotherapy are shown in Table 4.

The vast majority of patients (N=262, 92.6%) received bevacizumab in 3-weekly cycles. A treatment of different cycle frequency was applied in two patients (0.7%), and no data were available for 19 patients (6.7%). The median number of bevacizumab treatment cycles in the retrospectively evaluated patient population was 6.

The most common reason for ending the study was documented as progression of the primary disease in more than half of the study subjects (60.8%). Patient's decision, patient's death, adverse event related to bevacizumab therapy, loss to follow-up, and symptom deterioration accounted for ending the study in 6.0%, 5.7%, 4.6%, 2,5% and 1.4% of the cases, respectively. Other reasons behind ending the study occurred in 15.9%; no data were available in 3.2% of cases.

5.1.3. Efficacy analysis

5.1.3.1. Progression-free survival

The PFS in the total study patient population was 7.162 ± 0.282 (CI95%: 6.609-7.715) months (Figure 24). The subgroup-analysis of PFS by gender showed that the survival time with bevacizumab treatment was longer in women (median: 7.589 ± 0.647 , CI95%: 6.321-8.858 months) than in men (median: 6.669 ± 0.375 , CI95%: 5.934-7.405 months). This difference, however, was not significant (p=0.542).



24. Figure - Progression-free survival in the total population (Kaplan-Meier)

The median PFS was higher in patients with an ECOG status of 0 at enrolment (median: 7.326 ± 0.535 , CI95%: 6.278 ± 8.375 months) than in patients with a baseline ECOG status of 1 (median: 6.702 ± 0.597 months, CI95%: 5.531-7.873 months). However, the difference between the two groups was not remarkable (p=0.123).

Similarly, PFS was not significantly influenced by the localization of the tumor (central vs. non-central, p=0.813).

Interestingly, the median PFS in patients who had undergone surgical intervention prior to enrolment (median: 8.411 ± 0.947 , CI95%: 6.554-10.267 months) was notably higher (p=0.017) compared with patients with no such prior intervention (median: 6.834 ± 0.265 , CI95%: 6.314-7.353 months). In contrast, neither adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy (p=0.165) nor radiotherapy (p=0.165) applied prior to enrolment had a significant impact on median PFS.

The platinum derivative used had no significant influence on median PFS, either (p=0.199).

Nearly 10% of the patient population with evaluable data were over 70 years of age at the time of enrolment. The median PFS was not significantly different between patients under or above 70 years of age (p=0.541).



25. Figure - Analysis of progression-free survival. A: in different tumor stages; B: According to gender; C: by ECOG PS and D: by history of surgery (Kaplan-Meier). Avalanche study.

Of note, median PFS was significantly higher (p<0.001) in patients receiving bevacizumab maintenance therapy (median: 9.166 \pm 0.601, CI95%: 7.988-10.345 months) compared with those who received no maintenance therapy (median: 5.815 \pm 0.574, CI95%: 4.690-6.940 months) (Figure 26).



26. Figure - Analysis of progression-free survival by BEV maintenance therapy (Kaplan-Meier)

5.1.3.2. Secondary endpoints

5.1.3.2.1. Tumor response

Disease control was achieved in a remarkable 86.5% with CR in 2.3%, and PR in 44.4% of the cases with evaluable data. PD was recorded in 13.5% of evaluable cases and sufficient data was not available in 32.6% (Table 5).

8. Table - Best tumor response reached during the first-line treatment in the Avalanche study

Tumor response	Ν	Patient population	Total patient
		with evaluable data	population
		N = 133	N = 216
		(%)	(%)
Complete remission (CR)	3	2.3%	1.5%
Partial remission (PR)	59	44.4%	29.9%
Stable disease (SD)	53	39.8%	26.9%
Progressive disease (PD)	18	13.5%	9.1%
Not assessable (NA)	83	-	32.6%



27. Figure - Overall survival in enrolled and evaluated patients (Kaplan-Meier) in the Avalanche study

5.1.3.2.2. Overall survival

The median OS in the total study population was 15.179 ± 1.377 months (CI95%: 12.480-17.877) (Figure 27).

As with PFS, we performed subgroup-analysis of OS by gender, ECOG status, prior surgical procedure and chemotherapy.

The localization of the tumor had no impact on OS (p=0.992) in the patient population studied.

Surprisingly, we found a tendency towards a higher median OS for patients over 70 years of age (18.398 ± 3.869 months, CI95%: 10.815-25.982 months) compared with patients younger than 70 years (15.014 ± 1.329 months, CI95%: 12.410-17.619 months), although this difference remained not significant (p=0.638).



28. Figure - Analysis of overall survival. A: According to gender; B: by ECOG PS; C: by history of surgery and D: according to the platina derivate used (Kaplan-Meier). Avalanche study.

A remarkably longer (p<0.001) OS was observed in patients receiving bevacizumab maintenance therapy (median: 26.218 ± 3.946 months, CI95%: 18.484-33.952 months) than in those without maintenance bevacizumab therapy (median: 10.152 ± 0.975 months, CI95%: 8.240-12.064 months) (Figure 29).





5.1.3.2.3. Safety and adverse events

As per the protocol, possible adverse events (AE) encountered during the study were recorded in the Case Report Form. Data on AE were recorded from the start of treatment until the end of treatment.

During the study, a total of 157 AEs were reported for 59 patients, 14 of which were serious (sAE) (Table 6).

Of all the adverse events, 63 (40.1%) events resolved without sequelae, the investigators reported improvement for 61 cases (38.9%) and the event resolved with remaining symptoms in 7 cases (4.5%). 2 AEs (1.3%) had not resolved, 14 AEs (8.9%) persisted unchanged from observation until the last follow-up of the patient, 5 AEs (3.2%) led to the death of the patient, and the outcome was unknown for 4 AEs (2.5%).

Of the above-mentioned AEs, 14 were categorized as sAE, which were the following: Anemia (3 cases), pulmonary embolism (3 cases), hemoptysis (2 cases), deep vein thrombosis (2 cases), hypertension (1 case), neutropenia (1 case), thrombocytopenia (1 case), uremia (1 case). 5 of these (two cases of pulmonary embolism, hemoptysis, hypertension and uremia) led to the death of the patient.

During the study period, 16 (5.6%) of the 283 enrolled and evaluable patients died. The investigators reported the cause of death as disease progression in 11 cases (3.8%), while a serious adverse event was behind the death of the patient in 5 cases (1.7%).

In summary, the participating investigators did not encounter and report on any new information on the safety profile of bevacizumab. Indeed, the rate of reported adverse events falls behind the rate expected based on literature data.
Adverse event	N (%)	Adverse event	N (%)
Anemia	23 (14.7%)	Dermatitis (forehead, back)	1 (0.7%)
Thrombocytopenia	14 (9%)	Dermatitis (generalized)	1 (0.7%)
Neutropenia	12 (7.7%)	Cholesterol increased	1 (0.7%)
Hypertension	7 (4.5%)	Exsiccosis	1 (0.7%)
Nausea	7 (4.5%)	Ulcer (in the mouth, tongue)	1 (0.7%)
Epistaxis	6 (3.9%)	Gastroesophageal reflux disease	1 (0.7%)
Chest pain	5 (3.2%)	Weakness	1 (0.7%)
Acute bronchitis	4 (2.6%)	Vomiting	1 (0.7%)
Weight loss	4 (2.6%)	Abdominal pain	1 (0.7%)
Bone pain	3 (2%)	Ileus	1 (0.7%)
Diarrhea	3 (2%)	Ischemic cerebral vascular lesions	1 (0.7%)
Pulmonary embolism	3 (2%)	Arthralgia	1 (0.7%)
Hemoptysis	3 (2%)	Swelling of arm	1 (0.7%)
Hyponatremia	3 (2%)	Hand swelling	1 (0.7%)
Deep vein thrombosis	3 (2%)	Leg swelling	1 (0.7%)
Hoarseness	3 (2%)	Laryngotracheitis	1 (0.7%)
Cough	2 (1.3%)	Febrile neutropenia	1 (0.7%)
Fever	2 (1.3%)	Prostration	1 (0.7%)
Respiratory infection	2 (1.3%)	Leukopenia	1 (0.7%)
Obstipation	2 (1.3%)	Breast swelling	1 (0.7%)
Pneumonia	2 (1.3%)	Esophageal ulcer	1 (0.7%)
Pyuria	2 (1.3%)	Duodenal ulcer	1 (0.7%)
Tachycardia	2 (1.3%)	Suffusion without trauma	1 (0.7%)
Throat pain	2 (1.3%)	Dizziness	1 (0.7%)
Lung abscess	1 (0.7%)	Thrombosis (left femoral vein)	1 (0.7%)
Agranulocytosis	1 (0.7%)	Uremia	1 (0.7%)
Acute osteomyelitis	1 (0 7%)	Urticorio	1 (0 7%)
(jaw)	1 (0.770)	Officaria	1 (0.770)
Allergic dermatitis	1 (0.7%)	Iron deficiency	1 (0.7%)
Allergic reaction	1 (0.7%)	Bleeding following superficial injury	1 (0.7%)
Hip pain (right-sided)	1 (0.7%)	Clear-cell renal carcinoma	1 (0.7%)
Decubitus	1 (0.7%)	Numbness (of the soles)	1 (0.7%)

9. Table - Adverse events reported in the study (summary)

5.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC

5.2.1. Incidence of KRAS mutations in LADC patients treated with bevacizumab and chemotherapy

All patients had advanced LADC and Caucasian background. Patients with tumors harboring an EGFR mutation were excluded. One hundred and seventy patients of the full cohort of 501 cases were identified as KRAS-mutant (33.9%) and 331 (66.1%) as KRAS WT, Table 7 and Table 8). 38.5% (n=95) of the patients treated in the BEV/CHT group were KRAS-mutant (Table 7), whereas in the CHT group (Table 8) this ratio was 29.5% (n=75) (P=0.012). There were no significant differences between the BEV/CHT and CHT groups with respect to age (P=0.193), smoking status (p=0.072), gender (p=0.506) or tumor stage (P=0.610) (data not shown). The only difference was seen is performance status, where there were more ECOG 0 (vs. EVOG 1) patients in the BEV/CHT group than in the CHT alone group (P=0.031; data not shown), which might be due to the BEV selection criteria. In the BEV/CHT sub-cohort, 35 (36.8%), 19 (20%) and 20 (21%) cases were classified as G12C, G12D and G12V mutants, respectively (Table 9). Other rare (i.e. n<3) KRAS exon 2 mutation subtypes (G12A, G12R, G12S, G13C, G13D) were also found in the BEV group. Subtype specific mutations were technically not assessable in 21 cases (Table 9).

10. Table – Patient characteristics in the BEV/CHT group

	No. of patients (%)		KRAS		
			Wild type (%)	Mutant (%)	<i>P</i> value ^a
All patients	247		152 (61.5%)	95 (38.5%)	
		Median:	62	58	
Age (years) ^b		SD*:	9.2	8.2	0.09
		Range:	53	44	
Smoking ^c					
Never-smoker	30 (12%)		24	6	0.009
Ever-smoker	167 (68%)		93	74	0.008
No data (n=50)					
Gender ^c					
Female	106 (43%)		52	54	0.002
Male	141 (57%)		100	41	0.002
ECOG ^c					
0	139 (56%)		87	52	0.056
1	108 (44%)		65	43	0.050
Stage ^c					
III	55 (22 %)		38	17	0.16
IV	192 (78%)		114	78	0.10
Survival ^d					
Median PFS (months)			8.63	7.03	0.0255
Median OS (months)			21.57	14.23	0.0186

a) P value is calculated between wild type and all mutant groups, b) Mann-Whitney test is used in case of continuous variable (age) as the data are not normally distributed (Saphiro-Wilk test), c) Fisher's exact test is used between categorical variables, d) survival difference between the wild type and the mutant group was calculated using log rank regression analysis, e) PFS was not determined in the CHT group, *SD: standard deviation

11. Table – Patient characteristics in the CHT only group

	No. of patients (%)		KRAS		
			Wild type	Mutant	P value ^a
			(%)	(%)	
All nationts	254		179	75	
An patients	237		(70.5%)	(29.5%)	
		Median:	63	61	
Age (years) ^b		SD*:	7.8	8.7	0.297
		Range:	46	46	
Smoking ^c					
Never-smoker	21 (8%)		15	6	0.435
Ever-smoker	188 (74%)		135	53	0.435
No data (n=45)					
Gender ^c					
Female	118 (46.5%)		79	39	0.27
Male	136 (53.5%)		100	36	0.27
ECOG					
0	128 (50.5%)		94	34	0 225
1	126 (49.5%)		85	41	0.555
Stage					
III	66 (26%)		44	22	0.351
IV	188 (74%)		135	53	0.551
Survival ^{d,e}					-
Median OS			11	10	0 6771
(months)			11	10	0.0//1

a) P value is calculated between wild type and all mutant groups, b) Mann-Whitney test is used in case of continuous variable (age) as the data are not normally distributed (Saphiro-Wilk test), c) Fisher's exact test is used between categorical variables, d) survival difference between the wild type and the mutant group was calculated using log rank regression analysis, e) PFS was not determined in the CHT group, *SD: standard deviation

In order to study the clinical relevance of KRAS mutations, we performed comparative statistical analyses of KRAS status and clinicopathological variables in both the BEV/CHT (Table 7) and the CHT sub-cohorts (Table 8). As for the BEV/CHT group, ever-smoking and KRAS mutational statuses showed a significant positive association (P=0.008, Table 7). KRAS mutation was also significantly more common in female BEV/CHT patients (vs. males; P=0.002, Table 8). ECOG status and clinical stage did not differ between KRAS-mutant and KRAS WT patients in the BEV/CHT group significantly (P=0.056 and P=0.16, respectively, Table 7). The presence of KRAS mutation did not associate with age in the BEV/CHT group (P=0.09, Table 8). Of note, we did not detect significant associations of KRAS mutational status with age, smoking status, gender, ECOG status, stage or OS in the CHT group (Table 8). While reasons for the differences in the associations between KRAS mutational status and clinicopathological variables in the BEV/CHT vs. the CHT sub-cohorts are not entirely clear, a possible explanation is that they are due to the selection criteria for BEV therapy.

		G12C	G12D	G12V	Rare mutation	Р
All patients		35	19	20	21	value ^a
Age (years) ^b	Median:	61	61	56	56	
	SD*:	7.7	7.1	8.7	7.2	0.579
	Range:	32	30	31	19	
Smoking ^c						
Never-smoker		2	0	2	2	
Ever-smoker		33	15	12	14	0.182
No data (15)						
Gender ^c						
Female		21	6	12	15	0.072
Male		14	13	8	6	0.072
ECOG ^c						
0		17	7	11	17	0.504
1		18	12	9	4	0.394
Stage ^c						
III		12	3	1	1	0.071
IV		23	16	19	20	0.071
Survival ^d						
Median PFS (months)		8,53	3,77	8,17	6.77	0,0057
Median OS (months)		19,20	7,27	14,97	12.97	0.0414

12. Table - Correlation of clinicopathologic features, outcome variables and KRAS codon 12 subtypes in patients with advanced LADC treated with BEV (n = 95)

^{*a*} *P* value is calculated between KRAS codon 12 subtypes, ^{*b*} Kruskal-Wallis test, ^{*c*} Chi-square test, ^{*d*} log rank regression analysis, *SD: Standard Deviation

5.2.2. The presence of KRAS mutations has clinical utility in predicting disease outcome in LADC patients receiving concurrent antiangiogenic and chemotherapy

As expected, patients in the BEV/CHT group had significantly longer median OS than those receiving CHT only (P<0.0001, log-rank test; Figure 30). This difference was even more remarkable when only KRAS WT patients were compared (P<0.0001, log-rank test,

Figure 31A). Notably, the addition of BEV to CHT was also associated with significant benefit in OS if KRAS-mutant patients were compared with those in the CHT alone sub-cohort (P=0.0002, log-rank test, Figure 31A).



30. Figure - Comparison of survival outcomes in patients with advanced LADC according to treatment regimen. Advanced LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT showed significantly higher median OS compared to those treated with CHT only (median OSs were 24 vs. 10 months, respectively, P<0.0001, log-rank test).



31. Figure - Kaplan-Meier plots for the OS (A) and PFS (B) in LADC patients according to KRAS mutation status. (A) LADC patients with KRAS WT tumors and receiving BEV/CHT had significantly increased median OS (vs. those with KRAS WT tumors and receiving CHT only; median OS 21.57 vs. 14.23 months, respectively, P=0.0186, log-rank test). Median OS was also increased in KRAS-mutant LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT compared to those treated with CHT only (median OSs were 18 vs. 10 months, respectively, P=0.0002, log-rank test). No significant differences in OS have been observed for patients receiving CHT only and with KRAS WT versus KRAS-mutant tumors (median OSs were 11 vs. 10 months, respectively P=0.6771, log-rank test). Of note, in the BEV/CHT group, patients with KRAS WT LADC had a significantly better OS than those with tumors harboring KRAS mutations (median OSs were 39 vs. 18 months, respectively, P=0.0186, log-rank test). (B) Similarly, in the BEV/CHT group, patients with KRAS WT LADC had significantly longer median PFS (vs. those with KRAS-mutant tumors; median PFSs were 8.63 vs. 7.03 months, respectively, P=0.0255, log-rank test).

We next investigated if KRAS mutational status influences the efficacy of CHT with or without BEV in advanced LADC. There was no difference in OS between patients with KRAS-mutant versus KRAS WT tumors in the CHT alone group (P=0.6771, log-rank test, Figure 31A). Importantly, however, in the BEV/CHT group we found that KRASmutant LADC patients had significantly shorter median PFS and OS than did KRAS WT patients (P=0.0255 and P=0.0186, respectively, log-rank test; Figures 31B and 31A). In support of this, multivariate Cox regression analyses revealed that KRAS status (mutant vs. WT) at diagnosis influenced OS (HR 0.645, 95% CI 0.458-0.908, P= 0.012) and PFS (HR 0.597, 95% CI 0.402-0.887, P=0.011) independently from age (continuous; P values were 0.081 and 0.628, respectively), gender (female vs. male; P values were 0.005 and 0.001, respectively), smoking status (never- vs. ever-smoker; P values were 0.907 and 0.835, respectively), ECOG PS (0 vs. 1; P values were 0.193 and 0.177, respectively) and tumor stage (III. vs. IV; P values were 0.048 and 0.617, respectively; Table 13). These analyses also identified more advanced tumor stage as a significant independent negative prognostic factor for OS but not for PFS (P values were 0.048 and 0.617, respectively, Table 13). Gender proved to be an independent prognosticator for both OS and PFS in a multivariate Cox regression model as well (P values were 0.005 and 0.001, respectively, Table 13).

	PFS	OS
Age (continuous)		
HR	0.628	0.978
95% CI	0.966-1.021)	(0.955-1.003)
Р	0.628	0.081
Gender (female vs. male)		
HR	0.248	0.390
95% CI	(0.125-0.494)	(0.203-0.751)
Р	0.001	0.005
Smoking (never- vs. ever-sm	okers)	
HR	0.944	0.968
95% CI	(0.548-1.626)	(0.562-1.669)
Р	0.835	0.907
ECOG PS (0 vs. 1)		
HR	0.765	0.772
95% CI	(0.518-1.129)	(0.523-1.140)
Р	0.177	0.193
Stage (III vs. IV)		
HR	0.879	0.603
95% CI	(0.531-1.455)	(0.365-0.996)
Р	0.617	0.048
KRAS status (WT vs. mutant	.)	
HR	0.597	0.645
95% CI	(0.402-0.887)	(0.458-0.908)
Р	0.011	0.012

13. Table - Clinicopathological variables and PFS and OS of LADC patients treated with BEV/CHT in the multivariate Cox proportional hazards model

HR, *hazard ratio*; *CI*, *confidence interval*; *ECOG PS*, *Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status*.

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414

5.2.3. Distinct efficacy of BEV/CHT in advanced LADC patients with different subtypespecific KRAS mutations

Next, we looked at the clinicopathological characteristics of KRAS codon 12-mutant LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT and performed a statistical analysis on their associations with amino acid-specific mutational status. We identified 35 (36.8%) G12C, 19 G12D (20%), 20 G12V (21%), 3 G12A (3.2%%), 1 G12S (1%), 1 G12R (1%), 3 G13D (3.1%), and 1 G13C (1%) cases. Significant associations of subtype-specific KRAS mutational status with age, smoking status, gender, ECOG PS or tumor stage were not detected (Table 9). Importantly, patients with KRAS G12D mutant tumors had significantly shorter OS than those presenting with KRAS WT or with other KRAS codon 12 or 13 mutant (G12/13x) tumors (P=0.0223 and P=0.0144, respectively; log-rank test, Figure 32A). In line with the OS data, KRAS G12D mutation conferred a significant disadvantage for PFS when compared with KRAS WT (P<0.0001; log-rank test, Figure 32B). Of note, the OS of G12D KRAS mutant patients in the BEV/CHT group was comparable to that of patients in the CHT alone sub-cohort (Figure 33).



32. Figure - Kaplan-Meier plots for the OS (A) and PFS (B) in LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT according to subtype-specific codon 12 KRAS mutations. (A) KRAS G12D mutation was associated with significantly shorter OS in LADC patients (vs. KRAS G12x and 13x mutations or WT KRAS; median OSs were 7.2, 16.1 and 21 months, respectively, P values were 0.0144 and 0.0223, respectively, log-rank test). (B) LADC patients with tumors harboring KRAS G12D mutations had also significantly shorter median PFS than those with other codon 12 (G12x) and 13 (G13x) KRAS mutant or with KRAS WT tumors (median PFSs were 3.7, 8.27 and 11.7 months, respectively; P values were 0.0032 and <0.0001, respectively, log-rank test).



33. Figure - Kaplan-Meier curves for the OS of LADC patients treated with CHT alone and LADC patients with KRAS G12D mutations in the BEV/CHT sub-cohort. Patients with tumors harboring KRAS G12D mutations and treated with BEV/CHT had comparable OS to that of patients with KRAS WT or KRAS mutant tumors in the CHT alone sub-cohort.

6. Discussion

6.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC

Various randomized trials showed superior survival data and acceptable safety results with the use of bevacizumab in NSCLC(205, 206, 238, 239). Most of these trials, however, were not concluded in an unselected, real-world environment. Of note, there are still several questions yet to be answered regarding the drug's safety, efficacy and optimal treatment protocol. The AVALANCHE observational cohort study (OCS) provided an opportunity to examine the safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy in a real-life setting in Hungarian everyday practice. Generally the results of observational studies cannot be directly compared with those of a randomized study. However, the indicators of effectiveness in the AVALANCHE study (which included a higher variety of patients) are consistent with those of several

randomized trials shown in Table 14.

Survival data:

The median PFS and OS in our study were longer than in the AVAiL (206, 207), the E4599 (205) or the ARIES(238) studies. These OS outcomes are also comparable with the results of the phase IV SAiL trial conducted between 2006 and 2008 in Europe. SAiL reported 14.6 months (95% CI, 13.8–15.3) OS, that was shorter than the reported OS in AVALANCHE. The PFS in AVALANCHE was 7.162 ± 0.282 months (CI95%: 6.609-7.715). SAiL trial reported time-to-progression of 7,8 months (95% CI, 7.5-8.1) but not PFS. The SAiL study let the choice of platinum doublet chemotherapy regimen to the investigator's decision similarly to our study. However, non-platinum doublets and single-agent chemotherapy regimens were also allowed in SAiL study unlike in AVALANCHE. Other differences included that SAiL enrolled a selected patient population that was generally healthier and younger(239).

Treatment response:

ORR outcomes in AVALANCHE were also comparable with the ORR results of the above-mentioned studies. The 46.7% ORR was higher than the 34.6%, 37.8% and the 34.9% of the AVAiL 7.5mg/kg, AVAiL 15mg/kg and the E4599 trials, respectively. The SAiL and ARIES trials showed higher ORR. SAiL reported 3% CR and 48% PR (239) which is also comparable to the 2.3% CR and 44.4% PR rate of AVALANCHE.

Survival analysis by different patient subgroups:

Sandler et al. reported that women had significantly lower OS in the E4599 trial. They, however, also stated that this difference could be the result of imbalances of treatment regiments or baseline prognostic factors between the two groups (205). The AVAiL studies (207) and our AVALANCHE trial, on the other hand, found comparable results between women and men. Women had longer PFS and OS than men in the AVALANCHE, however, only OS was on the boundary of significance (p=0.071). Although, OS was reported higher in both AVAiL studies and the AVALANCHE trial, this survival advantage of women can also be accounted for by the generally longer survival of women with lung cancer that has been previously reported in statistical reports (7, 240).

As for the patients' age, nearly 10% of the patient population with evaluable data were over 70 years of age and no significant difference was found between the two groups regarding PFS. Surprisingly, however, OS was reported to be longer in patients over 70 years of age, although this difference was not significant. Contrary to our findings, the E4599 study found that patients older than 65 years of age had a significantly higher HR for death and suggested that these patients might not benefit from bevacizumab treatment (205). The AVAiL studies reported similar HRs for OS in both groups. One concern in previous studies was that the risk of bleeding could be higher in older patients, however neither the E4599, nor the AVAiL studies nor the SAiL study back up this hypothesis (241).

We observed higher PFS and OS in patients with an ECOG status of 0 at enrolment, although only OS showed a significant difference. This result is not surprising in light of the fact that ECOG performance status is an important prognostic factor in lung cancer

(242-245). Of note, the E4599 and the AVAiL studies did not find a significant difference in the HR for OS between the ECOG 0 and the ECOG 1 group (205, 207).

Johnson et al. assumed that central tumor location might cause pulmonary hemorrhage more often thus decreasing the OS (203). However, this was not supported by subsequent data. Neither SAiL, nor ARIES showed significantly more pulmonary bleeding with centrally located tumors (246, 247). Based on a retrospective analysis of the E4599 study data, Sandler et al. suggested that pulmonary hemorrhage was connected to cavitation of NSCLC instead of central location (248). Further studies did not support this assumption. Our data do not reinforce any of these suggestions. Neither the PFS, nor the OS was significantly longer with central tumors, and cavitated tumors were not assessed separately.

Although previous chemo- or radiotherapy did not influence PFS or OS, we found significantly longer PFS and OS in the patient group that underwent surgery before enrolment in this study. There is no available data to back up this finding. The most probable reason behind it is that the number of cancer sites is lower in these patients. Further assessment would be needed to draw further conclusions.

Platinum based chemotherapy has been shown in multiple studies to result in a small but significant survival benefit when compared to supportive care (249, 250). The most commonly used platinum derivatives are cisplatin and carboplatin. Neither of the above mentioned two drugs were associated with higher PFS, OS or lower toxicity when compared to each other(251-256). Interestingly, patients treated with cisplatin were found to have a longer OS (16.953 \pm 1.775 months) than those receiving carboplatin (OS: 12.977 \pm 1.692 months). The statistical difference was on the boundary of significance (p=0.06). Santana-Davila et al. showed that oncologists more often administered cisplatin to relatively younger patients with less comorbidities. This could be a reason for the longer OS. However, it has also been shown that morbidity is higher in patients receiving cisplatin and they experience a higher need for health care (252).

Our patients receiving bevacizumab maintenance therapy showed significantly higher PFS and OS, which correlates with previous results published by Reck et al (206). In addition, Dranitsaris et al. found that bevacizumab maintenance therapy contributed to a significant OS benefit (257). In the Phase IIIB AvaALL study, bevacizumab was administered even after disease progression. A significantly higher PFS of 10.1 months

was achieved in this experimental arm compared to the control arm where only supportive care was used after disease progression (258). There are several trials debating whether bevacizumab or bevacizumab with pemetrexed is more effective for maintenance therapy. AVAPERL and POINTBREAK, two phase III trials designed to evaluate bevacizumab maintenance therapy with or without pemetrexed, showed significantly longer PFS, however the difference regarding OS was not significant in either of them (223, 259). Our rate of reported adverse events falls behind that of expected based on previous trials. Lynch et al. reported that in the ARIES trial 19.7% of patients experienced one or more protocol-specified adverse event (238), which is somewhat lower than the 20.8% of patients reported in AVALANCHE. However, when looking at the serious adverse events, the 10.9% reported in ARIES is appreciably higher than the 0.5% reported in AVALANCHE. Notably, the study protocols can vary in the qualification of serious adverse events. Crinò et al. reported a rate of 38% for serious adverse events, although only 13% was deemed related to bevacizumab by the investigators (239). There is a special interest in similar studies regarding pulmonary bleeding, one of the most common serious adverse event following bevacizumab therapy. AVAiL 7.5mg/kg, AVAiL 15mg/kg, E4599, ARIES and SAiL reported 4%, 5%, 4.7%, 4.1% and 9.5% for the prevalence of any grade pulmonary hemorrhage, respectively. In contrary to this, pulmonary hemorrhage only occurred in 2 patients (0.7%) in AVALANCHE.

In summary, patients in Hungary commonly receive bevacizumab for advanced NSCLC in combination with a range of chemotherapeutics. Despite the less strictly selected patient population and treatment regimens survival outcomes and treatment response rates are comparable with those of the previous large RCT (randomized clinical trials). In our study, both PFS and OS were significantly longer and ORR significantly higher in patients who received bevacizumab maintenance therapy. The adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy or radiotherapy received prior to enrolment, the localization of the primary tumor, the presence of metastases or the age of the patient had no influence on the efficacy of bevacizumab treatment. On the other hand, previous surgery and cisplatin chemotherapy were associated with better outcomes. We also found low rates of adverse events and acceptable safety profile.

Limitations

The study design did not allow the comparison of PFS and OS assessed in the study, with placebo or any active comparator, and the comparative assessment of the significance of the prognostic factors studied, either. Due to the high censoring rate, the median OS could not be determined after the closure of the study; therefore, a retrospective data collection was required.

The Avalanche study, like most OCSs had limitations such as reporting errors, missing data, potential biases regarding data entry and confoundment. In this study, reporting centers were asked to enroll all eligible patients to reduce selection bias, however, unintended selection bias cannot be excluded. All known strong confounders were collected and analyzed to reduce confounding bias. Clinical reporting errors were reduced by systematic data reviews occurring every 3 months.

A further limitation of the current study was that in 12/40 planned sites, due to their lower patient turnover, we did not identify eligible patients within the recruiting period. Thus, representing the real life setting, not all centers enrolled patients and there were also smaller centers where fewer patients were recruited.

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414

1. Table - Baseline patient characteristics and effectiveness of Bevacizumab with First-Line Chemotherapy for nsNSCLC in the AVALANCHE OCS, ARIES OCS, the Phase IV SAIL Study, and the Phase III Clinical Trials E4599 and AVAIL

Baseline patient characteristics										Results				
	Age (years)	Gender		ECOG st		G status		Stage		Chemotherapy Regimen Used	Median follow-up (months)	Median PFS (months)	Median OS (months)	ORR ^a (%)
		Female	Male	0	1	2	IIIB	IV	Recurrent					
AVAiL ^b 7.5mg/kg (n=345 ITT)	< 65: 70.95%	35.55%	64.45%	39.73%	60.27%	0%	14.88%	77.02%	8.1%	Gemcitabine + Cisplatin	\geq 7 for PFS \geq 12,5 for OS	6,5	13,4 (11,1 - 15,1)	34,6
(n=307 PP)	> 65: 29.05%													
AVAiL 15mg/kg		26 (70)	(2.220/	40 10/	50.0%	0.0/	15.00/	76 6 40/	7.20/	Gemcitabine +	\geq 7 for PFS	67	12 ((11.0 15.0)	27.0
(n=351 ITT) (n=285 PP)	< 65: 69.92% > 65: 30.08%	30.0/%	63.33%	40.1%	59.9%	0%	15.9%	/6.64%	1.3%	Cisplatin	\geq 12,5 for OS	0,7	13,0 (11,8 - 13,8)	37,8
E4599°										D 1'(1)				
(n=434)	< 70: 76% > 70: 24%	48%	52%	47%	53%	0%	14%	86%	0%	carboplatin	19	6,2	12,3 (11,3 - 13,7)	34,9
SAIL ^d														
(n=2212)	58.8 (24-86)*	40%	60%	37%	57%	6%	20%	80%	0%	Investigator's choice	12,5 (SD, 7.1-12.5)	7,8 (7.5-8.1)	14,6 (13,8 - 15,3)	51,5
ARIES ^e														
(n=1967)	> 65: 51.5%	46.7%	53.3%	36%	48.7%	9.3%	Loc advan	ced**	Metastatic**	Investigator's choice	12,5 (SD, 0.2-65.5)	6,6 (6.3-6.9)	13 (12,2 - 13,8)	49
	> 75: 18.8%						16.	.6%	83.4%					
AVALANCHE (n=283)	58.16 ± 9.032*	49.5%	50.5%	33%	67%	0%	19.2%	80.8%	0%	Investigator's choice	n.a.	$7.162 \pm 0.282 \\ (6.609-7.715)$	15.179 (12.480-17.877)	46,7

a: Patients experiencing a complete response or a partial response. b: AVAiL - Avastin in Lung; c: E4599 - Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group 4599; d: Safety of Avastin in Lung, The SAiL study reported time to progression (TTP) outcomes instead of PFS. e: ARIES - Avastin Regimens: Investigation of Effectiveness and Safety; * Age was reported as average in the SAIL and AVALANCHE studies; ** Stage was reported as such in the ARIES study

6.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC

Although KRAS is the most frequently mutated oncogene in NSCLC, our knowledge on the effect of KRAS mutation on response to BEV in lung cancer is very limited. Biomarkers of BEV efficacy including imaging markers and circulating levels of angiogenic cytokines have been tested both in preclinical and clinical studies. For instance, VEGF levels in immunodepleted plasma of cancer patients were found to be significantly reduced following BEV treatment (260). However, VEGF-A, as measured by using an ELISA that recognizes all VEGF-A isoforms, was not predictive in a comprehensive evaluation of four phase III trials of BEV in CRC, NSCLC and renal cancer (261). Interestingly, recent data suggest use of TP53 status as a biomarker for response to BEV in NSCLC (262, 263). Nevertheless, as in other solid tumor types, a reliable biomarker to identify patients with LADC who will benefit from BEV is yet to be discovered. Here we analyzed the KRAS exon 2 mutational status in a large Caucasian patient cohort (n=501) with stage III–IV, EGFR WT LADC treated with platinum-based chemotherapy alone or in combination with BEV.

In the current LADC cohort, 33.9% of the patients had KRAS mutation. The incidence of KRAS mutation was higher in the BEV/CHT-treated group as compared to the CHT group (38.5% vs. 29.5%, respectively, P=0.012). With an incidence of 36.8% G12C was the most frequent subtype in the BEV/CHT group, followed by the G12V (21.1%) and the G12D (20%) subtypes. Other rare mutational subtypes (i.e. G12A, G12R, G12S, G13C, G13D) were identified in 22.1% of the patients. These findings are in line with data previously reported by us and by others in large NSCLC studies (219, 264).

Next, we investigated if KRAS mutational status had an effect on response to BEV. Although KRAS status had no impact on OS of LADC patients receiving CHT alone, in the BEV/CHT group patients carrying KRAS mutation had significantly shorter OS. Multivariate analysis also confirmed the role of KRAS as a negative predictor of response to BEV. In lung cancer, so far only two studies addressed the impact of KRAS mutation on the efficacy of BEV. Results coming from both of these studies are in line with our data. Chaft et al. treated 50 stage IB-IIIA NSCLC patients in the neoadjuvant setting in combination with CHT and evaluated their pathological response (265). None of the 10 KRAS mutant patients responded, in comparison to 11 of 31 KRAS WT cases. Although these authors administered BEV in combination with CHT, based on our current data and

also on previous reports from our group and others, the efficacy of CHT is not affected by KRAS status in NSCLC (218, 219). Thus, the better response rate in the KRAS WT group of the Chaft study can be attributed to BEV and not to CHT (233). In further support of this, Brady et al. studied 93 stage IV NSCLC patients receiving CHT alone or in combination with BEV and observed that while CHT was as effective in KRAS WT patients as in those with KRAS-mutant tumors, BEV improved OS and PFS only in patients with KRAS WT but not with KRAS-mutant tumors (234).

Mechanisms of resistance to antiangiogenic agents such as BEV include hypoxiamediated mechanisms (266), the downregulation of target receptors and the activation of compensatory angiogenic pathways (267-269), proangiogenic hematopoietic or endothelial progenitor cell release from the bone marrow (270), inadequate intratumoral distribution of antiangiogenic drugs (271), and also a switch from endothelial sprouting to a nonangiogenic vascularization mechanism such as vessel cooption (a frequently occurring vascularization pattern in primary and secondary lung tumors that mediates resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy) (272-275).) It is not completely clear, though, whether and how KRAS mutation can contribute to these resistance mechanisms. Notably, however, tumor spread through air spaces (STAS) (276) and "tumor islands" (277) are closely related morphological features to vessel cooption (278) and were found to be significantly associated with KRAS mutations in NSCLC (276, 277). Moreover, mutant KRAS has been shown to induce the expression of VEGF in transformed fibroblasts or epithelial cells in vitro. KRAS mutation led to increased expression of other angiogenic growth factors such as TGF-beta and alpha (279). Elevated VEGF mRNA levels were detected in tumor cell lines expressing mutant KRAS (92). Genetic disruption of the mutant KRAS allele in human colon carcinoma cells resulted in decreased VEGF secretion (92). Transfection of human pancreatic epithelial cells with KRAS12V induced the expression of VEGF and CXC chemokines through Erk and c-Jun signaling and enhanced endothelial tube formation in co-cultures, which could be inhibited by CXCR2 or VEGF targeting (280). And lastly, doxycycline withdrawal led to tumor regression and endothelial apoptosis in a doxycycline-inducible RAS-driven INK4a deficient murine model of melanoma (226).

In CRC patients receiving BEV, results on associations between KRAS mutational status and outcome have been inconsistent, with a larger number of studies reporting no associations (227, 229, 230, 281, 282) than those demonstrating significant associations (231, 232). Interestingly, however, in a recent CRC study, Fiala et al. demonstrated that G12V and G12A mutation were predictors of shorter PFS and OS, while patients with tumors harboring other KRAS mutations had similar outcome to those with KRAS WT tumors (231). Notably, another group reported that the presence of KRAS G12D mutation was significantly associated with poorer outcome in CRC patients receiving BEV containing regimens (283). As for NSCLC, Scheffler et al. found recently that patients with KRAS G12D mutation exhibit a high frequency of co-occurring mutations in the angiogenesis-associated PDGF (platelet derived growth factor receptor) / PDGF-receptor pathway (284). In line with this, amongst the three major codon 12 KRAS mutation subtypes (G12C, G12V and G12D) G12D proved to be a predictor of poor outcome in our BEV/CHT sub-cohort. Patients with LADC harboring this mutation had significantly worse PFS and OS than those with tumors harboring other KRAS mutations or WT KRAS.

The biological importance of KRAS mutational subtypes has been demonstrated in a study by Figueras et al. who introduced either codon 12 or codon 13 KRAS mutation into NIH3T3 cells and analyzed the VEGF levels and the activity of VEGF promoter in these transfected sublines. Despite the lower VEGF expression, codon 12 mutant tumors exhibited higher microvessel density, while tumors harboring the codon 13 mutation developed angiogenic sprouts with larger diameters (285).

In our cohort, only two patients carried codon 13 mutation of KRAS, thus we could not evaluate the BEV response in this subgroup. Nevertheless, our study suggests that specific KRAS mutation subtypes can have a major impact on tumor vascularization and, potentially, on response to anti-angiogenic treatment.

Like all retrospective analyses, our study has limitations. First, although we excluded patients with EGFR mutant tumors from our study, we did not analyze KRAS-WT patients for additional oncogenic driver mutations. Second, we did not study KRAS mutant patients for co-occurring mutations in additional tumor-associated pathways (284). Third, because this large retrospective cohort did not include reliable RECIST data (286) for all patients, we did not investigate the correlation of KRAS mutational status with tumor response according to RECIST criteria. Finally, because there is a massive body of literature on the predictive and prognostic role of KRAS mutations in CHT-

treated LADC patients (216-220, 284, 286-288) and the main aim of the current study was to investigate the relationship between *KRAS* status and the efficacy of BEV, only the OS but not the PFS data were used in our analyzes in the CHT alone sub-cohort.

7. Conclusion

7.1. The safety and efficacy of bevacizumab in addition to platinum based chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC

To conclude the results of the AVALANCHE study, it can be stated that comparable results were seen in the Hungarian clinical practice as in former international studies. Marked improvement was seen in PFS and OS of patients with locally advanced, metastatic, or recurrent non-small cell lung cancer other than predominantly squamous cell histology when BEV was added to standard platinum based CHT. In the meantime, combination therapy with BEV proved to be safe, with acceptable amount of adverse events and low percentage of treatment discontinuation. BEV is a valid option in the treatment of stage IIIB and IV nsNSCLC in the Hungarian clinical setting.

7.2. KRAS mutation as a biomarker for anti-VEGF therapy in NSCLC

In conclusion, when combined with standard first-line chemotherapy, BEV has led to increased OS and thus has been approved in patients with advanced or recurrent nsNSCLC without targetable molecular abnormalities (203, 205, 222, 223, 289, 290). However, although serious efforts have been made to identify patients responsive to BEV, there is as yet no validated predictive biomarker in this field.

Here, we present novel evidence for use of BEV in stage III-IV LADC patients with KRAS-mutant tumors -and especially with KRAS G12D-mutant tumors -, demonstrating inferior activity of this drug compared to that in LADC patients with non–KRAS-mutant tumors. Our data may not only help to improve the efficacy of BEV, but through better patient selection, could also help to decrease the unnecessary use of this expensive agent in subgroups of KRAS-mutant human LADC patients. Unnecessary and ineffective use of BEV can potentially even harm patients through adverse events while achieving no PFS, OS or quality of life benefit and also putting a financial strain of health care.

Subtype specific *KRAS* mutational status can be an easily accessible marker, since its already part of the routine molecular testing in NSCLC. Using subtype specific *KRAS* mutation status as a biomarker could help clinicians to administer individualized therapy. To validate this potential biomarker prospective studies are needed.

8. Summary

Although angiogenesis has long been regarded as essential to tumor progression, antiangiogenics have provided only modest clinical results so far. The current thesis is based on two different studies on the clinical efficacy of bevacizumab (BEV), an antiangiogenic inhibitor, in lung adenocarcinoma (LADC) patients.

In the first study (AVALANCHE; NCT03170284), advanced LADC patients received BEV with any platinum-doublet for up to 6 cycles. Primary endpoint was progression-free survival (PFS), secondary endpoints included overall survival (OS), tumor control rate and safety. Longer PFS and OS were observed in patients who received BEV therapy (median OS, 26.2 versus 10.2 months (p<0.001); median PFS, 9.2 versus 5.8 months (p<0.001)). Response rate: complete remission / partial response / stable disease / progressive disease /not reported were: 1.5/29.9/26.9/9.1/32.6% of all patients. These clinical outcomes were consistent with pivotal studies.

In the second study, our aim was to investigate the prognostic and predictive role of KRAS (Kirsten rat sarcoma 2 viral oncogene homolog) mutations in human LADC patients treated with BEV. To this aim, the association between KRAS status and clinicopathological variables was retrospectively analyzed in 501 stage IIIB-IV LADC patients receiving first-line platinum-based chemotherapy (CHT) with or without BEV. Comparing the 247 BEV/CHT and the 254 CHT patients, we only found difference in OS between patients with KRAS-mutant versus KRAS wild-type tumors in the BEV/CHT group: patients with KRAS-mutant tumors demonstrated significantly shorter PFS (p =0.0255) and OS (p = 0.0186) in response to BEV/CHT compared to KRAS wild-type patients. KRAS mutation was an independent predictor of shorter PFS (hazard ratio (HR), 0.597; p = 0.011) and OS (HR, 0.645; p = 0.012) in the BEV/CHT group. G12D KRASmutant patients receiving BEV/CHT showed significantly shorter PFS (3.7 months versus 8.27 months in the G12/13x group; p = 0.0032) and OS (7.2 months versus 16.1 months in the G12/13x group; p = 0.0144). BEV treatment was associated with significantly longer PFS and OS, however KRAS-mutant advanced LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT treatment exhibited inferior PFS and OS compared to those with KRAS wildtype LADC. G12D mutations may define a subset of KRAS-mutant LADC patients unsuitable for antiangiogenic therapy with BEV.

9. Összefoglalás

Annak ellenére, hogy régóta ismert az angiogenezis nélkülözhetetlen szerepe a tumor növekedésében, az érképződést gátló kezelések eddig csak szerény klinikai eredményeket hoztak tüdőrákok esetén. Jelen tézis két különböző kutatás eredményei alapján készült, amik a bevacizumab (BEV), egy angiogenezis inhibitor, klinikai hatékonyságát vizsgálták tüdő adenocarcinomás (LADC) betegeknél.

Az első klinikai vizsgálatban (AVALANCHE; NCT03170284) előrehaladott LADC betegek kaptak 6 ciklus BEV-ot a standard platina alapú kezelés mellett. A vizsgálat elsődleges végpontja a progressziómentes túlélés (PFS), míg másodlagos végpontjai az össztúlélés (OS), a terápiára adott klinikai válasz és a biztonság voltak. Hosszabb PFS és OS volt megfigyelhető azokban a betegekben, akik BEV terápiában részesültek (medián OS, 26.2 vs 10.2 hónap (p<0.001); medián PFS, 9.2 versus 5.8 hónap (p<0.001)). A terápiás válasz tekintetétben a teljes remisszió / részleges válasz / stabil betegség / progresszív betegség / nem jelentett: 1.5/29.9/26.9/9.1/32.6% volt. Ezek a klinikai eredmények összemérhetőek voltak a korábbi meghatározó vizsgálatok eredményeivel.

A második vizsgálatban az volt a célunk, hogy megfigyeljük a KRAS (Kirsten rat sarcoma 2 viral oncogene homolog) mutáció prognosztikai és prediktív értékét előrehaladott LADC betegekben, akik BEV terápiában részesülnek. Ennek elérése érdekében retrospektívan elemeztük 501 IIIB-IV. stádiumú LADC beteg klinikopathológiai paramétereit, akik platina alapú kemoterápiás (CHT) kezelésben részesültek BEV-el vagy nélküle. Amikor összehasonlítottuk a 247 BEV/CHT terápiában részesülő beteget a 254 csak CHT beteggel, azt találtuk, hogy csak a BEV/CHT csoportban okozott túlélési különbséget a KRAS mutáció: a KRAS mutáns betegek PFSe (p = 0.0255) és OS-e (p = 0.0186) is szignifikánsan alacsonyabb volt, mint a KRAS wild-type betegeké. A KRAS mutáció önálló prediktív faktornak bizonyult a rövidebb PFS (hazard ratio (HR), 0.597; p = 0.011) és OS (HR, 0.645; p = 0.012) tekintetében is a BEV/CHT csoportban. A G12D KRAS mutációt hordozó betegek szignifikánsan rövidebb PFS-t (3.7 hónap vs 8.27 hónap a G12/13x csoportban; p = 0.0032) és OS-t (7.2 hónap vs 16.1 hónap a G12/13x csoportban; p = 0.0144) mutattak BEV/CHT terápia esetén, mint a bármely más KRAS mutációt hordozók. A G12D KRAS mutáció a LADC betegek egy olyan alcsoportját jelezheti, akiknél az angiogenezis gátló terápia BEV-el hatástalan.

10. References

1. Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A. (2015) Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin, 65(2):87-108.

2. Hasse C. Cancerous tumors in the respiratory organs. In: W. S, editor. An Anatomical Descriptrion of the Diseases of the Organs of the Circulation and Respiration. Sydeham Society; England, London: 1846. p. 1846:370-375.

3. Adler I. Primary malignant growths of the lungs and bronchi; a pathological and clinical study. London: Longmans, Green: 1912: 1-325.

4. Rubin SA. (1991) Lung cancer: past, present, and future. J Thorac Imaging, 7(1):1-8.

5. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. (2013) Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin, 63(1):11-30.

6. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. (2018) Cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin, 68(1):7-30.

 Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. (2016) Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin, 66(1):7-30.

8. Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D, Bray F. (2015) Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer, 136(5):359-386.

9. Kovács G. (2015) A pulmonológiai hálózat 2014. évi epidemiológiai és működési adatai. Korányi Bulletin 2015. Budapest, Hungary: 2015: (1.) 4-17.

10. Doll R. Evolution of knowledge of the smoking epidemic. In: Boyle P GN, Henningfield JE, et al., editor. Tobacco: Science, policy and public health. 2nd ed. Oxford University Press; New York, NY, 2010:1-12.

11. Lanata SC. (2005) Tobacco from Medicinal Use to Substance Abuse. Seminars in Integrative Medicine, 3(4):132-138.

12. Routh HB, Bhowmik KR, Parish JL, Parish LC. (1998) Historical aspects of tobacco use and smoking. Clin Dermatol, 16(5):539-544.

13. Tylecote F. (1927) Cancer of the Lung. The Lancet, 210(5422):256-257.

14. Hoffman FL. (1931) Cancer and Smoking Habits. Annals of surgery, 93(1):50-67.

15. Morabia A. (2012) Quality, originality, and significance of the 1939 "Tobacco consumption and lung carcinoma" article by Mueller, including translation of a section of the paper. Prev Med, 55(3):171-177.

 Ochsner A. (1970) Relation between the smoking habit and lung cancer. Prensa Med, Argent, 32-745.

17. Doll R, Hill AB. (1950) Smoking and carcinoma of the lung; preliminary report. Br Med J, 2(4682):739-748.

18. Wynder El Fau - Graham EA, Graham EA. (1950) Tobacco smoking as a possible etiologic factor in bronchiogenic carcinoma; a study of 684 proved cases. J Am Med Assoc, 143(4):329-336.

19. Berridge V. (2007) Medicine and the public: the 1962 report of the Royal College of Physicians and the new public health. Bull Hist Med, 81(1):286-311.

20. Doll R Fau - Peto R, Peto R. (1981) The causes of cancer: quantitative estimates of avoidable risks of cancer in the United States today. J Natl Cancer Inst, (66(6):1191-1308.

21. Doll R Fau - Peto R, Peto R. (1978) Cigarette smoking and bronchial carcinoma: dose and time relationships among regular smokers and lifelong non-smokers. J Epidemiol Community Health, 32(4):303-313.

22. Benowitz NL. (2008) Clinical pharmacology of nicotine: implications for understanding, preventing, and treating tobacco addiction. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 83(4):531-541.

23. Saccone SF, Hinrichs AL, Saccone NL, Chase GA, Konvicka K, Madden PA, Breslau N, Johnson EO, Hatsukami D, Pomerleau O, Swan GE, Goate AM, Rutter J, Bertelsen S, Fox L, Fugman D, Martin NG, Montgomery GW, Wang JC, Ballinger DG, Rice JP, Bierut LJ. (2007) Cholinergic nicotinic receptor genes implicated in a nicotine dependence association study targeting 348 candidate genes with 3713 SNPs. Hum Mol Genet, 16(1):36-49.

24. Costa F, Soares R. (2009) Nicotine: a pro-angiogenic factor. Life Sci, 84(23-24):785-790.

25. Hecht SS. (1998) Biochemistry, biology, and carcinogenicity of tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines. Chem Res Toxicol, 11(6):559-603.

26. Hecht SS. (2014) It is time to regulate carcinogenic tobacco-specific nitrosamines in cigarette tobacco. Cancer Prev Res (Phila), 7(7):639-647.

27. Krewski D, Lubin JH, Zielinski JM, Alavanja M, Catalan VS, Field RW, Klotz JB, Letourneau EG, Lynch CF, Lyon JI, Sandler DP, Schoenberg JB, Steck DJ, Stolwijk JA, Weinberg C, Wilcox HB. (2005) Residential radon and risk of lung cancer: a combined analysis of 7 North American case-control studies. Epidemiology, 16(2):137-145.

28. Turner MC, Krewski D, Chen Y, Pope CA, 3rd, Gapstur SM, Thun MJ. (2012) Radon and COPD mortality in the American Cancer Society Cohort. Eur Respir J, 39(5):1113-1119.

29. Schoenberg JB, Klotz JB, Wilcox HB, Nicholls GP, Gildelreal MT, Stemhagen A, Mason TJ. (1990) Case-Control Study of Residential Radon and Lung-Cancer among New-Jersey Women. Cancer research, 50(20):6520-6524.

30. Alberg AJ, Brock MV, Ford JG, Samet JM, Spivack SD. (2013) Epidemiology of lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest, 143(5 Suppl):e1S-e29S.

31. De Matteis S, Consonni D, Bertazzi PA. (2008) Exposure to occupational carcinogens and lung cancer risk. Evolution of epidemiological estimates of attributable fraction. Acta Biomed, 79 (1):34-42.

32. De Groot PM, Wu CC, Carter BW, Munden RF. (2018) The epidemiology of lung cancer. Transl Lung Cancer Res, 7(3):220-233.

33. Lissowska J, Foretova L, Dabek J, Zaridze D, Szeszenia-Dabrowska N, Rudnai P, Fabianova E, Cassidy A, Mates D, Bencko V, Janout V, Hung RJ, Brennan P, Boffetta P. (2010) Family history and lung cancer risk: international multicentre case-control study in Eastern and Central Europe and meta-analyses. Cancer Causes Control, 21(7):1091-1104.

34. Schwartz AG, Cote ML. (2016) Epidemiology of Lung Cancer. Adv Exp Med, Biol, 893:21-41.

35. Herbst RS, Heymach Jv Fau - Lippman SM, Lippman SM. (2008) Lung cancer.N Engl J Med, 25;359(13):1367-1380.

36. Thorgeirsson TE, Geller F, Sulem P, Rafnar T, Wiste A, Magnusson KP, Manolescu A, Thorleifsson G, Stefansson H, Ingason A, Stacey SN, Bergthorsson JT, Thorlacius S, Gudmundsson J, Jonsson T, Jakobsdottir M, Saemundsdottir J, Olafsdottir O, Gudmundsson LJ, Bjornsdottir G, Kristjansson K, Skuladottir H, Isaksson HJ, Gudbjartsson T, Jones GT, Mueller T, Gottsater A, Flex A, Aben KKH, De Vegt F, Mulders PFA, Isla D, Vidal MJ, Asin L, Saez B, Murillo L, Blondal T, Kolbeinsson H, Stefansson JG, Hansdottir I, Runarsdottir V, Pola R, Lindblad B, Van Rij AM, Dieplinger B, Haltmayer M, Mayordomo JI, Kiemeney LA, Matthiasson SE, Oskarsson H, Tyrfingsson T, Gudbjartsson DF, Gulcher JR, Jonsson S, Thorsteinsdottir U, Kong A, Stefansson K. (2008) A variant associated with nicotine dependence, lung cancer and peripheral arterial disease. Nature, 452(7187):638-642.

37. Yokota J, Shiraishi K, Kohno T. (2010) Genetic basis for susceptibility to lung cancer: Recent progress and future directions. Adv Cancer Res, 109:51-72.

38. Brenner DR, Mclaughlin JR, Hung RJ. (2011) Previous lung diseases and lung cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS one, 6(3):e17479.

39. Engels EA, Biggar RJ, Hall HI, Cross H, Crutchfield A, Finch JL, Grigg R, Hylton T, Pawlish KS, Mcneel TS, Goedert JJ. (2008) Cancer risk in people infected with human immunodeficiency virus in the United States. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer, 123(1):187-194.

40. Winstone TA, Man SFP, Hull M, Montaner JS, Sin DD. (2013) Epidemic of lung cancer in patients with HIV infection. Chest, 143(2):305-314.

41. Grulich AE, Van Leeuwen MT, Falster MO, Vajdic CM. (2007) Incidence of cancers in people with HIV/AIDS compared with immunosuppressed transplant recipients: a meta-analysis. Lancet (London, England), 370(9581):59-67.

42. Guiguet M, Boue F, Cadranel J, Lang JM, Rosenthal E, Costagliola D, Clinical Epidemiology Group of The F-aCOC. (2009) Effect of immunodeficiency, HIV viral load, and antiretroviral therapy on the risk of individual malignancies (FHDH-ANRS CO4): a prospective cohort study. The Lancet Oncology, 10(12):1152-1159.

43. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Burke AP, Marx A, Nicholson AG. (2015) Introduction to The 2015 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Lung, Pleura,

Thymus, and Heart. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 10(9):1240-1242.

44. Kovács G. (2019) A pulmonológiai hálózat 2018. évi epidemiológiai és működési adatai. Korányi Bulletin 2019. Budapest, Hungary: (1.) 4-17.

45. Inamura K. (2017) Lung Cancer: Understanding Its Molecular Pathology and the 2015 WHO Classification. Front Oncol, 28;7:193-193.

46. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Noguchi M, Nicholson AG, Geisinger KR, Yatabe Y, Beer DG, Powell CA, Riely GJ, Van Schil PE, Garg K, Austin JHM, Asamura H, Rusch VW, Hirsch FR, Scagliotti G, Mitsudomi T, Huber RM, Ishikawa Y, Jett J, Sanchez-Cespedes M, Sculier J-P, Takahashi T, Tsuboi M, Vansteenkiste J, Wistuba I, Yang P-C, Aberle D, Brambilla C, Flieder D, Franklin W, Gazdar A, Gould M, Hasleton P, Henderson D, Johnson B, Johnson D, Kerr K, Kuriyama K, Lee JS, Miller VA, Petersen I, Roggli V, Rosell R, Saijo N, Thunnissen E, Tsao M, Yankelewitz D. (2011) International association for the study of lung cancer/american thoracic society/european respiratory society international multidisciplinary classification of lung adenocarcinoma. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 6(2):244-285.

47. Ding L, Getz G, Wheeler DA, Mardis ER, Mclellan MD, Cibulskis K, Sougnez C, Greulich H, Muzny DM, Morgan MB, Fulton L, Fulton RS, Zhang Q, Wendl MC, Lawrence MS, Larson DE, Chen K, Dooling DJ, Sabo A, Hawes AC, Shen H, Jhangiani SN, Lewis LR, Hall O, Zhu Y, Mathew T, Ren Y, Yao J, Scherer SE, Clerc K, Metcalf GA, Ng B, Milosavljevic A, Gonzalez-Garay ML, Osborne JR, Meyer R, Shi X, Tang Y, Koboldt DC, Lin L, Abbott R, Miner TL, Pohl C, Fewell G, Haipek C, Schmidt H, Dunford-Shore BH, Kraja A, Crosby SD, Sawyer CS, Vickery T, Sander S, Robinson J, Winckler W, Baldwin J, Chirieac LR, Dutt A, Fennell T, Hanna M, Johnson BE, Onofrio RC, Thomas RK, Tonon G, Weir BA, Zhao X, Ziaugra L, Zody MC, Giordano T, Orringer MB, Roth JA, Spitz MR, Wistuba, Ii, Ozenberger B, Good PJ, Chang AC, Beer DG, Watson MA, Ladanyi M, Broderick S, Yoshizawa A, Travis WD, Pao W, Province MA, Weinstock GM, Varmus HE, Gabriel SB, Lander ES, Gibbs RA, Meyerson M, Wilson RK. (2008) Somatic mutations affect key pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. Nature, 455(7216):1069-1075.

48. Collisson EA, Campbell JD, Brooks AN, Berger AH, Lee W, Chmielecki J, Beer DG, Cope L, Creighton CJ, Danilova L, Ding L, Getz G, Hammerman PS, Neil Hayes D, Hernandez B, Herman JG, Heymach JV, Jurisica I, Kucherlapati R, Kwiatkowski D, Ladanyi M, Robertson G, Schultz N, Shen R, Sinha R, Sougnez C, Tsao M-S, Travis WD, Weinstein JN, Wigle DA, Wilkerson MD, Chu A, Cherniack AD, Hadjipanayis A, Rosenberg M, Weisenberger DJ, Laird PW, Radenbaugh A, Ma S, Stuart JM, Averett Byers L, Baylin SB, Govindan R, Meyerson M, Rosenberg M, Gabriel SB, Cibulskis K, Sougnez C, Kim J, Stewart C, Lichtenstein L, Lander ES, Lawrence MS, Getz G, Kandoth C, Fulton R, Fulton LL, Mclellan MD, Wilson RK, Ye K, Fronick CC, Maher CA, Miller CA, Wendl MC, Cabanski C, Ding L, Mardis E, Govindan R, Creighton CJ, Wheeler D, Balasundaram M, Butterfield YSN, Carlsen R, Chu A, Chuah E, Dhalla N, Guin R, Hirst C, Lee D, Li HI, Mayo M, Moore RA, Mungall AJ, Schein JE, Sipahimalani P, Tam A, Varhol R, Gordon Robertson A, Wye N, Thiessen N, Holt RA, Jones SJM, Marra MA, Campbell JD, Brooks AN, Chmielecki J, Imielinski M, Onofrio RC, Hodis E, Zack T, Sougnez C, Helman E, Sekhar Pedamallu C, Mesirov J, Cherniack AD, Saksena G, Schumacher SE, Carter SL, Hernandez B, Garraway L, Beroukhim R, Gabriel SB, Getz G, Meyerson M, Hadjipanayis A, Lee S, Mahadeshwar HS, Pantazi A, Protopopov A, Ren X, Seth S, Song X, Tang J, Yang L, Zhang J, Chen P-C, Parfenov M, Wei Xu A, Santoso N, Chin L, Park PJ, Kucherlapati R, Hoadley KA, Todd Auman J, Meng S, Shi Y, Buda E, Waring S, Veluvolu U, Tan D, Mieczkowski PA, Jones CD, Simons JV, Soloway MG, Bodenheimer T, Jefferys SR, Roach J, Hoyle AP, Wu J, Balu S, Singh D, Prins JF, Marron JS, Parker JS, Neil Hayes D, Perou CM, Liu J, Cope L, Danilova L, Weisenberger DJ, Maglinte DT, Lai PH, Bootwalla MS, Van Den Berg DJ, Triche Jr T, Baylin SB, Laird PW, Rosenberg M, Chin L, Zhang J, Cho J, Dicara D, Heiman D, Lin P, Mallard W, Voet D, Zhang H, Zou L, Noble MS, Lawrence MS, Saksena G, Gehlenborg N, Thorvaldsdottir H, Mesirov J, Nazaire M-D, Robinson J, Getz G, Lee W, Arman Aksoy B, Ciriello G, Taylor BS, Dresdner G, Gao J, Gross B, Seshan VE, Ladanyi M, Reva B, Sinha R, Onur Sumer S, Weinhold N, Schultz N, Shen R, Sander C, Ng S, Ma S, Zhu J, Radenbaugh A, Stuart JM, Benz CC, Yau C, Haussler D, Spellman PT, Wilkerson MD, Parker JS, Hoadley KA, Kimes PK, Neil Hayes D, Perou CM, Broom BM, Wang J, Lu Y, Kwok Shing Ng P, Diao L, Averett Byers L, Liu W, Heymach JV, Amos CI, Weinstein JN, Akbani R, Mills GB, Curley E, Paulauskis J, Lau K, Morris S, Shelton T, Mallery D, Gardner J, Penny R, Saller C, Tarvin K, Richards WG, Cerfolio R, Bryant A, Raymond DP, Pennell NA, Farver C, Czerwinski C, Huelsenbeck-Dill L, Iacocca M, Petrelli N, Rabeno B, Brown J, Bauer T, Dolzhanskiy O, Potapova O, Rotin D, Voronina O, Nemirovich-Danchenko E, Fedosenko KV, Gal A, Behera M, Ramalingam SS, Sica G, Flieder D, Boyd J, Weaver J, Kohl B, Huy Quoc Thinh D, Sandusky G, Juhl H, The Cancer Genome Atlas Research N, Disease Analysis Working G, Genome Sequencing Centres: The E, Edythe LBI, Washington University in St L, Baylor College Of M, Genome Characterization Centres: Canada's Michael Smith Genome Sciences Centre BCCA, The E, Edythe LBI, Harvard Medical SB, Women's Hospital MDaCC, University of North Carolina CH, University Of K, The USCJHUECC, Genome Data Analysis Centres: The E, Edythe LBI, Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer C, University of California SCBI, Oregon H, Sciences U, The University of Texas MDaCC, Biospecimen Core Resource: International Genomics C, Tissue Source Sites: Analytical Biological Service I, Brigham, Women's H, University of Alabama At B, Cleveland C, Christiana C, Cureline, Emory U, Fox Chase Cancer C, Ilsbio, Indiana U, Indivumed, John Flynn H. (2014) Comprehensive molecular profiling of lung adenocarcinoma. Nature, 511(7511):543-550.

49. Cancer Genome Atlas Research N. (2014) Comprehensive molecular profiling of lung adenocarcinoma. Nature, 511(7511):543-550.

50. Kovács G. (2018) A pulmonológiai hálózat 2017. évi epidemiológiai és működési adatai. Korányi Bulletin 2018. Budapest, Hungary: 2018: (1.) 4-17.

51. Cancer Genome Atlas Research N. (2012) Comprehensive genomic characterization of squamous cell lung cancers. Nature, 489(7417):519-525.

52. Rudin CM, Durinck S, Stawiski EW, Poirier JT, Modrusan Z, Shames DS, Bergbower EA, Guan Y, Shin J, Guillory J, Rivers CS, Foo CK, Bhatt D, Stinson J, Gnad F, Haverty PM, Gentleman R, Chaudhuri S, Janakiraman V, Jaiswal BS, Parikh C, Yuan W, Zhang Z, Koeppen H, Wu TD, Stern HM, Yauch RL, Huffman KE, Paskulin DD, Illei PB, Varella-Garcia M, Gazdar AF, De Sauvage FJ, Bourgon R, Minna JD, Brock MV, Seshagiri S. (2012) Comprehensive genomic analysis identifies SOX2 as a frequently amplified gene in small-cell lung cancer. Nat Genet, 44(10):1111-1116.

53. Peifer M, Fernandez-Cuesta L, Sos ML, George J, Seidel D, Kasper LH, Plenker D, Leenders F, Sun R, Zander T, Menon R, Koker M, Dahmen I, Muller C, Di Cerbo V,

Schildhaus HU, Altmuller J, Baessmann I, Becker C, De Wilde B, Vandesompele J, Bohm D, Ansen S, Gabler F, Wilkening I, Heynck S, Heuckmann JM, Lu X, Carter SL, Cibulskis K, Banerji S, Getz G, Park KS, Rauh D, Grutter C, Fischer M, Pasqualucci L, Wright G, Wainer Z, Russell P, Petersen I, Chen Y, Stoelben E, Ludwig C, Schnabel P, Hoffmann H, Muley T, Brockmann M, Engel-Riedel W, Muscarella LA, Fazio VM, Groen H, Timens W, Sietsma H, Thunnissen E, Smit E, Heideman DA, Snijders PJ, Cappuzzo F, Ligorio C, Damiani S, Field J, Solberg S, Brustugun OT, Lund-Iversen M, Sanger J, Clement JH, Soltermann A, Moch H, Weder W, Solomon B, Soria JC, Validire P, Besse B, Brambilla E, Brambilla C, Lantuejoul S, Lorimier P, Schneider PM, Hallek M, Pao W, Meyerson M, Sage J, Shendure J, Schneider R, Buttner R, Wolf J, Nurnberg P, Perner S, Heukamp LC, Brindle PK, Haas S, Thomas RK. (2012) Integrative genome analyses identify key somatic driver mutations of small-cell lung cancer. Nat Genet, 44(10):1104-1110.

54. George J, Lim JS, Jang SJ, Cun Y, Ozretic L, Kong G, Leenders F, Lu X, Fernandez-Cuesta L, Bosco G, Muller C, Dahmen I, Jahchan NS, Park KS, Yang D, Karnezis AN, Vaka D, Torres A, Wang MS, Korbel JO, Menon R, Chun SM, Kim D, Wilkerson M, Hayes N, Engelmann D, Putzer B, Bos M, Michels S, Vlasic I, Seidel D, Pinther B, Schaub P, Becker C, Altmuller J, Yokota J, Kohno T, Iwakawa R, Tsuta K, Noguchi M, Muley T, Hoffmann H, Schnabel PA, Petersen I, Chen Y, Soltermann A, Tischler V, Choi CM, Kim YH, Massion PP, Zou Y, Jovanovic D, Kontic M, Wright GM, Russell PA, Solomon B, Koch I, Lindner M, Muscarella LA, La Torre A, Field JK, Jakopovic M, Knezevic J, Castanos-Velez E, Roz L, Pastorino U, Brustugun OT, Lund-Iversen M, Thunnissen E, Kohler J, Schuler M, Botling J, Sandelin M, Sanchez-Cespedes M, Salvesen HB, Achter V, Lang U, Bogus M, Schneider PM, Zander T, Ansen S, Hallek M, Wolf J, Vingron M, Yatabe Y, Travis WD, Nurnberg P, Reinhardt C, Perner S, Heukamp L, Buttner R, Haas SA, Brambilla E, Peifer M, Sage J, Thomas RK. (2015) Comprehensive genomic profiles of small cell lung cancer. Nature, 524(7563):47-53.

55. Crabtree JS, Singleton CS, Miele L. (2016) Notch Signaling in Neuroendocrine Tumors. Front Oncol, 14;6:94-94.

56. Haygood TM. (1994) Chest screening and tuberculosis in the United States. Radiographics, 14(5):1151-1166.

57. Á. Bakos, G. Kovács, Zs. Cselkó. (2015) A pulmonológiai hálózat 2014. évi epidemiológiai és mködési adatai. Korányi Bulletin, Sz.1, :4-45.

58. Nawa T, Nakagawa T Fau - Kusano S, Kusano S Fau - Kawasaki Y, Kawasaki Y Fau - Sugawara Y, Sugawara Y Fau - Nakata H, Nakata H. (2002) Lung cancer screening using low-dose spiral CT: results of baseline and 1-year follow-up studies. Chest, 122(1):15-20.

59. Henschke CI, Mccauley Di Fau - Yankelevitz DF, Yankelevitz Df Fau - Naidich DP, Naidich Dp Fau - Mcguinness G, Mcguinness G Fau - Miettinen OS, Miettinen Os Fau - Libby DM, Libby Dm Fau - Pasmantier MW, Pasmantier Mw Fau - Koizumi J, Koizumi J Fau - Altorki NK, Altorki Nk Fau - Smith JP, Smith JP. (1999) Early Lung Cancer Action Project: overall design and findings from baseline screening. Lancet London, England, 354(9173):99-105.

60. Chiles C. (2014) Lung cancer screening with low-dose computed tomography. Radiol Clin North Am, 52(1):27-46.

61. Bach PB, Kattan MW, Thornquist MD, Kris MG, Tate RC, Barnett MJ, Hsieh LJ, Begg CB. (2003) Variations in Lung Cancer Risk Among Smokers. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 95(6):470-478.

62. Spitz MR, Hong WK, Amos CI, Wu X, Schabath MB, Dong Q, Shete S, Etzel CJ.(2007) A risk model for prediction of lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 99(9):715-26.

63. Cassidy A, Myles JP, Van Tongeren M, Page RD, Liloglou T, Duffy SW, Field JK. (2008) The LLP risk model: an individual risk prediction model for lung cancer. British journal of cancer, 98(2):270-276.

64. D'amelio AM, Jr., Cassidy A, Asomaning K, Raji OY, Duffy SW, Field JK, Spitz MR, Christiani D, Etzel CJ. (2010) Comparison of discriminatory power and accuracy of three lung cancer risk models. British journal of cancer, 103(3):423-429.

65. Goebel C, Louden CL, Mckenna R, Jr., Onugha O, Wachtel A, Long T. (2019) Diagnosis of Non-small Cell Lung Cancer for Early Stage Asymptomatic Patients. Cancer Genomics Proteomics, 16(4):229-244.

66. Spiro SG, Gould MK, Colice GL. (2007) Initial evaluation of the patient with lung cancer: symptoms, signs, laboratory tests, and paraneoplastic syndromes: ACCP evidenced-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest, 132(3):149S-60S.

67. Postmus PE, Kerr KM, Oudkerk M, Senan S, Waller DA, Vansteenkiste J, Escriu C, Peters S, Committee EG. (2017) Early and locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol., 28(4):iv1-iv21.

68. Rami-Porta R, Bolejack V, Giroux DJ, Chansky K, Crowley J, Asamura H, Goldstraw P. (2014) The IASLC lung cancer staging project: the new database to inform the eighth edition of the TNM classification of lung cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 9(11):1618-1624.

69. Rami-Porta R, Bolejack V, Crowley J, Ball D, Kim J, Lyons G, Rice T, Suzuki K, Thomas CF, Jr., Travis WD, Wu YL. (2015) The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: Proposals for the Revisions of the T Descriptors in the Forthcoming Eighth Edition of the TNM Classification for Lung Cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 10(7):990-1003.

70. Eberhardt WE, Mitchell A, Crowley J, Kondo H, Kim YT, Turrisi A, 3rd, Goldstraw P, Rami-Porta R. (2015) The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: Proposals for the Revision of the M Descriptors in the Forthcoming Eighth Edition of the TNM Classification of Lung Cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 10(11):1515-1522.

71. Detterbeck FC, Boffa DJ, Kim AW, Tanoue LT. (2017) The Eighth Edition Lung Cancer Stage Classification. Chest, 151(1):193-203.

72. Shirasawa M, Fukui T, Kusuhara S, Hiyoshi Y, Ishihara M, Kasajima M, Nakahara Y, Otani S, Igawa S, Yokoba M, Mitsufuji H, Kubota M, Katagiri M, Sasaki J, Naoki K. (2018) Prognostic significance of the 8th edition of the TNM classification for patients with extensive disease small cell lung cancer. Cancer Manag Res, 10:6039-6047.

73. Simon GR, Turrisi A. (2007) Management of small cell lung cancer: ACCP evidence-based clinical practice guidelines (2nd edition). Chest, 132(3 Suppl):324S-39S.

74. Yun JK, Lee GD, Kim HR, Kim Y-H, Kim DK, Park S-I, Choi S. (2019) Validation of the 8th edition of the TNM staging system in 3,950 patients with surgically resected non-small cell lung cancer. Journal of thoracic disease, 11(7):2955-2964.

75. Hammerschmidt S, Wirtz H. (2009) Lung cancer: current diagnosis and treatment.Dtsch Arztebl Int, 106(49):809-820.
76. Shepherd FA, Crowley J Fau - Van Houtte P, Van Houtte P Fau - Postmus PE, Postmus Pe Fau - Carney D, Carney D Fau - Chansky K, Chansky K Fau - Shaikh Z, Shaikh Z Fau - Goldstraw P, Goldstraw P. (2007) The International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer lung cancer staging project: proposals regarding the clinical staging of small cell lung cancer in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the tumor, node, metastasis classification for lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol, 2(12):1067-1077.

77. Schreiber D, Rineer J, Weedon J, Vongtama D, Wortham A, Kim A, Han P, Choi K, Rotman M. (2010) Survival outcomes with the use of surgery in limited-stage small cell lung cancer: should its role be re-evaluated? Cancer, 116(5):1350-1357.

78. Yu JB, Decker RH, Detterbeck FC, Wilson LD. (2010) Surveillance epidemiology and end results evaluation of the role of surgery for stage I small cell lung cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 5(2):215-219.

79. Reymen B, Van Loon J, Van Baardwijk A, Wanders R, Borger J, Dingemans AM, Bootsma G, Pitz C, Lunde R, Geraedts W, Lambin P, De Ruysscher D. (2013) Total gross tumor volume is an independent prognostic factor in patients treated with selective nodal irradiation for stage I to III small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 85(5):1319-1324.

80. Pujol JL, Carestia L, Daures JP. (2000) Is there a case for cisplatin in the treatment of small-cell lung cancer? A meta-analysis of randomized trials of a cisplatin-containing regimen versus a regimen without this alkylating agent. British journal of cancer, 83(1):8-15.

81. Mascaux C, Paesmans M, Berghmans T, Branle F, Lafitte JJ, Lemaitre F, Meert AP, Vermylen P, Sculier JP. (2000) A systematic review of the role of etoposide and cisplatin in the chemotherapy of small cell lung cancer with methodology assessment and meta-analysis. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 30(1):23-36.

82. Slotman B, Faivre-Finn C, Kramer G, Rankin E, Snee M, Hatton M, Postmus P, Collette L, Musat E, Senan S. (2007) Prophylactic cranial irradiation in extensive small-cell lung cancer. The New England journal of medicine, 357(7):664-672.

83. Fruh M, De Ruysscher D, Popat S, Crino L, Peters S, Felip E, Group EGW. (2013) Small-cell lung cancer (SCLC): ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 24 Suppl 6:99-105.

84. Von Pawel J, Schiller JH, Shepherd FA, Fields SZ, Kleisbauer JP, Chrysson NG, Stewart DJ, Clark PI, Palmer MC, Depierre A, Carmichael J, Krebs JB, Ross G, Lane SR, Gralla R. (1999) Topotecan versus cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and vincristine for the treatment of recurrent small-cell lung cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 17(2):658-667.

85. Eckardt JR, Von Pawel J, Pujol JL, Papai Z, Quoix E, Ardizzoni A, Poulin R, Preston AJ, Dane G, Ross G. (2007) Phase III study of oral compared with intravenous topotecan as second-line therapy in small-cell lung cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 25(15):2086-2092.

86. Pujol JL, Lavole A, Quoix E, Molinier O, Souquet PJ, Barlesi F, Le Caer H, Moro-Sibilot D, Fournel P, Oster JP, Chatellain P, Barre P, Jeannin G, Mourlanette P, Derollez M, Herman D, Renault A, Dayen C, Lamy PJ, Langlais A, Morin F, Zalcman G. (2015) Randomized phase II-III study of bevacizumab in combination with chemotherapy in previously untreated extensive small-cell lung cancer: results from the IFCT-0802 trialdagger. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 26(5):908-914.

87. Arnold AM, Seymour L, Smylie M, Ding K, Ung Y, Findlay B, Lee CW, Djurfeldt M, Whitehead M, Ellis P, Goss G, Chan A, Meharchand J, Alam Y, Gregg R, Butts C, Langmuir P, Shepherd F. (2007) Phase II Study of Vandetanib or Placebo in Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients After Complete or Partial Response to Induction Chemotherapy With or Without Radiation Therapy: National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group Study BR.20. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 25(27):4278-4284.

88. Allen JW, Moon J, Redman M, Gadgeel SM, Kelly K, Mack PC, Saba HM, Mohamed MK, Jahanzeb M, Gandara DR. (2014) Southwest Oncology Group S0802: a randomized, phase II trial of weekly topotecan with and without ziv-aflibercept in patients with platinum-treated small-cell lung cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 32(23):2463-2470.

89. De Marinis F, Atmaca A, Tiseo M, Giuffreda L, Rossi A, Gebbia V, D'antonio C, Dal Zotto L, Al-Batran SE, Marsoni S, Wolf M. (2013) A phase II study of the histone deacetylase inhibitor panobinostat (LBH589) in pretreated patients with small-cell lung

cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 8(8):1091-1094.

90. Rudin CM, Salgia R, Wang X, Hodgson LD, Masters GA, Green M, Vokes EE. (2008) Randomized phase II Study of carboplatin and etoposide with or without the bcl-2 antisense oligonucleotide oblimersen for extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer: CALGB 30103. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 26(6):870-876.

91. Belani CP, Dahlberg SE, Rudin CM, Fleisher M, Chen HX, Takebe N, Velasco MR, Jr., Tester WJ, Sturtz K, Hann CL, Shanks JC, Monga M, Ramalingam SS, Schiller JH. (2016) Vismodegib or cixutumumab in combination with standard chemotherapy for patients with extensive-stage small cell lung cancer: A trial of the ECOG-ACRIN Cancer Research Group (E1508). Cancer, 122(15):2371-2378.

92. Rak J, Mitsuhashi Y, Bayko L, Filmus J, Shirasawa S, Sasazuki T, Kerbel RS. (1995) Mutant ras oncogenes upregulate VEGF/VPF expression: implications for induction and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis. Cancer research, 55(20):4575-4580.

93. Melichar B, Adenis A, Lockhart AC, Bennouna J, Dees EC, Kayaleh O, Obermannova R, Demichele A, Zatloukal P, Zhang B, Ullmann CD, Schusterbauer C. (2015) Safety and activity of alisertib, an investigational aurora kinase A inhibitor, in patients with breast cancer, small-cell lung cancer, non-small-cell lung cancer, head and neck squamous-cell carcinoma, and gastro-oesophageal adenocarcinoma: a five-arm phase 2 study. The Lancet Oncology, 16(4):395-405.

94. De Leyn P, Dooms C, Kuzdzal J, Lardinois D, Passlick B, Rami-Porta R, Turna A, Van Schil P, Venuta F, Waller D, Weder W, Zielinski M. (2014) Revised ESTS guidelines for preoperative mediastinal lymph node staging for non-small-cell lung cancer. European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery, 45(5):787-798.

95. Toomes H. (2002) General thoracic surgery as a monospeciality — a realistic vision? European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery, 21(1):1-4.

96. Roviaro G, Rebuffat C, Varoli F, Vergani C, Mariani C, Maciocco M. (1992) Videoendoscopic pulmonary lobectomy for cancer. Surg Laparosc Endosc, 2(3):244-247.

97. Mckenna RJ, Jr., Houck W, Fuller CB. (2006) Video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy: experience with 1,100 cases. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 81(2):421-426.

98. Gonzalez-Rivas D, Aymerich H, Bonome C, Fieira E. (2015) From Open Operations to Nonintubated Uniportal Video-Assisted Thoracoscopic Lobectomy: Minimizing the Trauma to the Patient. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 100(6):2003-2005. 99. West D, Rashid S, Dunning J. (2007) Does video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy produce equal cancer clearance compared to open lobectomy for non-small cell carcinoma of the lung? Interactive cardiovascular and thoracic surgery, 6(1):110-116. 100. Sugi K, Kaneda Y, Esato K. (2000) Video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy achieves a satisfactory long-term prognosis in patients with clinical stage IA lung cancer. World J Surg, 24(1):27-31.

101. Taioli E, Lee D-S, Lesser M, Flores R. (2013) Long-term survival in videoassisted thoracoscopic lobectomy vs open lobectomy in lung-cancer patients: a metaanalysis. European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery, 44(4):591-597.

102. Whitson BA, Groth SS, Duval SJ, Swanson SJ, Maddaus MA. (2008) Surgery for early-stage non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review of the video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery versus thoracotomy approaches to lobectomy. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 86(6):2008-2018.

103. Mathisen DJ. (2013) Is video-assisted thoracoscopic lobectomy inferior to open lobectomy oncologically? The Annals of thoracic surgery, 96(3):755-756.

104. D'amico TA, Niland J, Mamet R, Zornosa C, Dexter EU, Onaitis MW. (2011) Efficacy of mediastinal lymph node dissection during lobectomy for lung cancer by thoracoscopy and thoracotomy. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 92(1):226-232.

105. Guo F, Ma D, Li S. (2019) Compare the prognosis of Da Vinci robot-assisted thoracic surgery (RATS) with video-assisted thoracic surgery (VATS) for non-small cell lung cancer: A Meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore), 98(39):e17089-e.

106. Yang H-X, Woo KM, Sima CS, Bains MS, Adusumilli PS, Huang J, Finley DJ, Rizk NP, Rusch VW, Jones DR, Park BJ. (2017) Long-term Survival Based on the Surgical Approach to Lobectomy For Clinical Stage I Nonsmall Cell Lung Cancer: Comparison of Robotic, Video-assisted Thoracic Surgery, and Thoracotomy Lobectomy. Annals of surgery, 265(2):431-437.

107. Berry MF, Hanna J, Tong BC, Burfeind WR, Jr., Harpole DH, D'amico TA, Onaitis MW. (2009) Risk factors for morbidity after lobectomy for lung cancer in elderly patients. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 88(4):1093-1099.

108. Berry MF, D'amico TA, Onaitis MW, Kelsey CR. (2014) Thoracoscopic approach to lobectomy for lung cancer does not compromise oncologic efficacy. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 98(1):197-202.

109. Ceppa DP, Kosinski AS, Berry MF, Tong BC, Harpole DH, Mitchell JD, D'amico TA, Onaitis MW. (2012) Thoracoscopic lobectomy has increasing benefit in patients with poor pulmonary function: a Society of Thoracic Surgeons Database analysis. Annals of surgery, 256(3):487-493.

110. Ginsberg RJ, Rubinstein LV. (1995) Randomized trial of lobectomy versus limited resection for T1 N0 non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer Study Group. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 60(3):615-623.

111. Veluswamy RR, Ezer N, Mhango G, Goodman E, Bonomi M, Neugut AI, Swanson S, Powell CA, Beasley MB, Wisnivesky JP. (2015) Limited Resection Versus Lobectomy for Older Patients With Early-Stage Lung Cancer: Impact of Histology. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 33(30):3447-3453.

112. Koike T, Kitahara A, Sato S, Hashimoto T, Aoki T, Koike T, Yoshiya K, Toyabe S, Tsuchida M. (2016) Lobectomy Versus Segmentectomy in Radiologically Pure Solid Small-Sized Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. The Annals of thoracic surgery, 101(4):1354-1360.

113. Blasberg JD, Pass HI, Donington JS. (2010) Sublobar resection: a movement from the Lung Cancer Study Group. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 5(10):1583-1593.

114. Nakamura K, Saji H, Nakajima R, Okada M, Asamura H, Shibata T, Nakamura S, Tada H, Tsuboi M. (2010) A phase III randomized trial of lobectomy versus limited resection for small-sized peripheral non-small cell lung cancer (JCOG0802/WJOG4607L). Jpn J Clin Oncol, 40(3):271-274.

115. Suzuki K, Saji H, Aokage K, Watanabe SI, Okada M, Mizusawa J, Nakajima R,Tsuboi M, Nakamura S, Nakamura K, Mitsudomi T, Asamura H, West Japan OncologyG, Japan Clinical Oncology G. (2019) Comparison of pulmonary segmentectomy and

lobectomy: Safety results of a randomized trial. The Journal of thoracic and cardiovascular surgery, 158(3):895-907.

116. Rami-Porta R, Wittekind C, Goldstraw P. (2005) Complete resection in lung cancer surgery: proposed definition. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 49(1):25-33.

117. Huang X, Wang J, Chen Q, Jiang J. (2014) Mediastinal lymph node dissection versus mediastinal lymph node sampling for early stage non-small cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PloS one, 9(10):e109979.

118. Lindberg K, Nyman J, Riesenfeld Kallskog V, Hoyer M, Lund JA, Lax I, Wersall P, Karlsson K, Friesland S, Lewensohn R. (2015) Long-term results of a prospective phase II trial of medically inoperable stage I NSCLC treated with SBRT - the Nordic experience. Acta Oncol, 54(8):1096-1104.

119. Verstegen NE, Lagerwaard FJ, Hashemi SM, Dahele M, Slotman BJ, Senan S. (2015) Patterns of Disease Recurrence after SABR for Early Stage Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Optimizing Follow-Up Schedules for Salvage Therapy. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 10(8):1195-1200.

120. Louie AV, Palma DA, Dahele M, Rodrigues GB, Senan S. (2015) Management of early-stage non-small cell lung cancer using stereotactic ablative radiotherapy: controversies, insights, and changing horizons. Radiotherapy and oncology : journal of the European Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology, 114(2):138-147.

121. Onishi H, Shirato H, Nagata Y, Hiraoka M, Fujino M, Gomi K, Karasawa K, Hayakawa K, Niibe Y, Takai Y, Kimura T, Takeda A, Ouchi A, Hareyama M, Kokubo M, Kozuka T, Arimoto T, Hara R, Itami J, Araki T. (2011) Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for operable stage I non-small-cell lung cancer: can SBRT be comparable to surgery? Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 81(5):1352-1358.

122. Lagerwaard FJ, Verstegen NE, Haasbeek CJ, Slotman BJ, Paul MA, Smit EF, Senan S. (2012) Outcomes of stereotactic ablative radiotherapy in patients with potentially operable stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 83(1):348-353.

123. Siva S, Ball D. (2016) Curing Operable Stage I Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer With Stereotactic Ablative Body Radiotherapy: The Force Awakens. The oncologist, 21(4):393-398.

124. Ceniceros L, Aristu J, Castanon E, Rolfo C, Legaspi J, Olarte A, Valtuena G, Moreno M, Gil-Bazo I. (2016) Stereotactic body radiotherapy (SBRT) for the treatment of inoperable stage I non-small cell lung cancer patients. Clin Transl Oncol, 18(3):259-268.

125. Griffioen GH, Lagerwaard FJ, Haasbeek CJ, Smit EF, Slotman BJ, Senan S. (2013) Treatment of multiple primary lung cancers using stereotactic radiotherapy, either with or without surgery. Radiotherapy and oncology : journal of the European Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology, 107(3):403-408.

126. Ambrogi MC, Fanucchi O, Dini P, Melfi F, Davini F, Lucchi M, Massimetti G, Mussi A. (2015) Wedge resection and radiofrequency ablation for stage I nonsmall cell lung cancer. Eur Respir J, 45(4):1089-1097.

127. Burdett S, Rydzewska L, Tierney J, Fisher D, Parmar MK, Arriagada R, Pignon JP, Le Pechoux C; PORT Meta-analysis Trialists Group (2005) Postoperative radiotherapy for non-small cell lung cancer. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, 29;9:CD002142.

128. Le Péchoux C. (2011) Role of postoperative radiotherapy in resected non-small cell lung cancer: a reassessment based on new data. The oncologist, 16(5):672-681.

129. Pignon JP, Tribodet H, Scagliotti GV, Douillard JY, Shepherd FA, Stephens RJ, Dunant A, Torri V, Rosell R, Seymour L, Spiro SG, Rolland E, Fossati R, Aubert D, Ding K, Waller D, Le Chevalier T. (2008) Lung adjuvant cisplatin evaluation: a pooled analysis by the LACE Collaborative Group. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 26(21):3552-3559.

130. Artal Cortés Á, Calera Urquizu L, Hernando Cubero J. (2015) Adjuvant chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: state-of-the-art. Transl Lung Cancer Res, 4(2):191-197.

131. Salazar MC, Rosen JE, Wang Z, Arnold BN, Thomas DC, Herbst RS, Kim AW, Detterbeck FC, Blasberg JD, Boffa DJ. (2017) Association of Delayed Adjuvant Chemotherapy With Survival After Lung Cancer Surgery. JAMA Oncol, 3(5):610-619.

132. Arriagada R, Auperin A, Burdett S, Higgins JP, Johnson DH, Le Chevalier T, Le Pechoux C, Parmar MK, Pignon JP, Souhami RL, Stephens RJ, Stewart LA, Tierney JF, Tribodet H, Van Meerbeeck J. (2010) Adjuvant chemotherapy, with or without postoperative radiotherapy, in operable non-small-cell lung cancer: two meta-analyses of individual patient data. Lancet (London, England), 375(9722):1267-1277.

133. Butts CA, Ding K, Seymour L, Twumasi-Ankrah P, Graham B, Gandara D, Johnson DH, Kesler KA, Green M, Vincent M, Cormier Y, Goss G, Findlay B, Johnston M, Tsao MS, Shepherd FA. (2010) Randomized phase III trial of vinorelbine plus cisplatin compared with observation in completely resected stage IB and II non-small-cell lung cancer: updated survival analysis of JBR-10. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 28(1):29-34.

134. Lim E, Harris G, Patel A, Adachi I, Edmonds L, Song F. (2009) Preoperative versus postoperative chemotherapy in patients with resectable non-small cell lung cancer: systematic review and indirect comparison meta-analysis of randomized trials. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 4(11):1380-1388.

135. (2014) Preoperative chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. Lancet (London, England), 383(9928):1561-1571.

136. Gilligan D, Nicolson M, Smith I, Groen H, Dalesio O, Goldstraw P, Hatton M, Hopwood P, Manegold C, Schramel F, Smit H, Van Meerbeeck J, Nankivell M, Parmar M, Pugh C, Stephens R. (2007) Preoperative chemotherapy in patients with resectable non-small cell lung cancer: results of the MRC LU22/NVALT 2/EORTC 08012 multicentre randomised trial and update of systematic review. Lancet (London, England), 369(9577):1929-1937.

137. Tsitsias T, Boulemden A, Ang K, Nakas A, Waller DA. (2014) The N2 paradox: similar outcomes of pre- and postoperatively identified single-zone N2a positive non-small-cell lung cancer. European journal of cardio-thoracic surgery : official journal of the European Association for Cardio-thoracic Surgery, 45(5):882-887.

138. Van Meerbeeck JP, Kramer GWPM, Van Schil PEY, Legrand C, Smit EF, Schramel F, Tjan-Heijnen VC, Biesma B, Debruyne C, Van Zandwijk N, Splinter TaW, Giaccone G, European Organisation For R, Treatment of Cancer-Lung Cancer G. (2007)

Randomized controlled trial of resection versus radiotherapy after induction chemotherapy in stage IIIA-N2 non-small-cell lung cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 99(6):442-450.

139. Albain KS, Swann RS, Rusch VW, Turrisi AT, 3rd, Shepherd FA, Smith C, Chen Y, Livingston RB, Feins RH, Gandara DR, Fry WA, Darling G, Johnson DH, Green MR, Miller RC, Ley J, Sause WT, Cox JD. (2009) Radiotherapy plus chemotherapy with or without surgical resection for stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: a phase III randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England), 374(9687):379-386.

140. Shinde A, Horne ZD, Li R, Glaser S, Massarelli E, Koczywas M, Erhunmwunsee L, Reckamp KL, Weksler B, Salgia R, Beriwal S, Amini A. (2019) Optimal adjuvant therapy in clinically N2 non-small cell lung cancer patients undergoing neoadjuvant chemotherapy and surgery: The importance of pathological response and lymph node ratio. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 133:136-143.

141. Senan S, Brade A, Wang L-H, Vansteenkiste J, Dakhil S, Biesma B, Martinez Aguillo M, Aerts J, Govindan R, Rubio-Viqueira B, Lewanski C, Gandara D, Choy H, Mok T, Hossain A, Iscoe N, Treat J, Koustenis A, San Antonio B, Chouaki N, Vokes E. (2016) PROCLAIM: Randomized Phase III Trial of Pemetrexed-Cisplatin or Etoposide-Cisplatin Plus Thoracic Radiation Therapy Followed by Consolidation Chemotherapy in Locally Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 34(9):953-62.

142. Bradley JD, Paulus R, Komaki R, Masters G, Blumenschein G, Schild S, Bogart J, Hu C, Forster K, Magliocco A, Kavadi V, Garces YI, Narayan S, Iyengar P, Robinson C, Wynn RB, Koprowski C, Meng J, Beitler J, Gaur R, Curran W, Jr., Choy H. (2015) Standard-dose versus high-dose conformal radiotherapy with concurrent and consolidation carboplatin plus paclitaxel with or without cetuximab for patients with stage IIIA or IIIB non-small-cell lung cancer (RTOG 0617): a randomised, two-by-two factorial phase 3 study. The Lancet Oncology, 16(2):187-199.

143. Ahn JS, Ahn YC, Kim J-H, Lee CG, Cho EK, Lee KC, Chen M, Kim D-W, Kim H-K, Min YJ, Kang J-H, Choi J-H, Kim S-W, Zhu G, Wu Y-L, Kim SR, Lee KH, Song HS, Choi Y-L, Sun J-M, Jung S-H, Ahn M-J, Park K. (2015) Multinational Randomized Phase III Trial With or Without Consolidation Chemotherapy Using Docetaxel and Cisplatin After Concurrent Chemoradiation in Inoperable Stage III Non-Small-Cell Lung

Cancer: KCSG-LU05-04. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 33(24):2660-2666.

144. Huang Q, Li J, Sun Y, Wang R, Cheng X, Chen H. (2016) Efficacy of EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors in the Adjuvant Treatment for Operable Non-small Cell Lung Cancer by a Meta-Analysis. Chest, 149(6):1384-1392.

145. Kelly K, Altorki NK, Eberhardt WEE, O'brien MER, Spigel DR, Crinò L, Tsai C-M, Kim J-H, Cho EK, Hoffman PC, Orlov SV, Serwatowski P, Wang J, Foley MA, Horan JD, Shepherd FA. (2015) Adjuvant Erlotinib Versus Placebo in Patients With Stage IB-IIIA Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer (RADIANT): A Randomized, Double-Blind, Phase III Trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 33(34):4007-4014.

146. Baser S, Shannon VR, Eapen GA, Jimenez CA, Onn A, Lin E, Morice RC. (2006) Smoking cessation after diagnosis of lung cancer is associated with a beneficial effect on performance status. Chest, 130(6):1784-1790.

147. Hughes AN, O'brien MER, Petty WJ, Chick JB, Rankin E, Woll PJ, Dunlop D, Nicolson M, Boinpally R, Wolf J, Price A. (2009) Overcoming CYP1A1/1A2 mediated induction of metabolism by escalating erlotinib dose in current smokers. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 27(8):1220-1226.

148. Planchard D, Popat S, Kerr K, Novello S, Smit EF, Faivre-Finn C, Mok TS, Reck M, Van Schil PE, Hellmann MD, Peters S, Committee EG. (2018) Metastatic non-small cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 29(4):iv192-iv237.

149. Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, Harris PL, Haserlat SM, Supko JG, Haluska FG, Louis DN, Christiani DC, Settleman J, Haber DA. (2004) Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. The New England journal of medicine, 350(21):2129-2139.

150. Paez JG, Jänne PA, Lee JC, Tracy S, Greulich H, Gabriel S, Herman P, Kaye FJ, Lindeman N, Boggon TJ, Naoki K, Sasaki H, Fujii Y, Eck MJ, Sellers WR, Johnson BE,

Meyerson M. (2004) EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. Science, 304(5676):1497-1500.

151. Mok TS, Wu Y-L, Thongprasert S, Yang C-H, Chu D-T, Saijo N, Sunpaweravong P, Han B, Margono B, Ichinose Y, Nishiwaki Y, Ohe Y, Yang J-J, Chewaskulyong B, Jiang H, Duffield EL, Watkins CL, Armour AA, Fukuoka M. (2009) Gefitinib or carboplatin-paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma. The New England journal of medicine, 361(10):947-957.

152. Han J-Y, Park K, Kim S-W, Lee DH, Kim HY, Kim HT, Ahn MJ, Yun T, Ahn JS, Suh C, Lee J-S, Yoon SJ, Han JH, Lee JW, Jo SJ, Lee JS. (2012) First-SIGNAL: firstline single-agent iressa versus gemcitabine and cisplatin trial in never-smokers with adenocarcinoma of the lung. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 30(10):1122-1128.

153. Maemondo M, Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Sugawara S, Oizumi S, Isobe H, Gemma A, Harada M, Yoshizawa H, Kinoshita I, Fujita Y, Okinaga S, Hirano H, Yoshimori K, Harada T, Ogura T, Ando M, Miyazawa H, Tanaka T, Saijo Y, Hagiwara K, Morita S, Nukiwa T. (2010) Gefitinib or Chemotherapy for Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer with Mutated EGFR. New England Journal of Medicine, 362(25):2380-2388.

154. Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, Vergnenegre A, Massuti B, Felip E, Palmero R, Garcia-Gomez R, Pallares C, Sanchez JM, Porta R, Cobo M, Garrido P, Longo F, Moran T, Insa A, De Marinis F, Corre R, Bover I, Illiano A, Dansin E, De Castro J, Milella M, Reguart N, Altavilla G, Jimenez U, Provencio M, Moreno MA, Terrasa J, Muñoz-Langa J, Valdivia J, Isla D, Domine M, Molinier O, Mazieres J, Baize N, Garcia-Campelo R, Robinet G, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Lopez-Vivanco G, Gebbia V, Ferrera-Delgado L, Bombaron P, Bernabe R, Bearz A, Artal A, Cortesi E, Rolfo C, Sanchez-Ronco M, Drozdowskyj A, Queralt C, De Aguirre I, Ramirez JL, Sanchez JJ, Molina MA, Taron M, Paz-Ares L, Spanish Lung Cancer Group in Collaboration with Groupe Français De P-C, Associazione Italiana Oncologia T. (2012) Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. The Lancet Oncology, 13(3):239-246.

155. Sequist LV, Yang JC-H, Yamamoto N, O'byrne K, Hirsh V, Mok T, Geater SL, Orlov S, Tsai C-M, Boyer M, Su W-C, Bennouna J, Kato T, Gorbunova V, Lee KH, Shah

R, Massey D, Zazulina V, Shahidi M, Schuler M. (2013) Phase III study of afatinib or cisplatin plus pemetrexed in patients with metastatic lung adenocarcinoma with EGFR mutations. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 31(27):3327-3334.

156. Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Usui K, Maemondo M, Okinaga S, Mikami I, Ando M, Yamazaki K, Saijo Y, Gemma A, Miyazawa H, Tanaka T, Ikebuchi K, Nukiwa T, Morita S, Hagiwara K, North East Japan Gefitinib Study G. (2009) First-line gefitinib for patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harboring epidermal growth factor receptor mutations without indication for chemotherapy. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 27(9):1394-1400.

157. Park K, Yu C-J, Kim S-W, Lin M-C, Sriuranpong V, Tsai C-M, Lee J-S, Kang J-H, Chan KCA, Perez-Moreno P, Button P, Ahn M-J, Mok T. (2016) First-Line Erlotinib Therapy Until and Beyond Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumors Progression in Asian Patients With Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Mutation-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: The ASPIRATION Study. JAMA oncology, 2(3):305-312.

158. Park K, Tan E-H, O'byrne K, Zhang L, Boyer M, Mok T, Hirsh V, Yang JC-H, Lee KH, Lu S, Shi Y, Kim S-W, Laskin J, Kim D-W, Arvis CD, Kölbeck K, Laurie SA, Tsai C-M, Shahidi M, Kim M, Massey D, Zazulina V, Paz-Ares L. (2016) Afatinib versus gefitinib as first-line treatment of patients with EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (LUX-Lung 7): a phase 2B, open-label, randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Oncology, 17(5):577-589.

159. Paz-Ares L, Tan EH, O'byrne K, Zhang L, Hirsh V, Boyer M, Yang JCH, Mok T, Lee KH, Lu S, Shi Y, Lee DH, Laskin J, Kim DW, Laurie SA, Kölbeck K, Fan J, Dodd N, Märten A, Park K. (2017) Afatinib versus gefitinib in patients with EGFR mutation-positive advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: overall survival data from the phase IIb LUX-Lung 7 trial. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 28(2):270-277.

160. Yang JC-H, Wu Y-L, Schuler M, Sebastian M, Popat S, Yamamoto N, Zhou C, Hu C-P, O'byrne K, Feng J, Lu S, Huang Y, Geater SL, Lee KY, Tsai C-M, Gorbunova V, Hirsh V, Bennouna J, Orlov S, Mok T, Boyer M, Su W-C, Lee KH, Kato T, Massey D, Shahidi M, Zazulina V, Sequist LV. (2015) Afatinib versus cisplatin-based chemotherapy for EGFR mutation-positive lung adenocarcinoma (LUX-Lung 3 and LUX-Lung 6): analysis of overall survival data from two randomised, phase 3 trials. The Lancet Oncology, 16(2):141-151.

161. Soria J-C, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, Reungwetwattana T, Chewaskulyong B, Lee KH, Dechaphunkul A, Imamura F, Nogami N, Kurata T, Okamoto I, Zhou C, Cho BC, Cheng Y, Cho EK, Voon PJ, Planchard D, Su W-C, Gray JE, Lee S-M, Hodge R, Marotti M, Rukazenkov Y, Ramalingam SS, Investigators F. (2018) Osimertinib in Untreated EGFR-Mutated Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. The New England journal of medicine, 378(2):113-125.

162. Seto T, Kato T, Nishio M, Goto K, Atagi S, Hosomi Y, Yamamoto N, Hida T, Maemondo M, Nakagawa K, Nagase S, Okamoto I, Yamanaka T, Tajima K, Harada R, Fukuoka M, Yamamoto N. (2014) Erlotinib alone or with bevacizumab as first-line therapy in patients with advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring EGFR mutations (JO25567): an open-label, randomised, multicentre, phase 2 study. The Lancet Oncology, 15(11):1236-1244.

163. Rosell R, Dafni U, Felip E, Curioni-Fontecedro A, Gautschi O, Peters S, Massutí B, Palmero R, Aix SP, Carcereny E, Früh M, Pless M, Popat S, Kotsakis A, Cuffe S, Bidoli P, Favaretto A, Froesch P, Reguart N, Puente J, Coate L, Barlesi F, Rauch D, Thomas M, Camps C, Gómez-Codina J, Majem M, Porta R, Shah R, Hanrahan E, Kammler R, Ruepp B, Rabaglio M, Kassapian M, Karachaliou N, Tam R, Shames DS, Molina-Vila MA, Stahel RA, Group BC. (2017) Erlotinib and bevacizumab in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer and activating EGFR mutations (BELIEF): an international, multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Respir Med, 5(5):435-444.

164. Furuya N, Fukuhara T, Saito H, Watanabe K, Sugawara S, Iwasawa S, Tsunezuka Y, Yamaguchi O, Okada M, Yoshimori K, Nakachi I, Gemma A, Azuma K, Hagiwara K, Nukiwa T, Morita S, Kobayashi K, Maemondo M. (2018) Phase III study comparing bevacizumab plus erlotinib to erlotinib in patients with untreated NSCLC harboring activating EGFR mutations: NEJ026. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 36(15):9006-9006.

165. Camidge DR, Bang Y-J, Kwak EL, Iafrate AJ, Varella-Garcia M, Fox SB, Riely GJ, Solomon B, Ou S-HI, Kim D-W, Salgia R, Fidias P, Engelman JA, Gandhi L, Jänne PA, Costa DB, Shapiro GI, Lorusso P, Ruffner K, Stephenson P, Tang Y, Wilner K, Clark JW, Shaw AT. (2012) Activity and safety of crizotinib in patients with ALK-positive non-

small-cell lung cancer: updated results from a phase 1 study. The Lancet Oncology, 13(10):1011-1019.

166. Shaw AT, Yeap BY, Solomon BJ, Riely GJ, Gainor J, Engelman JA, Shapiro GI, Costa DB, Ou S-HI, Butaney M, Salgia R, Maki RG, Varella-Garcia M, Doebele RC, Bang Y-J, Kulig K, Selaru P, Tang Y, Wilner KD, Kwak EL, Clark JW, Iafrate AJ, Camidge DR. (2011) Effect of crizotinib on overall survival in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring ALK gene rearrangement: a retrospective analysis. The Lancet Oncology, 12(11):1004-1012.

167. Soria J-C, Tan DSW, Chiari R, Wu Y-L, Paz-Ares L, Wolf J, Geater SL, Orlov S, Cortinovis D, Yu C-J, Hochmair M, Cortot AB, Tsai C-M, Moro-Sibilot D, Campelo RG, Mcculloch T, Sen P, Dugan M, Pantano S, Branle F, Massacesi C, De Castro G, Jr. (2017) First-line ceritinib versus platinum-based chemotherapy in advanced ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer (ASCEND-4): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet (London, England), 389(10072):917-929.

168. Cho BC, Kim D-W, Bearz A, Laurie SA, Mckeage M, Borra G, Park K, Kim S-W, Ghosn M, Ardizzoni A, Maiello E, Greystoke A, Yu R, Osborne K, Gu W, Scott JW, Passos VQ, Lau YY, Wrona A. (2017) ASCEND-8: A Randomized Phase 1 Study of Ceritinib, 450 mg or 600 mg, Taken with a Low-Fat Meal versus 750 mg in Fasted State in Patients with Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase (ALK)-Rearranged Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC). Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 12(9):1357-1367.

169. Shaw AT, Ou S-HI, Bang Y-J, Camidge DR, Solomon BJ, Salgia R, Riely GJ, Varella-Garcia M, Shapiro GI, Costa DB, Doebele RC, Le LP, Zheng Z, Tan W, Stephenson P, Shreeve SM, Tye LM, Christensen JG, Wilner KD, Clark JW, Iafrate AJ. (2014) Crizotinib in ROS1-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer. The New England journal of medicine, 371(21):1963-1971.

170. Moro-Sibilot D, Faivre L, Zalcman G, Pérol M, Barlesi F, Otto J, Monnet I, Cortot AB, Wislez M, Lena H, Mazières J, Durando X, Lantuejoul S, Rouquette I, Mcleer Florin A, Ferretti G, Hoog Labouret N, Nowak F, Jimenez M, Vassal G. (2015) Crizotinib in patients with advanced ROS1-rearranged non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Preliminary results of the ACSé phase II trial. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 33(15):8065-8065.

171. Mazières J, Zalcman G, Crinò L, Biondani P, Barlesi F, Filleron T, Dingemans A-MC, Léna H, Monnet I, Rothschild SI, Cappuzzo F, Besse B, Thiberville L, Rouvière D, Dziadziuszko R, Smit EF, Wolf J, Spirig C, Pecuchet N, Leenders F, Heuckmann JM, Diebold J, Milia JD, Thomas RK, Gautschi O. (2015) Crizotinib therapy for advanced lung adenocarcinoma and a ROS1 rearrangement: results from the EUROS1 cohort. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 33(9):992-999.

172. Lim SM, Kim HR, Lee J-S, Lee KH, Lee Y-G, Min YJ, Cho EK, Lee SS, Kim B-S, Choi MY, Shim HS, Chung J-H, La Choi Y, Lee MJ, Kim M, Kim J-H, Ali SM, Ahn M-J, Cho BC. (2017) Open-Label, Multicenter, Phase II Study of Ceritinib in Patients With Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Harboring ROS1 Rearrangement. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 35(23):2613-2618.

173. Davare MA, Vellore NA, Wagner JP, Eide CA, Goodman JR, Drilon A, Deininger MW, O'hare T, Druker BJ. (2015) Structural insight into selectivity and resistance profiles of ROS1 tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 112(39):E5381-E5390.

174. Barlesi F, Mazieres J, Merlio J-P, Debieuvre D, Mosser J, Lena H, Ouafik LH, Besse B, Rouquette I, Westeel V, Escande F, Monnet I, Lemoine A, Veillon R, Blons H, Audigier-Valette C, Bringuier P-P, Lamy R, Beau-Faller M, Pujol J-L, Sabourin J-C, Penault-Llorca F, Denis MG, Lantuejoul S, Morin F, Tran Q, Missy P, Langlais A, Milleron B, Cadranel J, Soria J-C, Zalcman G, Biomarkers France C. (2016) Routine molecular profiling of patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: results of a 1year nationwide programme of the French Cooperative Thoracic Intergroup (IFCT). Lancet (London, England), 387(10026):1415-1426.

175. Kris MG, Johnson BE, Berry LD, Kwiatkowski DJ, Iafrate AJ, Wistuba II, Varella-Garcia M, Franklin WA, Aronson SL, Su P-F, Shyr Y, Camidge DR, Sequist LV, Glisson BS, Khuri FR, Garon EB, Pao W, Rudin C, Schiller J, Haura EB, Socinski M, Shirai K, Chen H, Giaccone G, Ladanyi M, Kugler K, Minna JD, Bunn PA. (2014) Using multiplexed assays of oncogenic drivers in lung cancers to select targeted drugs. Jama, 311(19):1998-2006.

176. Gautschi O, Milia J, Cabarrou B, Bluthgen M-V, Besse B, Smit EF, Wolf J, Peters S, Früh M, Koeberle D, Oulkhouir Y, Schuler M, Curioni-Fontecedro A, Huret B,

Kerjouan M, Michels S, Pall G, Rothschild S, Schmid-Bindert G, Scheffler M, Veillon R, Wannesson L, Diebold J, Zalcman G, Filleron T, Mazières J. (2015) Targeted Therapy for Patients with BRAF-Mutant Lung Cancer: Results from the European EURAF Cohort. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 10(10):1451-1457.

177. Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, Gottfried M, Peled N, Tafreshi A, Cuffe S, O'brien M, Rao S, Hotta K, Leiby MA, Lubiniecki GM, Shentu Y, Rangwala R, Brahmer JR, Investigators K-. (2016) Pembrolizumab versus Chemotherapy for PD-L1-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. The New England journal of medicine, 375(19):1823-1833.

178. Brahmer JR, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, Gottfried M, Peled N, Tafreshi A, Cuffe S, O'brien M, Rao S, Hotta K, Zhang J, Lubiniecki GM, Deitz AC, Rangwala R, Reck M. (2017) Health-related quality-of-life results for pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy in advanced, PD-L1-positive NSCLC (KEYNOTE-024): a multicentre, international, randomised, open-label phase 3 trial. The Lancet Oncology, 18(12):1600-1609.

179. Brahmer J, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson A, Hui R, Csőszi T, Fülöp A, Gottfried M, Peled N, Tafreshi A, Cuffe S, O'brien M, Rao S, Hotta K, Riccio A, Yang J, Pietanza MC, Reck M. (2017) OA 17.06 Updated Analysis of KEYNOTE-024: Pembrolizumab vs Platinum-Based Chemotherapy for Advanced NSCLC With PD-L1 TPS ≥50%. Journal of Thoracic Oncology, 12(11):S1793-S1794.

180. (1995) Chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis using updated data on individual patients from 52 randomised clinical trials. Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Collaborative Group. BMJ, 311(7010):899-909.

181. Group NM-aC. (2008) Chemotherapy in addition to supportive care improves survival in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from 16 randomized controlled trials. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 26(28):4617-4625.

182. Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Collaborative G. (2010) Chemotherapy and supportive care versus supportive care alone for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, (5):CD007309-CD.

183. Eberhardt WEE, Mitchell A, Crowley J, Kondo H, Kim YT, Turrisi A, 3rd, Goldstraw P, Rami-Porta R, International Association for Study of Lung Cancer S, Prognostic Factors Committee ABM, Participating I. (2015) The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: Proposals for the Revision of the M Descriptors in the Forthcoming Eighth Edition of the TNM Classification of Lung Cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 10(11):1515-1522.

184. Downey RJ, Ng KK, Kris MG, Bains MS, Miller VA, Heelan R, Bilsky M, Ginsberg R, Rusch VW. (2002) A phase II trial of chemotherapy and surgery for nonsmall cell lung cancer patients with a synchronous solitary metastasis. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 38(2):193-197.

185. De Ruysscher D, Wanders R, Van Baardwijk A, Dingemans A-MC, Reymen B, Houben R, Bootsma G, Pitz C, Van Eijsden L, Geraedts W, Baumert BG, Lambin P. (2012) Radical treatment of non-small-cell lung cancer patients with synchronous oligometastases: long-term results of a prospective phase II trial (Nct01282450). Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 7(10):1547-1555.

186. David EA, Clark JM, Cooke DT, Melnikow J, Kelly K, Canter RJ. (2017) The Role of Thoracic Surgery in the Therapeutic Management of Metastatic Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 12(11):1636-1645.

187. Gentzler RD, Yentz SE, Patel JD. (2013) Bevacizumab in advanced NSCLC: chemotherapy partners and duration of use. Curr Treat Options Oncol, 14(4):595-609.

188. Mattern J, Koomagi R, Volm M. (1996) Association of vascular endothelial growth factor expression with intratumoral microvessel density and tumour cell proliferation in human epidermoid lung carcinoma. British journal of cancer, 73(7):931-934.

189. Brown LF, Berse B, Jackman RW, Tognazzi K, Manseau EJ, Senger DR, Dvorak HF. (1993) Expression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) and its receptors in adenocarcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract. Cancer research, 53(19):4727-4735.

190. Brown LF, Berse B, Jackman RW, Tognazzi K, Guidi AJ, Dvorak HF, Senger DR, Connolly JL, Schnitt SJ. (1995) Expression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) and its receptors in breast cancer. Human pathology, 26(1):86-91.

191. Seto T, Higashiyama M, Funai H, Imamura F, Uematsu K, Seki N, Eguchi K, Yamanaka T, Ichinose Y. (2006) Prognostic value of expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its flt-1 and KDR receptors in stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 53(1):91-96.

192. Ferrara N, Gerber HP, Lecouter J. (2003) The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nature medicine, 9(6):669-676.

193. Kim Kj LB, Winer J, Et Al. (1993) Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factorinduced angiogenesis suppresses tumour growth in vivo.Nature (362):841-844.

194. Kabbinavar Ff WJ, Ayala Re, Wintroub Ab, Kim Kj, Ferrara N. (1995) The effect of antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor and cisplatin on the growth of lung tumors in nude mice. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res, 36:488.

195. Borgstrom P, Gold DP, Hillan KJ, Ferrara N. (1999) Importance of VEGF for breast cancer angiogenesis in vivo: implications from intravital microscopy of combination treatments with an anti-VEGF neutralizing monoclonal antibody and doxorubicin. Anticancer research, 19(5B):4203-4214.

196. Qu CY, Zheng Y, Zhou M, Zhang Y, Shen F, Cao J, Xu LM. (2015) Value of bevacizumab in treatment of colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. World journal of gastroenterology, 21(16):5072-5080.

197. Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, Berlin J, Baron A, Griffing S, Holmgren E, Ferrara N, Fyfe G, Rogers B, Ross R, Kabbinavar F. (2004) Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. The New England journal of medicine, 350(23):2335-2342.

198. Yoshida H, Yabuno A, Fujiwara K. (2015) Critical appraisal of bevacizumab in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Drug design, development and therapy, 9:2351-2358.

199. Miller K, Wang M, Gralow J, Dickler M, Cobleigh M, Perez EA, Shenkier T, Cella D, Davidson NE. (2007) Paclitaxel plus bevacizumab versus paclitaxel alone for metastatic breast cancer. The New England journal of medicine, 357(26):2666-2676.

200. Bear HD, Tang G, Rastogi P, Geyer CE, Jr., Liu Q, Robidoux A, Baez-Diaz L, Brufsky AM, Mehta RS, Fehrenbacher L, Young JA, Senecal FM, Gaur R, Margolese RG, Adams PT, Gross HM, Costantino JP, Paik S, Swain SM, Mamounas EP, Wolmark N. (2015) Neoadjuvant plus adjuvant bevacizumab in early breast cancer (NSABP B-40 [NRG Oncology]): secondary outcomes of a phase 3, randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Oncology, 16(9):1037-1048.

201. Turnbull JD, Cobert J, Jaffe T, Harrison MR, George DJ, Armstrong AJ. (2013) Activity of single-agent bevacizumab in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma previously treated with vascular endothelial growth factor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Clinical genitourinary cancer, 11(1):45-50.

202. Escudier B, Pluzanska A, Koralewski P, Ravaud A, Bracarda S, Szczylik C, Chevreau C, Filipek M, Melichar B, Bajetta E, Gorbunova V, Bay JO, Bodrogi I, Jagiello-Gruszfeld A, Moore N, Investigators AT. (2007) Bevacizumab plus interferon alfa-2a for treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: a randomised, double-blind phase III trial. Lancet (London, England), 370(9605):2103-2111.

203. Johnson DH, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny WF, Herbst RS, Nemunaitis JJ, Jablons DM, Langer CJ, Devore RF, 3rd, Gaudreault J, Damico LA, Holmgren E, Kabbinavar F. (2004) Randomized phase II trial comparing bevacizumab plus carboplatin and paclitaxel with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone in previously untreated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 22(11):2184-2191.

204. Novotny WF, Holmgren E, Griffing S. (2001) Identification of squamous cell histology and central, cavitary tumors as possible risk factors for pulmonary hemorrhage (PH) in patients with advanced NSCLC receiving bevacizumab (BV).Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 20:1318-1318.

205. Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, Brahmer J, Schiller JH, Dowlati A, Lilenbaum R, Johnson DH. (2006) Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. The New England journal of medicine, 355(24):2542-2550.

206. Reck M, Von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, Ramlau R, Gorbounova V, Hirsh V, Leighl N, Mezger J, Archer V, Moore N, Manegold C. (2009) Phase III trial of cisplatin plus gemcitabine with either placebo or bevacizumab as first-line therapy for nonsquamous

non-small-cell lung cancer: AVAil. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 27(8):1227-1234.

207. Reck M, Von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, Ramlau R, Gorbounova V, Hirsh V, Leighl N, Mezger J, Archer V, Moore N, Manegold C, Group BOS. (2010) Overall survival with cisplatin-gemcitabine and bevacizumab or placebo as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomised phase III trial (AVAiL). Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 21(9):1804-1809.

208. Fernandez-Medarde A, Santos E. (2011) Ras in cancer and developmental diseases. Genes Cancer, 2(3):344-358.

209. O'bryan JP. (2019) Pharmacological targeting of RAS: Recent success with direct inhibitors. Pharmacol Res, 139:503-511.

210. Lindsay CR, Jamal-Hanjani M, Forster M, Blackhall F. (2018) KRAS: Reasons for optimism in lung cancer. Eur J Cancer, 99:20-27.

211. Timar J. (2014) The clinical relevance of KRAS gene mutation in non-small-cell lung cancer. Curr Opin Oncol, 26(2):138-144.

212. Rodenhuis S, Van De Wetering ML, Mooi WJ, Evers SG, Van Zandwijk N, Bos JL. (1987) Mutational activation of the K-ras oncogene. A possible pathogenetic factor in adenocarcinoma of the lung. N Engl J Med, 317(15):929-935.

213. Slebos RJ, Kibbelaar RE, Dalesio O, Kooistra A, Stam J, Meijer CJ, Wagenaar SS, Vanderschueren RG, Van Zandwijk N, Mooi WJ, Et Al. (1990) K-ras oncogene activation as a prognostic marker in adenocarcinoma of the lung. The New England journal of medicine, 323(9):561-565.

214. Kern JA, Slebos RJ, Top B, Rodenhuis S, Lager D, Robinson RA, Weiner D, Schwartz DA. (1994) C-erbB-2 expression and codon 12 K-ras mutations both predict shortened survival for patients with pulmonary adenocarcinomas. J Clin Invest, 93(2):516-520.

215. Mitsudomi T, Steinberg SM, Oie HK, Mulshine JL, Phelps R, Viallet J, Pass H, Minna JD, Gazdar AF. (1991) ras gene mutations in non-small cell lung cancers are associated with shortened survival irrespective of treatment intent. Cancer research, 51(18):4999-5002.

216. Huncharek M, Muscat J, Geschwind JF. (1999) K-ras oncogene mutation as a prognostic marker in non-small cell lung cancer: a combined analysis of 881 cases. Carcinogenesis, 20(8):1507-1510.

217. Mascaux C, Iannino N, Martin B, Paesmans M, Berghmans T, Dusart M, Haller A, Lothaire P, Meert AP, Noel S, Lafitte JJ, Sculier JP. (2005) The role of RAS oncogene in survival of patients with lung cancer: a systematic review of the literature with meta-analysis. British journal of cancer, 92(1):131-139.

218. Shepherd FA, Domerg C, Hainaut P, Janne PA, Pignon JP, Graziano S, Douillard JY, Brambilla E, Le Chevalier T, Seymour L, Bourredjem A, Le Teuff G, Pirker R, Filipits M, Rosell R, Kratzke R, Bandarchi B, Ma X, Capelletti M, Soria JC, Tsao MS. (2013) Pooled analysis of the prognostic and predictive effects of KRAS mutation status and KRAS mutation subtype in early-stage resected non-small-cell lung cancer in four trials of adjuvant chemotherapy. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 31(17):2173-2181.

219. Cserepes M, Ostoros G, Lohinai Z, Raso E, Barbai T, Timar J, Rozsas A, Moldvay J, Kovalszky I, Fabian K, Gyulai M, Ghanim B, Laszlo V, Klikovits T, Hoda MA, Grusch M, Berger W, Klepetko W, Hegedus B, Dome B. (2014) Subtype-specific KRAS mutations in advanced lung adenocarcinoma: a retrospective study of patients treated with platinum-based chemotherapy. Eur J Cancer, 50(10):1819-1828.

220. Garassino MC, Marabese M, Rusconi P, Rulli E, Martelli O, Farina G, Scanni A, Broggini M. (2011) Different types of K-Ras mutations could affect drug sensitivity and tumour behaviour in non-small-cell lung cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 22(1):235-237.

221. Zhan P, Wang J, Lv XJ, Wang Q, Qiu LX, Lin XQ, Yu LK, Song Y. (2009) Prognostic value of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in patients with lung cancer: a systematic review with meta-analysis. J Thorac Oncol, 4(9):1094-1103.

222. Twelves C, Chmielowska E, Havel L, Popat S, Swieboda-Sadlej A, Sawrycki P, Bycott P, Ingrosso A, Kim S, Williams JA, Chen C, Olszanski AJ, De Besi P, Schiller JH. (2014) Randomised phase II study of axitinib or bevacizumab combined with paclitaxel/carboplatin as first-line therapy for patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 25(1):132-138.

223. Patel JD, Socinski MA, Garon EB, Reynolds CH, Spigel DR, Olsen MR, Hermann RC, Jotte RM, Beck T, Richards DA, Guba SC, Liu J, Frimodt-Moller B, John WJ, Obasaju CK, Pennella EJ, Bonomi P, Govindan R. (2013) PointBreak: a randomized phase III study of pemetrexed plus carboplatin and bevacizumab followed by maintenance pemetrexed and bevacizumab versus paclitaxel plus carboplatin and bevacizumab followed by maintenance bevacizumab in patients with stage IIIB or IV nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol, 31(34):4349-4357.

224. Tolnay E, Ghimessy Á, Juhász E, Sztancsik Z, Losonczy G, Dombi P, Vennes Z, Helf L, Csada E, Sárosi V. (2018) The efficacy and safety of bevacizumab in addition to platinum-based chemotherapy for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: Final results of AVALANCHE, an observational cohort study. Oncology Letters. 17(2):1750-1760.

225. Chong CR, Jänne PA. (2013) The quest to overcome resistance to EGFR-targeted therapies in cancer. Nature medicine, 19(11):1389-1400.

226. Chin L, Tam A, Pomerantz J, Wong M, Holash J, Bardeesy N, Shen Q, O'hagan R, Pantginis J, Zhou H, Horner JW, 2nd, Cordon-Cardo C, Yancopoulos GD, Depinho RA. (1999) Essential role for oncogenic Ras in tumour maintenance. Nature, 400(6743):468-472.

227. Hurwitz HI, Yi J, Ince W, Novotny WF, Rosen O. (2009) The clinical benefit of bevacizumab in metastatic colorectal cancer is independent of K-ras mutation status: analysis of a phase III study of bevacizumab with chemotherapy in previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. Oncologist, 14(1):22-28.

228. Ince WL, Jubb AM, Holden SN, Holmgren EB, Tobin P, Sridhar M, Hurwitz HI, Kabbinavar F, Novotny WF, Hillan KJ, Koeppen H. (2005) Association of k-ras, b-raf, and p53 status with the treatment effect of bevacizumab. J Natl Cancer Inst, 97(13):981-989.

229. Bencsikova B, Bortlicek Z, Halamkova J, Ostrizkova L, Kiss I, Melichar B, Pavlik T, Dusek L, Valik D, Vyzula R, Zdrazilova-Dubska L. (2015) Efficacy of bevacizumab and chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: broadening KRAS-focused clinical view. BMC gastroenterology, 15:37.

230. Stremitzer S, Stift J, Gruenberger B, Tamandl D, Aschacher T, Wolf B, Wrba F, Gruenberger T. (2012) KRAS status and outcome of liver resection after neoadjuvant chemotherapy including bevacizumab. Br J Surg, 99(11):1575-1582.

231. Fiala O, Buchler T, Mohelnikova-Duchonova B, Melichar B, Matejka VM, Holubec L, Kulhankova J, Bortlicek Z, Bartouskova M, Liska V, Topolcan O, Sedivcova M, Finek J. (2016) G12V and G12A KRAS mutations are associated with poor outcome in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with bevacizumab. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine, 37(5):6823-6830.

232. Bruera G, Cannita K, Di Giacomo D, Lamy A, Frebourg T, Sabourin JC, Tosi M, Alesse E, Ficorella C, Ricevuto E. (2013) Worse prognosis of KRAS c.35 G > A mutant metastatic colorectal cancer (MCRC) patients treated with intensive triplet chemotherapy plus bevacizumab (FIr-B/FOx). BMC Med, 11-59.

233. Chaft JE, Rusch V, Ginsberg MS, Paik PK, Finley DJ, Kris MG, Price KA, Azzoli CG, Fury MG, Riely GJ, Krug LM, Downey RJ, Bains MS, Sima CS, Rizk N, Travis WD, Rizvi NA. (2013) Phase II trial of neoadjuvant bevacizumab plus chemotherapy and adjuvant bevacizumab in patients with resectable nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancers. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 8(8):1084-1090.

234. Brady AK, Mcneill JD, Judy B, Bauml J, Evans TL, Cohen RB, Langer C, Vachani A, Aggarwal C. (2015) Survival outcome according to KRAS mutation status in newly diagnosed patients with stage IV non-small cell lung cancer treated with platinum doublet chemotherapy. Oncotarget, 6(30):30287-30294.

235. Saad ED, Katz A. (2009) Progression-free survival and time to progression as primary end points in advanced breast cancer: often used, sometimes loosely defined. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology, 20(3):460-464.

236. Lohinai Z, Klikovits T, Moldvay J, Ostoros G, Raso E, Timar J, Fabian K, Kovalszky I, Kenessey I, Aigner C, Renyi-Vamos F, Klepetko W, Dome B, Hegedus B. (2017) KRAS-mutation incidence and prognostic value are metastatic site-specific in lung adenocarcinoma: poor prognosis in patients with KRAS mutation and bone metastasis. Scientific reports, 7:39721.

237. Lohinai Z, Hoda MA, Fabian K, Ostoros G, Raso E, Barbai T, Timar J, Kovalszky I, Cserepes M, Rozsas A, Laszlo V, Grusch M, Berger W, Klepetko W, Moldvay J, Dome B, Hegedus B. (2015) Distinct Epidemiology and Clinical Consequence of Classic Versus Rare EGFR Mutations in Lung Adenocarcinoma. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 10(5):738-746.
238. Lynch TJ, Jr., Spigel DR, Brahmer J, Fischbach N, Garst J, Jahanzeb M, Kumar P, Vidaver RM, Wozniak AJ, Fish S, Flick ED, Leon L, Hazard SJ, Kosty MP, Investigators AS. (2014) Safety and effectiveness of bevacizumab-containing treatment for non-small-cell lung cancer: final results of the ARIES observational cohort study. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 9(9):1332-1339.

239. Crino L, Dansin E, Garrido P, Griesinger F, Laskin J, Pavlakis N, Stroiakovski D, Thatcher N, Tsai CM, Wu YL, Zhou C. (2010) Safety and efficacy of first-line bevacizumab-based therapy in advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (SAiL, MO19390): a phase 4 study. The Lancet Oncology, 11(8):733-740.

240. Quaresma M, Coleman MP, Rachet B. (2015) 40-year trends in an index of survival for all cancers combined and survival adjusted for age and sex for each cancer in England and Wales, 1971-2011: a population-based study. Lancet (London, England), 385(9974):1206-1218.

241. Lauro S, Onesti CE, Righini R, Marchetti P. (2014) The use of bevacizumab in non-small cell lung cancer: an update. Anticancer research, 34(4):1537-1545.

242. Simmons CP, Koinis F, Fallon MT, Fearon KC, Bowden J, Solheim TS, Gronberg BH, Mcmillan DC, Gioulbasanis I, Laird BJ. (2015) Prognosis in advanced lung cancer--A prospective study examining key clinicopathological factors. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 88(3):304-309.

243. De Kock I, Mirhosseini M, Lau F, Thai V, Downing M, Quan H, Lesperance M, Yang J. (2013) Conversion of Karnofsky Performance Status (KPS) and Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status (ECOG) to Palliative Performance Scale (PPS), and the interchangeability of PPS and KPS in prognostic tools. Journal of palliative care, 29(3):163-169.

244. Sengupta A, Banerjee SN, Biswas NM, Jash D, Saha K, Maji A, Bandyopadhyaya A, Agarwal S. (2013) The Incidence of Hyponatraemia and Its Effect on the ECOG

Performance Status among Lung Cancer Patients. Journal of clinical and diagnostic research : JCDR, 7(8):1678-1682.

Young J, Badgery-Parker T, Dobbins T, Jorgensen M, Gibbs P, Faragher I, Jones 245. I, Currow D. (2015) Comparison of ECOG/WHO performance status and ASA score as a measure of functional status. Journal of pain and symptom management, 49(2):258-264. Griesinger F BA, Eberhardt W, Garrido P, Isla D, Ko Y, Kohlhaufl M, Schneider 246. C, Thatcher T and Palakis N. (2010) Safety of first line bevacizumab (BV)-based therapy in the SAiL (MO19390) trial: Central trumor location (CTL) and hypertension (HTN) in patients (PTS) with advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 21(8): viii 144. 247. Kumar P FN, Brahmer Jr, Spigel Dr, Beatty S, Teng S, Flick Ed, Sing a and Lynch Tj. (2010) Baseline (BL) radiographic characteristics and severe pulmonary hemorrhage (SPH) in bevacizumab ((BV).treated non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients (pt): results from ARIES, an observational cohort study (OCS). Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 28: 15s (Abstr 7619).

248. Sandler AB, Schiller JH, Gray R, Dimery I, Brahmer J, Samant M, Wang LI, Johnson DH. (2009) Retrospective evaluation of the clinical and radiographic risk factors associated with severe pulmonary hemorrhage in first-line advanced, unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer treated with Carboplatin and Paclitaxel plus bevacizumab. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 27(9):1405-1412.

249. Group N-SCLCC. (1995) Chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: a metaanalysis using updated data on individual patients from 52 randomised clinical trials. Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Collaborative Group. BMJ (Clinical research ed), 311(7010):899-909.

250. Marino P, Pampallona S, Preatoni A, Cantoni A, Invernizzi F. (1994) Chemotherapy vs supportive care in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Results of a meta-analysis of the literature. Chest, 106(3):861-865.

251. Ezer N, Smith CB, Galsky MD, Mhango G, Gu F, Gomez J, Strauss GM, Wisnivesky J. (2014) Cisplatin vs. carboplatin-based chemoradiotherapy in patients >65 years of age with stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Radiotherapy and oncology: journal of the European Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology, 112(2):272-278.

252. Santana-Davila R, Szabo A, Arce-Lara C, Williams CD, Kelley MJ, Whittle J. (2014) Cisplatin versus carboplatin-based regimens for the treatment of patients with metastatic lung cancer. An analysis of Veterans Health Administration data. Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 9(5):702-709.

253. Smit E, Moro-Sibilot D, Carpeno Jde C, Lesniewski-Kmak K, Aerts J, Villatoro R, Kraaij K, Nacerddine K, Dyachkova Y, Smith KT, Girvan A, Visseren-Grul C, Schnabel PA. (2016) Cisplatin and carboplatin-based chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of non-small cell lung cancer: Analysis from the European FRAME study. Lung cancer (Amsterdam, Netherlands), 92:35-40.

254. De Castria TB, Da Silva EM, Gois AF, Riera R. (2013) Cisplatin versus carboplatin in combination with third-generation drugs for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, 8(8):CD009256.

255. Sun X, Zheng Y. (2014) Cisplatin or Carboplatin for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer? Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 9(9):e70.

256. Tiseo M, Ardizzoni A, Boni L. (2014) First-line chemotherapy treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: does cisplatin versus carboplatin make a difference? Journal of thoracic oncology : official publication of the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, 9(11):e82.

257. Dranitsaris G, Beegle N, Ravelo A, Kalberer T, Yu E, Thomas S. (2013) Evaluating the impact of bevacizumab maintenance therapy on overall survival in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Clinical lung cancer, 14(2):120-127.

258. Gridelli C, Bennouna J, De Castro J, Dingemans AM, Griesinger F, Grossi F, Rossi A, Thatcher N, Wong EK, Langer C. (2011) Randomized phase IIIb trial evaluating the continuation of bevacizumab beyond disease progression in patients with advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer after first-line treatment with bevacizumab plus platinum-based chemotherapy: treatment rationale and protocol dynamics of the AvaALL (MO22097) trial. Clinical lung cancer, 12(6):407-411.

259. Barlesi F, Scherpereel A, Gorbunova V, Gervais R, Vikstrom A, Chouaid C, Chella A, Kim JH, Ahn MJ, Reck M, Pazzola A, Kim HT, Aerts JG, Morando C, Loundou A, Groen HJ, Rittmeyer A. (2014) Maintenance bevacizumab-pemetrexed after first-line

cisplatin-pemetrexed-bevacizumab for advanced nonsquamous nonsmall-cell lung cancer: updated survival analysis of the AVAPERL (MO22089) randomized phase III trial. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO, 25(5):1044-1052.

260. Loupakis F, Falcone A, Masi G, Fioravanti A, Kerbel RS, Del Tacca M, Bocci G. (2007) Vascular endothelial growth factor levels in immunodepleted plasma of cancer patients as a possible pharmacodynamic marker for bevacizumab activity. J Clin Oncol, 25(13):1816-1818.

261. Hegde PS, Jubb AM, Chen D, Li NF, Meng YG, Bernaards C, Elliott R, Scherer SJ, Chen DS. (2013) Predictive impact of circulating vascular endothelial growth factor in four phase III trials evaluating bevacizumab. Clin Cancer Res, 19(4):929-937.

262. Said R, Hong DS, Warneke CL, Lee JJ, Wheler JJ, Janku F, Naing A, Falchook GS, Fu S, Piha-Paul S, Tsimberidou AM, Kurzrock R. (2013) P53 mutations in advanced cancers: clinical characteristics, outcomes, and correlation between progression-free survival and bevacizumab-containing therapy. Oncotarget, 4(5):705-714.

263. Schwaederle M, Lazar V, Validire P, Hansson J, Lacroix L, Soria JC, Pawitan Y, Kurzrock R. (2015) VEGF-A Expression Correlates with TP53 Mutations in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Implications for Antiangiogenesis Therapy. Cancer Res, 75(7):1187-1190.

264. Martin P, Leighl NB, Tsao MS, Shepherd FA. (2013) KRAS mutations as prognostic and predictive markers in non-small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol, 8(5):530-542.

265. Chaft JE, Dagogo-Jack I, Santini FC, Eng J, Yeap BY, Izar B, Chin E, Jones DR, Kris MG, Shaw AT, Gainor JF. (2018) Clinical outcomes of patients with resected, early-stage ALK-positive lung cancer. Lung Cancer, 122:67-71.

266. Rapisarda A, Melillo G. (2012) Overcoming disappointing results with antiangiogenic therapy by targeting hypoxia. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 9(7):378-390.

267. Giuliano S, Pages G. (2013) Mechanisms of resistance to anti-angiogenesis therapies. Biochimie, 95(6):1110-1119.

268. Smith NR, Wedge SR, Pommier A, Barry ST. (2014) Mechanisms that influence tumour response to VEGF-pathway inhibitors. Biochem Soc Trans, 42(6):1601-1607.

269. Jayson GC, Kerbel R, Ellis LM, Harris AL. (2016) Antiangiogenic therapy in oncology: current status and future directions. Lancet, 388(10043):518-529.

270. Dome B, Timar J, Ladanyi A, Paku S, Renyi-Vamos F, Klepetko W, Lang G, Dome P, Bogos K, Tovari J. (2009) Circulating endothelial cells, bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells and proangiogenic hematopoietic cells in cancer: From biology to therapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 69(2):108-124.

271. Torok S, Rezeli M, Kelemen O, Vegvari A, Watanabe K, Sugihara Y, Tisza A, Marton T, Kovacs I, Tovari J, Laszlo V, Helbich TH, Hegedus B, Klikovits T, Hoda MA, Klepetko W, Paku S, Marko-Varga G, Dome B. (2017) Limited Tumor Tissue Drug Penetration Contributes to Primary Resistance against Angiogenesis Inhibitors. Theranostics, 7(2):400-412.

272. Dome B, Hendrix MJ, Paku S, Tovari J, Timar J. (2007) Alternative vascularization mechanisms in cancer: Pathology and therapeutic implications. Am J Pathol, 170(1):1-15.

273. Donnem T, Reynolds AR, Kuczynski EA, Gatter K, Vermeulen PB, Kerbel RS, Harris AL, Pezzella F. (2018) Non-angiogenic tumours and their influence on cancer biology. Nat Rev Cancer, 18(5):323-336.

274. Frentzas S, Simoneau E, Bridgeman VL, Vermeulen PB, Foo S, Kostaras E, Nathan M, Wotherspoon A, Gao ZH, Shi Y, Van Den Eynden G, Daley F, Peckitt C, Tan X, Salman A, Lazaris A, Gazinska P, Berg TJ, Eltahir Z, Ritsma L, Van Rheenen J, Khashper A, Brown G, Nystrom H, Sund M, Van Laere S, Loyer E, Dirix L, Cunningham D, Metrakos P, Reynolds AR. (2016) Vessel co-option mediates resistance to antiangiogenic therapy in liver metastases. Nat Med, 22(11):1294-1302.

275. Bridgeman VL, Vermeulen PB, Foo S, Bilecz A, Daley F, Kostaras E, Nathan MR, Wan E, Frentzas S, Schweiger T, Hegedus B, Hoetzenecker K, Renyi-Vamos F, Kuczynski EA, Vasudev NS, Larkin J, Gore M, Dvorak HF, Paku S, Kerbel RS, Dome B, Reynolds AR. (2017) Vessel co-option is common in human lung metastases and mediates resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy in preclinical lung metastasis models. J Pathol, 241(3):362-374.

276. Warth A, Beasley MB, Mino-Kenudson M. (2017) Breaking New Ground: The Evolving Concept of Spread through Air Spaces (STAS). J Thorac Oncol, 12(2):176-178.

277. Onozato ML, Kovach AE, Yeap BY, Morales-Oyarvide V, Klepeis VE, Tammireddy S, Heist RS, Mark EJ, Dias-Santagata D, Iafrate AJ, Yagi Y, Mino-Kenudson M. (2013) Tumor islands in resected early-stage lung adenocarcinomas are associated with unique clinicopathologic and molecular characteristics and worse prognosis. Am J Surg Pathol, 37(2):287-294.

278. Yagi Y, Aly R, Tabata K, Rekhtman N, Eguchi T, Montecalvo J, Manova K, Adusumilli P, Hameed M, Travis W. (2018) Three-Dimensional Immunofluorescence Analysis of Dynamic Vessel Co-Option of Spread Through Air Spaces (STAS) in Lung Cancer. Journal of Thoracic Oncology, 13(10):S327-S328.

279. Rak J, Filmus J, Finkenzeller G, Grugel S, Marme D, Kerbel RS. (1995) Oncogenes as inducers of tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 14(4):263-277.

280. Matsuo Y, Campbell PM, Brekken RA, Sung B, Ouellette MM, Fleming JB, Aggarwal BB, Der CJ, Guha S. (2009) K-Ras promotes angiogenesis mediated by immortalized human pancreatic epithelial cells through mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. Mol Cancer Res, 7(6):799-808.

281. Price TJ, Hardingham JE, Lee CK, Weickhardt A, Townsend AR, Wrin JW, Chua A, Shivasami A, Cummins MM, Murone C, Tebbutt NC. (2011) Impact of KRAS and BRAF Gene Mutation Status on Outcomes From the Phase III AGITG MAX Trial of Capecitabine Alone or in Combination With Bevacizumab and Mitomycin in Advanced Colorectal Cancer. J Clin Oncol, 29(19):2675-2682.

282. Masi G, Loupakis F, Salvatore L, Fornaro L, Cremolini C, Cupini S, Ciarlo A, Del Monte F, Cortesi E, Amoroso D, Granetto C, Fontanini G, Sensi E, Lupi C, Andreuccetti M, Falcone A. (2010) Bevacizumab with FOLFOXIRI (irinotecan, oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and folinate) as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: a phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol, 11(9):845-852.

283. Bruera G, Cannita K, Tessitore A, Russo A, Alesse E, Ficorella C, Ricevuto E. (2015) The prevalent KRAS exon 2 c.35 G>A mutation in metastatic colorectal cancer patients: A biomarker of worse prognosis and potential benefit of bevacizumab-containing intensive regimens? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 93(3):190-202.

284. Scheffler M, Ihle MA, Hein R, Merkelbach-Bruse S, Scheel AH, Siemanowski J, Bragelmann J, Kron A, Abedpour N, Ueckeroth F, Schuller M, Koleczko S, Michels S, Fassunke J, Pasternack H, Heydt C, Serke M, Fischer R, Schulte W, Gerigk U, Nogova L, Ko YD, Abdulla DSY, Riedel R, Kambartel KO, Lorenz J, Sauerland I, Randerath W, Kaminsky B, Hagmeyer L, Grohe C, Eisert A, Frank R, Gogl L, Schaepers C, Holzem A, Hellmich M, Thomas RK, Peifer M, Sos ML, Buttner R, Wolf J. (2019) K-ras Mutation Subtypes in NSCLC and Associated Co-occuring Mutations in Other Oncogenic Pathways. J Thorac Oncol, 14(4):606-616.

285. Figueras A, Arbos MA, Quiles MT, Vinals F, Germa JR, Capella G. (2013) The impact of KRAS mutations on VEGF-A production and tumour vascular network. BMC Cancer, 13-125.

286. Eisenhauer EA, Therasse P, Bogaerts J, Schwartz LH, Sargent D, Ford R, Dancey J, Arbuck S, Gwyther S, Mooney M, Rubinstein L, Shankar L, Dodd L, Kaplan R, Lacombe D, Verweij J. (2009) New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). Eur J Cancer, 45(2):228-247.

287. Renaud S, Guerrera F, Seitlinger J, Reeb J, Voegeli AC, Legrain M, Mennecier B, Santelmo N, Falcoz PE, Quoix E, Chenard MP, Weingertner N, Beau-Faller M, Massard G. (2018) KRAS-specific Amino Acid Substitutions are Associated With Different Responses to Chemotherapy in Advanced Non-small-cell Lung Cancer. Clin Lung Cancer, 19(6):e919-e931.

288. Ricciuti B, Brambilla M, Cortellini A, De Giglio A, Ficorella C, Sidoni A, Bellezza G, Crino L, Ludovini V, Baglivo S, Metro G, Chiari R. (2019) Clinical outcomes to pemetrexed-based versus non-pemetrexed-based platinum doublets in patients with KRAS-mutant advanced non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Transl Oncol. 22(5):708-716

289. Reck M, Von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, Ramlau R, Gorbounova V, Hirsh V, Leighl N, Mezger J, Archer V, Moore N, Manegold C. (2010) Overall survival with cisplatingemcitabine and bevacizumab or placebo as first-line therapy for nonsquamous nonsmall-cell lung cancer: results from a randomised phase III trial (AVAiL). Ann Oncol, 21(9):1804-1809.

290. Shimizu R, Fujimoto D, Kato R, Otoshi T, Kawamura T, Tamai K, Matsumoto T, Nagata K, Otsuka K, Nakagawa A, Otsuka K, Katakami N, Tomii K. (2014) The safety and efficacy of paclitaxel and carboplatin with or without bevacizumab for treating patients with advanced nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer with interstitial lung disease. Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology, 74(6):1159-1166.

11. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

11.1. Publications related to the thesis

<u>Ghimessy AK</u>, Gellert A, Schlegl E, Hegedus B, Raso E, Barbai T, Timar J, Ostoros G, Megyesfalvi Z, Gieszer B, Moldvay J, Renyi-Vamos F, Lohinai Z, Hoda MA, Klikovits T, Klepetko W, Laszlo V, Dome B.

KRAS Mutations Predict Response and Outcome in Advanced Lung Adenocarcinoma Patients Receiving First-Line Bevacizumab and Platinum-Based Chemotherapy.

Cancers (Basel). 2019 Oct 9;11(10). pii: E1514.

Tolnay E*, Ghimessy ÁK*, Juhász E, Sztancsik Z, Losonczy G, Dombi P, Vennes Z, Helf L, Csada E, Sárosi V.

The efficacy and safety of bevacizumab in addition to platinum-based chemotherapy for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: Final results of AVALANCHE, an observational cohort study. Oncol Lett. 2019 Feb;17(2):1750-1760. *contributed equally

11.2. Publications not related to the thesis

Ghimessy ÁK, Farkas A, Gieszer B, Radeczky P, Csende K, Mészáros L, Török K, Fazekas L, Agócs L, Kocsis Á, Bartók T, Dancs T, Tóth KK, Schönauer N, Madurka I, Elek J, Döme B, Rényi-Vámos F, Lang G, Taghavi S, Hötzenecker K, Klepetko W, Bogyó L.

Donation After Cardiac Death, a Possibility to Expand the Donor Pool: Review and the Hungarian Experience.

Transplant Proc. 2019 May;51(4):1276-1280.

Radeczky P, **Ghimessy ÁK**, Farkas A, Csende K, Mészáros L, Török K, Fazekas L, Agócs L, Kocsis Á, Bartók T, Dancs T, Tóth KK, Schönauer N, Bogyó L, Bohács A, Madurka I, Elek J, Döme B, Rényi-Vámos F, Lang G, Gieszer B.

Antibody-Mediated Rejection in a Multiple Lung Transplant Patient: A Case Report. Transplant Proc. 2019 May;51(4):1296-1298.

Fazekas L, **Ghimessy** Á, Gieszer B, Radeczky P, Mészáros L, Török K, Bogyó L, Hartyánszky I, Pólos M, Daróczi L, Agócs L, Kocsis Á, Bartók T, Dancs T, Tóth KK, Schönauer N, Madurka I, Elek J, Döme B, Rényi-Vámos F, Lang G, Farkas A.

Lung Transplantation in Hungary From Cardiac Surgeons' Perspective.

Transplant Proc. 2019 May;51(4):1263-1267.

Gieszer B, Radeczky P, Farkas A, Csende K, Mészáros L, Török K, Fazekas L, Bogyó L, Agócs L, Kocsis Á, Varga J, Bartók T, Dancs T, Kormosoi Tóth K, Schönauer N, Madurka I, Elek J, Döme B, Rényi-Vámos F, Lang G, Jaksch P, **Ghimessy ÁK**. **Lung Transplant Patients on Kilimanjaro.**

Transplant Proc. 2019 May;51(4):1258-1262.

Gieszer B, **Ghimessy Á**, Radeczky P, Farkas A, Csende K, Bogyó L, Fazekas L, Kovács N, Madurka I, Kocsis Á, Agócs L, Török K, Bartók T, Dancs T, Schönauer N, Tóth K, Eszes N, Bohács A, Czebe K, Csiszér E, Mihály S, Kovács L, Müller V, Elek J, Rényi-Vámos F, Lang G.

First 3 Years of the Hungarian Lung Transplantation Program.

Transplant Proc. 2019 May;51(4):1254-1257.

Madurka I, Elek J, Schönauer N, Bartók T, Kormosói-Tóth K, Radeczky P, Gieszer B, **Ghimessy Á**, Lang G, Klepetko W, Rényi-Vámos F.

Early Postoperative Problems After Lung Transplantation: First-Year Experiences in Light of the Newly Established National Hungarian Lung Transplantation Program.

Transplant Proc. 2017 Sep;49(7):1538-1543.

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414

Madurka I, Elek J, Schönauer N, Bartók T, Kormosói-Tóth K, Zöllei É, Ghimessy Á, Lang G, Klepetko W, Rényi-Vámos F. Urgent Lung Transplantation in Severe Acute Respiratory Failure Based on Rapidly

Progressive Interstitial Lung Disease: A Case Report.

Transplant Proc. 2017 Sep;49(7):1544-1548.

Rényi-Vámos F, Radeczky P, Gieszer B, **Ghimessy Á**, Czebe K, Török K, Döme B, Elek J, Klepetko W, Lang G, Madurka I.

Launching the Hungarian Lung Transplantation Program.

Transplant Proc. 2017 Sep;49(7):1535-1537.

Földes K, Piros L, Toronyi E, Wagner L, Chmel R, Török S, Nagy K, **Ghimessy A**, Brinzanek D, Pőcze B, Langer RM, Gerő L.

Examination of carbohydrate metabolism parameters after simultaneous pancreaskidney transplantation.

Transplant Proc. 2013;45(10):3698-702.

Barabás JI, **Ghimessy ÁK**, Rényi-Vámos F, Kocsis Á, Agócs L, Mészáros L, Pukacsik D, Andi J, Laki A, Vörös F, Hartyánszky I, Panajotu A, Fazekas L, Szabolcs Z, Merkely B. [Innovation in medicine: opportunities of 3D modeling and printing for perioperative care of cardio and thoracic surgical patients. Experiences in Hungary].

Orv Hetil. 2019 Dec;160(50):1967-1975

Gieszer B, Radeczky P, **Ghimessy Á**, Farkas A, Csende K, Bogyó L, Fazekas L, Kovács N, Madurka I, Kocsis Á, Agócs L, Török K, Bartók T, Dancs T, Schönauer N, Tóth K, Szabó J, Eszes N, Bohács A, Czebe K, Csiszér E, Mihály S, Kovács L, Müller V, Elek J, Rényi-Vámos F, Lang G.

[The start of the Hungarian lung transplantation program and the first results]. Orv Hetil. 2018 Nov;159(46):1859-1868. Farkas A, Kocsis Á, Andi J, Sinkovics I, Agócs L, Mészáros L, Török K, Bogyó L, Radecky P, **Ghimessy Á**, Gieszer B, Lang G, Rényi-Vámos F.

[Minimally invasive resection of nonpalpable pulmonary nodules after wire- and isotope-guided localization]. Orv Hetil. 2018 Aug;159(34):1399-1404.

List of figures

Figure – Carcinogenesis of smoking- 10 Figure – Histologic subtypes of lung adenocarcinoma: A, Predominantly lepidic pattern with lepidic growth on the right with invasive acinar adenocarcinoma on the left; B, Proliferation along the alveolar wall (type II pneumocytes and Clara cells); C, Invasive acinar adenocarcinoma; D, oval-shaped malignant glands invading the fibrous stroma in invasive acinar adenocarcinoma; E, Papillary adenocarcinoma; F, Small papillary clusters of glandular cells in a micropapillary adenocarcinoma; G, Solid adenocarcinoma; H, Solid adenocarcinoma with mucin. Adopted from (46).- 16 Figure – Significantly mutated pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. Oncoproteins are indicated in pink to red and tumor suppressor proteins are shown in light to dark blue. The darkness of the colors shows the number of tumors with genetic alterations.(47)- 17

4. Figure - A: Co-mutation plot of variants of known significance within the RTK/RAS/RAF pathway in lung adenocarcinoma. B: New candidate driver oncogenes (blue: 13% of cases) and known somatically activated drivers events (red: 63%) that activate the RTK/RAS/RAF pathway in the majority of the 230 adenocarcinoma cases. Adopted form the TCGA. (48)- 18 -5. Figure - Lung screening X-rays conducted in Hungary from 1954 to 2014(57)....- 20 -6. Figure – CT axial section of a spiculated mass in the left lower lobe (segment 6). Picture obtained from the Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Institute of Oncology, Budapest.....- 24 -7. Figure – Algorithm of functional evaluation recommendation of the European Society for Medical Oncology (ESMO); 2017 (67)- 26 -8. Figure - Kaplan-Meier analysis-based estimates of survival based on staging system in SCLC patients (n=277). (A) Comparison of survival between LD (n=91; gray) and ED (n=186; black) SCLC patients (P<0.001). (B) Comparison of survival between patients in TNM stages I to IV. Adopted from (72)..... - 31 -9. Figure - Kaplan–Meier analysis-based estimates of survival for ED SCLC patients. (A) Comparison of survival between patients in stages III (n=10, gray solid line), IVA (n=70,

gray dotted line), and IVB (n=106, black solid line) (B) Comparison of survival according
to the M descriptor of the 8 th TNM. Adopted from (72) 31 -
10. Figure – Survival curves of OS according to the 8 th TNM in the cohort of Yun et al.
(74) 32 -
11. Figure – First line treatment algorithm for SCLC (ESMO 2013). Adopted from (83).
12. Figure – ESMO 2017: recommended algorithm for staging in patients with MO
NSCLC (FDG - fluorodeoxyglucose; LN - lymph node, NPV - negative predictive value;
VAM - video-assisted mediastinoscopy) Adopted from (94)
13. Figure – The main four types of pulmonary resections (Education material from the
University of South Carolina; access: cts.usc.edu) 37 -
14. Figure – Thoracotomy versus VATS. Comparison of (A) intraoperative access and
incision and (B) postoperative wound length (Pictures taken in the Department of
Thoracic Surgery, National Institute of Oncology, Budapest) 38 -
15. Figure – Pulmonary complications after thoracotomy (grey) and VATS (black). The
difference of pulmonary complications after surgery is most significant in patients with
poor pulmonary function (FEV1 lower than 50%). Adopted from (109)
16. Figure – OS is longer in patients who had VATS resection for early lung cancer when
compared with those who underwent resection through thoracotomy (left). The difference
is still visible after propensity crossmatching, although it is not statistically significant
(right). (Figures adopted from Berry et al. (108)) 40 -
17. Figure – SBRT distribution plan for NSCLC. Adapted from (124) 42 -
18. Figure – Treatment algorithm of stage IV NSCLC. Recommendation by ESMO, 2018
(148) 45 -
19. Figure - Treatment algorithm for stage IV NSCC, molecular tests positive
(ALK/BRAF/EGFR/ROS1). ESMO recommendation (148) 46 -
20. Figure - Treatment algorithm for stage IV NSCC, when molecular tests are negative
(ALK/BRAF/EGFR/ROS1) (148) 47 -
21. Figure – VEGF signaling pathways and receptor binding specificity. Adopted from:
https://www.bocsci.com/vegf-signaling-pathway.html 48 -
22. Figure – EGFR signaling pathway and the connection to the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK
cascade. Adopted from (225) 52 -
23. Figure - Consort diagram for advanced LADC cases. Consort diagram to demonstrate

the selection of stage IIIB/IV LADC cases for BEV/CHT or CHT alone in this study.
Where patients were excluded, the reasons for exclusion are indicated 59 -
24. Figure - Progression-free survival in the total population (Kaplan-Meier) 65 -
25. Figure - Analysis of progression-free survival. A: in different tumor stages; B:
According to gender; C: by ECOG PS and D: by history of surgery (Kaplan-Meier).
Avalanche study 66 -
26. Figure - Analysis of progression-free survival by BEV maintenance therapy (Kaplan-
Meier) 67 -
27. Figure - Overall survival in enrolled and evaluated patients (Kaplan-Meier) in the
Avalanche study 68 -
28. Figure - Analysis of overall survival. A: According to gender; B: by ECOG PS; C: by
history of surgery and D: according to the platina derivate used (Kaplan-Meier).
Avalanche study 69 -
29. Figure - Analysis of overall survival by Avastin® maintenance therapy (Kaplan-
Meier) 70 -
$30. \ Figure \ - \ Comparison \ of \ survival \ outcomes \ in \ patients \ with \ advanced \ LADC \ according$
to treatment regimen. Advanced LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT showed
significantly higher median OS compared to those treated with CHT only (median OSs
were 24 vs. 10 months, respectively, P<0.0001, log-rank test) 78 -
31. Figure - Kaplan-Meier plots for the OS (A) and PFS (B) in LADC patients according
to KRAS mutation status. (A) LADC patients with KRAS WT tumors and receiving
BEV/CHT had significantly increased median OS (vs. those with KRAS WT tumors and
receiving CHT only; median OS 21.57 vs. 14.23 months, respectively, P=0.0186, log-
rank test). Median OS was also increased in KRAS-mutant LADC patients receiving
BEV/CHT compared to those treated with CHT only (median OSs were 18 vs. 10 months,
respectively, P=0.0002, log-rank test). No significant differences in OS have been
observed for patients receiving CHT only and with KRAS WT versus KRAS-mutant
tumors (median OSs were 11 vs. 10 months, respectively P=0.6771, log-rank test). Of
note, in the BEV/CHT group, patients with KRAS WT LADC had a significantly better
OS than those with tumors harboring KRAS mutations (median OSs were 39 vs. 18
months, respectively, P=0.0186, log-rank test). (B) Similarly, in the BEV/CHT group,

patients with KRAS WT LADC had significantly longer median PFS (vs. those with KRAS-mutant tumors; median PFSs were 8.63 vs. 7.03 months, respectively, P=0.0255, log-rank test).....- 79 -32. Figure - Kaplan-Meier plots for the OS (A) and PFS (B) in LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT according to subtype-specific codon 12 KRAS mutations. (A) KRAS G12D mutation was associated with significantly shorter OS in LADC patients (vs. KRAS G12x and 13x mutations or WT KRAS; median OSs were 7.2, 16.1 and 21 months, respectively, P values were 0.0144 and 0.0223, respectively, log-rank test). (B) LADC patients with tumors harboring KRAS G12D mutations had also significantly shorter median PFS than those with other codon 12 (G12x) and 13 (G13x) KRAS mutant or with KRAS WT tumors (median PFSs were 3.7, 8.27 and 11.7 months, respectively; P values were 0.0032 33. Figure - Kaplan-Meier curves for the OS of LADC patients treated with CHT alone and LADC patients with KRAS G12D mutations in the BEV/CHT sub-cohort. Patients with tumors harboring KRAS G12D mutations and treated with BEV/CHT had comparable OS to that of patients with KRAS WT or KRAS mutant tumors in the CHT alone sub-cohort.- 84 -

List of tables

1. Table – WHO 2015 classification of lung epithelial tumors 14 -
2. Table - Approximate 10-year risk of developing lung cancer 22 -
3. Table - T value in the 8th edition of TNM staging. Adopted from: International
Association for Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. [69] 27 -
4. Table - N value in the 8 th edition of TNM staging. Adopted from: International
Association for Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. (69) 28 -
5. Table - M value in the 8 th edition of TNM staging. Adopted from: International
Association for Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. (69) 28 -
6. Table – Staging according to the 8th TNM. Adopted from: International Association
for Study of Lung Cancer, 2015. (71) 29 -
7. Table - Patient demographics and treatment in the Avalanche study 63 -
8. Table - Best tumor response reached during the first-line treatment in the Avalanche
study 68 -
9. Table - Adverse events reported in the study (summary) 72 -
10. Table – Patient characteristics in the BEV/CHT group 74 -
11. Table – Patient characteristics in the CHT only group 75 -
12. Table - Correlation of clinicopathologic features, outcome variables and KRAS codon
12 subtypes in patients with advanced LADC treated with BEV ($n = 95$)
13. Table - Clinicopathological variables and PFS and OS of LADC patients treated with
BEV/CHT in the multivariate Cox proportional hazards model 81 -
14. Table - Baseline patient characteristics and effectiveness of Bevacizumab with First-
Line Chemotherapy for nsNSCLC in the AVALANCHE OCS, ARIES OCS, the Phase
IV SAiL Study, and the Phase III Clinical Trials E4599 and AVAiL 90 -

12. Acknowledgements

At the beginning of my professional career I was offered an opportunity to start training in both thoracic surgery and translational research in thoracic oncology. I am grateful to a number of people who helped me throughout the years:

I will be always grateful to Ferenc Rényi-Vámos who gave me this opportunity and offered me guidance in surgical training, lung transplantation as well as in professional life.

I would like to thank Balázs Döme who has always helped and guided me in clinical and translational research. This dissertation would not have been possible without him as he set me off upon this research in the first place and has been my supervisor ever since.

I owe special thanks to all my colleagues who work in the Department of Thoracic Surgery at the National Institute of Oncology, Budapest. They have helped me every day and are great people to work with. I want to express special gratitude to Ákos Kocsis and László Agócs who were my mentors in surgical training and my friend, Balázs Gieszer who convinced me to start thoracic surgery.

I would also like to thank all my co-authors in this dissertation from numerous pulmonary and surgical centers in Hungary and in Vienna.

I am most grateful for my family and friends. They always supported me in any decision I made. I want to thank

my wife, Hanga Takács for her understanding and the encouragement she gave.

my parents, Kornélia Vargha and Csaba Ghimessy for setting me on this path,

my mother for motivating me, for setting high standards for me and for all the help and opportunity she gave me in life.

my brothers, Attila Ghimessy, who helps everyone he meets, and with whom we have had (and will have) great adventures together and Balázs Ghimessy, who is growing up to be a good friend.

Lastly, I would like to thank all the people who helped me to get to this point in life.

The efficacy and safety of bevacizumab in addition to platinum-based chemotherapy for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: Final results of AVALANCHE, an observational cohort study

EDINA TOLNAY^{1*}, ÁRON KRISTÓF GHIMESSY^{2*}, ERZSÉBET JUHÁSZ³, ZSUZSANNA SZTANCSIK⁴, GYÖRGY LOSONCZY⁵, PÉTER DOMBI⁶, ZSUZSANNA VENNES⁷, LÁSZLÓ HELF⁸, EDIT CSADA⁹ and VERONIKA SÁROSI¹⁰

¹2nd Department of Pulmonology, Pest County Institute of Pulmonology, Törökbálint 2045;

²Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Institute of Oncology, Budapest 1122; ³14th Department of Pulmonology and Internal Medicine, National Korányi Institute of Pulmonology, Budapest 1121; ⁴1st Department, Békés County Pulmonology Hospital, Gyula 5701; ⁵Department of Pulmonology, Semmelweis University, Budapest 1125; ⁶Department of Oncology, Szent Borbála County Hospital, Tatabánya 2800; ⁷2nd Department of Internal Medicine, Uzsoki Hospital, Budapest 1145; ⁸Department of Pulmonology, Bonyhád Hospital, Bonyhád 7150; ⁹Department of Pulmonology; Faculty of Medicine, University of Szeged, Deszk 6772; ¹⁰Department of Pulmonology, University of Pécs, Pécs 7623, Hungary

Received June 3, 2018; Accepted October 24, 2018

DOI: 10.3892/ol.2018.9766

Abstract. The previous results of former clinical studies confirmed that first-line bevacizumab (BEV) in combination with chemotherapy improves clinical outcomes in patients with advanced non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer. The AVALANCHE study (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier NCT03170284) was undertaken to assess the clinical outcomes

Correspondence to: Dr Áron Kristóf Ghimessy, Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Institute of Oncology, H-1013 Attila út 61, Budapest 1122, Hungary E-mail: aronghimessy@gmail.com

*Contributed equally

Abbreviations: AE, adverse event; ALK, anaplastic lymphoma kinase; BEV, bevacizumab; CI, confidence interval; CR, complete response; CRF, case report form; ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology group; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; EMA, European medicines agency; NA, not applicable; NSCLC, non-small cell lung cancer; nsNSCLC, non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer; OCS, observational cohort study; OS, overall survival; PD, progressive disease; PFS, progression-free survival; PR, partial response; RCT, randomized clinical trial; SAE, serious adverse event; SD, stable disease; SD, standard deviation; TNM, Internationally accepted classification of malignant tumours; TTP, time-to-progression; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; WHO, World Health Organization

Key words: bevacizumab, non-small cell lung cancer, first-line, observational study

of first-line BEV combined with standard platinum-based regimens in the Hungarian clinical practice. This observational study was conducted in 28 Hungarian sites, with patients enrolled between July 2008 and April 2011. Patients with untreated locally advanced, metastatic or recurrent lung adenocarcinoma received BEV (7.5 mg/kg, q3w) with any platinum-doublet for up to 6 cycles, and then non-progressors proceeded to receive BEV until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. The primary endpoint was time-to-progression, and secondary endpoints included overall survival (OS), tumour control rate and safety. Patients were also analysed as two cohorts (non-progressors vs. progressors) based on whether or not they received BEV maintenance therapy following completion of first-line chemotherapy plus BEV. The study enrolled 283 patients (median age: 58.2 (18-78) years; males: 50.5%; stage: III/B: 18.4%, IV: 79.9%; adenocarcinoma/other: 95.8/4.2%; ECOG PS 0/1/2/≥3: 30.8/59.7/2.6/1.4%). Centrally located tumours were reported in 21.6%. Cisplatin/carboplatin-based regimens: 53.8/46.2%. A total of 43% of patients received BEV maintenance therapy. The median number of BEV cycles was 6. Median progression-free survival (PFS) was 7.2 months and OS was 15.2 months for the entire cohort. Longer PFS and OS were observed in patients who received BEV maintenance therapy [median OS, 26.2 vs. 10.2 months (P<0.001); median PFS, 9.2 vs. 5.8 months (P<0.001)]. Contrary to the results of previous OCS no significant difference was recorded in the different age groups or gender. Best tumour response: Complete remission/partial remission/stable disease/progressive disease/not reported were: 1.5/29.9/26.9/9.1/32.6% of all patients. In conclusion, clinical outcomes obtained in this real-life population were consistent with pivotal studies. BEV maintenance treatment was associated with a significantly longer PFS and OS.

Introduction

Lung cancer is the second most common malignant tumour. However it causes more deaths than breast, prostate and colon cancer combined (1). Hungary has the highest mortality rates of lung cancer in the world regarding both men and women. Hungary, unlike other developed countries, records a growing number of new cases. While the incidence hasn't increased over the last few years in men, it continuously does in women (2).

Survival rates remain poor in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) with 49% 5-year survival rate with early (stage IA) NSCLC and 1% 5-year survival rate in stage IV. One reason for such poor survival is that more than 50% of patients are diagnosed with advanced disease (3).

Although many advances have been made in the treatment of unresectable (stage IIIB), metastatic (stage IV) or recurrent NSCLC, such as the introduction of targeted therapy for specific oncogenic drivers (EGFR, ALK mutations etc.), platinum-based chemotherapy (with or without radiotherapy) still remains the first choice in most cases.

Targeted therapies showed superior survival data, demonstrated improved response rates and are associated with less toxicity. Druggable mutations for EGFR and ALK mutation, however, only occur in 25 and 5%, respectively (4,5). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is a key factor to endothelial cell growth and one of the most important regulators of angiogenesis. Increased expression of VEGF can be demonstrated in most solid tumours including NSCLC (6). In many cases, VEGF overexpression is associated with an increased risk of relapse and metastasis (7-10). According to preclinical studies, anti-VEGF monoclonal antibodies are capable of inhibiting the growth of human tumour xenografts both in monotherapy and in combination with chemotherapy (11-14). Bevacizumab (BEV) (Avastin®; Genentech/Roche, San Francisco, CA, USA) is a humanized monoclonal antibody that acts by binding and neutralizing the VEGF-A isoform, thus preventing VEGF ligand-receptor binding. It has demonstrated its efficacy in colorectal (15,16), ovarian (17), breast (18,19) and renal cancer (20,21). This was the first antivascular drug to be licensed for the treatment of NSCLC.

According to a phase II study (22), BEV treatment in combination with chemotherapy in NSCLC was more effective than chemotherapy alone. The combination was also well tolerated, however, the incidence of lung haemorrhage increased. In a post hoc multivariate analysis, squamous cell histology was identified as an independent risk factor for bleeding (23). Consequently, patients with squamous cell histology were excluded from most of the clinical trials of BEV in NCSLC.

Subsequent to the above Phase II study, the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) E4599 trial was initiated (24). This study, which was the first published Phase III randomized trial of an antiangiogenesis agent in combination with chemotherapy in patients with advanced NSCLC, randomized chemotherapy-naive patients with predominantly non-squamous cell histology were included. In the BEV treatment arm, following completion of chemotherapy, single-agent BEV was continued until disease progression. Results showed that the addition of BEV was associated with a significant improvement in the median overall survival (OS) compared with chemotherapy alone. Progression-free survival (PFS) was also significantly improved.

A second Phase III trial (Avastin® in Lung; AVAiL), evaluating BEV in combination with cisplatin and gemcitabine (25) (another commonly used and efficacious regimen in NSCLC) was originally initiated with a primary end point of OS. However, after the positive OS results of E4599, the study design was amended so as to change the primary end point from OS to PFS. Patients were randomly assigned to receive cisplatin 80 mg/m² and gemcitabine 1250 mg/m² for up to six cycles plus low-dose BEV (7.5 mg/kg), high-dose BEV (15 mg/kg) or placebo every 3 weeks until disease progression. PFS was significantly prolonged with BEV. Interestingly, according to the final efficacy analysis, OS was >13 months in all treatment groups, which was the longest OS reported for advanced non-squamous NSCLC in a clinical trial setting, although it did not yield a statistically significant prolongation with either BEV dose (26).

As a result of the above trials, BEV in combination with platinum-based chemotherapy was approved for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced NSCLC by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in August 2007.

Although BEV was approved with platinum-based chemotherapy in NSCLC in 2007, so far no Hungarian data have been available. The AVALANCHE study (ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier: NCT03170284) was undertaken to assess the clinical outcomes of first-line BEV combined with standard platinum-based regimens in Hungarian clinical practice.

Patients and methods

Study design. AVALANCHE (ClinicalTrials.gov, identifier: NCT03170284) was a multi-centre single-arm observational study designed to assess the efficacy and safety of BEV therapy in patients with advanced, unresectable, metastatic or recurrent nsNSCLC (other than predominantly squamous cell histology) in the routine oncology practice in Hungary. Further objective of the study was to assess and identify possible treatment-related prognostic factors.

Patients. This study was originally projected to enrol 150 patients from 40 Hungarian study centres. Fortunately, however, due to the high number of patients recruited by some centres, nearly 300 patients were enrolled.

Patients with histology or cytology proven unresectable advanced, metastatic or recurrent (stage IIIB/IV) NSCLC other than predominantly squamous cell histology were included in the present study. There were 143 male (50.5%) and 135 female (47.7%) patients and no data on gender was available in 5 patients (1.8%) (Table I).

The exclusion criteria were the following: i) hypersensitivity to the active substance or to any of the excipients of Avastin[®]; ii) hypersensitivity to products derived from Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells or to other recombinant human or humanized antibodies; iii) pregnancy and iv) presence of untreated central nervous system metastases. The present study was done in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, Good Clinical Practice International Conference on Harmonisation Tripartite Guidelines, laws and regulations of the participating institutes' country. The present study was approved by the Hungarian Ethics Committee and Health Authority. All patients provided written informed consent.

Table I. Patient demographics and treatment.

Characteristics	No. of patients, n (%)
Evaluable patient population	283 (99.6)
Patient population evaluable in terms of PFS	252 (88.7)
Patient population evaluable in terms of OS	250 (88)
Age (years)	
Mean	58.16±9.032
Men	58.30±8.986
Women	58.02±9.113
Gender	
Male	143 (50.5)
Female	135 (47.7)
No data	5 (1.8)
Histologic type	
Adenocarcinoma	271 (95.8)
Bronchoalveolar carcinoma	11 (3.9)
Squamous cell carcinoma	1 (0.4)
Stage	
III B	52 (18.4)
IV	226 (79.9)
No data	5 (1.8)
Previous treatment	
Previous surgery	64 (22.6)
Adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy	18 (6.4)
Radiotherapy	18 (6.4)
Chemotherapeutic agent during study	
Paclitaxel	132 (46.6)
Gemcitabine	111 (39.2)
Docetaxel	18 (6.4)
Vinorelbine	2 (0.7)
Other	7 (2.5)
No data	13 (4.6)
Reported reasons for ending the study	
Progression of primary disease	172 (60.8)
Deterioration of symptoms	4 (1.4)
Loss of contact with the patient	7 (2.5)
Adverse event associated with	13 (4.6)
BEV treatment	
Patient's decision	17 (6.0)
Mortality	16 (5.7)
Other	45 (15.9)
No data	9 (3.2)

PFS, progression-free survival; OS, overall survival; BEV, bevacizumab.

Treatment. Eligible patients received first-line BEV with cisplatin or carboplatin in accordance to the approved and reimbursed BEV indication in Hungary (BEV 7.5 mg/kg, every 3 weeks with any platinum-doublet for up to 6 cycles)

then non-progressors proceeded to receive BEV until disease progression or unacceptable toxicity. The maintenance therapy regimen was 7,5 mg/kg every 3 weeks until PD or intolerable toxicity. The third component of the combination chemotherapy was one of the following: paclitaxel, gemcitabine, docetaxel or vinorelbine. Based on the therapeutic protocol, patients were followed up until the first progression of their primary disease, or death, or withdrawal of consent, or loss of contact with the patient, or closure of the study, whichever occurred first.

Progression-free and OS. Investigators seemed to be frequently using PFS and time-to-progression (TTP) interchangeably in clinical trials in the early 2000s (27). The protocol of our study defined TTP as the time elapsed from the date of enrolment until the first documented progression or the death of the patient from any cause which is in accordance with the current definition of PFS. To avoid confusion, PFS will be used hereinafter for the denomination of the primary endpoint of the study. Progression was determined by the investigator at the routine clinical practice follow-up examinations. PFS was calculated from the start of BEV treatment.

Secondary endpoints included best tumour response (complete remission (CR), partial remission (PR), stable disease (SD), progressive disease (PD)), OS (based on retrospective analysis) and indicators of safety (serious and non-serious adverse events). Objective response rate (ORR) was calculated from patients experiencing complete or partial remission.

Basic demographic data, basic vital parameters, primary disease-related historical data, ECOG performance status, data related to BEV treatment, results of the staging assessments as well as the patient's comorbidities and concomitant treatments were recorded in an electronic case-report form.

Following the closure of the study, data for the assessment of the PFS were available for 252 patients. As per the amended protocol, the secondary endpoint (OS) was retrospectively analysed based on data from 250 patients.

During the treatment period regular monitoring visits were conducted to ensure high-quality data collection. Data related to BEV treatment, blood pressure, body weight, concomitant treatments and adverse events were registered.

The following data were recorded at the end-of-treatment visit: End date of BEV treatment, reason for ending treatment, ECOG status, best tumour response observed during treatment, concomitant treatments administered during BEV treatment and adverse events observed during BEV treatment.

Statistical analysis. Continuous variables were compared with Student's t-tests if the sample distribution was normal or with Mann-Whitney U test if the sample distribution was asymmetric. Categorical data were compared using Fisher's exact probability and χ^2 tests. PFS (primary study endpoint) and OS in the total population were analysed using Kaplan-Meier curves. Both PFS and OS were assessed separately in subgroups according to gender, age, ECOG status, the platinum derivate used, the use of maintenance therapy and weather prior surgical intervention was done. Log-rank test was used for comparison between the above mentioned groups.

PFS was defined as the time elapsed from the start of BEV treatment until the first documented progression or the death



Figure 1. Kaplan-Meier plots of (A) PFS in the total population. (B) OS in enrolled and evaluated patients. (C) Analysis of PFS by Bevacizumab maintenance therapy. (D) Analysis of OS by Bevacizumab maintenance therapy. OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival.

of the patient from any cause. For study subjects who had not shown progression and had not died by the closure of the study, the data were censored at the date of the last contact.

OS was defined as the time elapsed from the date of enrolment until the death of the patient from any cause. Regarding subjects who had not died by the closure of the study, the OS data were analysed retrospectively after the end of the study in the knowledge of their dates of death. Otherwise, data were censored at the date of the last contact.

P<0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference. All statistical analyses were conducted using Statistica 8.0 (StatSoft, Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA) software program.

Results

Baseline characteristics of the patients. A total of 284 patients with corresponding diagnosis were identified at the Hungarian study sites, and were subsequently enrolled into the study between 17th June 2008 and 3rd May 2011, out of which data of 283 patients were evaluable. From among the 41 study centres originally involved, no patients were enrolled at 16 sites, thus in fact 25 centres participated actively. The highest number of patients enrolled at one centre was 36, whereas the smallest was 1. One patient did not comply with all the inclusion and exclusion criteria: The patient's histological diagnosis was squamous cell carcinoma; therefore evaluable patient population was 283. Central localization of the primary tumour was reported in 61 patients (21.6%) and cavitated tumour in 4 patients (1.4%) in the total patient population.

The study population had to be reduced to 252 in case of PFS and 250 regarding OS. In case of PFS 31 patients and in case of OS 33 patients had to be excluded from the data assessment due to missing or incomplete information. These information could not be recovered retrospectively.

The demographic characteristics of the enrolled and evaluable patients are summarized in Table I.

Treatment. Prior to enrolment, 64 patients (22.6%) had undergone surgical intervention, 18 patients (6.4%) had received adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy, and 18 patients (6.4%) had received radiotherapy (Table I).

Patients received cisplatin (N=148, 52.3%) or carboplatin (N=124, 43.8%) treatment in accordance with the protocol in approximately half-and-half proportion during the study. No data are available for 11 patients (3.9%). The other components of the combination chemotherapy are shown in Table I.

The vast majority of patients (N=262, 92.6%) received BEV in 3-weekly cycles. A treatment of different cycle frequency was applied in two patients (0.7%), and no data were available for 19 patients (6.7%). The median number of BEV treatment cycles in the retrospectively evaluated patient population was 6.

The most common reason for ending the study was documented as progression of the primary disease in more than half of the study subjects (60.8%). Patient's decision, patient's death, adverse event related to BEV therapy, loss to follow-up, and symptom deterioration accounted for ending the study in 6.0, 5.7, 4.6, 2,5 and 1.4% of the cases, respectively. Other reasons behind ending the study occurred in 15.9%; no data were available in 3.2% of cases.

Response	Ν	Patient population with evaluable data (n=133), $(\%)$	Total patient population (n=216), (%)
Complete remission	3	2.3	1.5
Partial remission	59	44.4	29.9
Stable disease	53	39.8	26.9
Progressive disease	18	13.5	9.1
Not assessable	83	-	32.6

Table II. Best tumor response reached during the first-line treatment.

Efficacy analysis

PFS. The PFS in the total study patient population was 7.162±0.282 (CI_{95%}: 6.609-7.715) months (Fig. 1A). The subgroup-analysis of PFS by gender showed that the survival time with BEV treatment was longer in women (median: 7.589±0.647, CI_{95%}: 6.321-8.858 months) than in men (median: 6.669±0.375, CI_{95%}: 5.934-7.405 months). This difference, however, was not significant (P=0.542).

The median PFS was higher in patients with an ECOG status of 0 at enrolment (median: 7.326 ± 0.535 , CI_{95%}: 6.278 ± 8.375 months) than in patients with a baseline ECOG status of 1 (median: 6.702 ± 0.597 months, CI_{95%}: 5.531-7.873 months). However, the difference between the two groups was not remarkable (P=0.123).

Similarly, PFS was not significantly influenced by the localization of the tumour (central vs. non-central, P=0.813).

Interestingly, the median PFS in patients who had undergone surgical intervention prior to enrolment (median: 8.411 ± 0.947 , CI_{95%}: 6.554-10.267 months) was notably higher (P=0.017) compared with patients with no such prior intervention (median: 6.834 ± 0.265 , CI_{95%}: 6.314-7.353 months). In contrast, neither adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy (P=0.165) nor radiotherapy (P=0.165) applied prior to enrolment had a significant impact on median PFS.

The platinum derivative used had no significant influence on median PFS, either (P=0.199).

Nearly 10% of the patient population with evaluable data were over 70 years of age at the time of enrolment. The median PFS was not significantly different between patients under or above 70 years of age (P=0.541).

Of note, median PFS was significantly higher (P<0.001) in patients receiving BEV maintenance therapy (median: 9.166±0.601, $CI_{95\%}$: 7.988-10.345 months) compared with those who received no maintenance therapy (median: 5.815±0.574, $CI_{95\%}$: 4.690-6.940 months) (Fig. 1C).

Secondary endpoints

Tumour response. Disease control was achieved in a remarkable 86.5% with CR in 2.3%, and PR in 44.4% of the cases with evaluable data. PD was recorded in 13.5% of evaluable cases and sufficient data was not available in 32.6% (Table II).

OS. The median OS in the total study population was 15.179 ± 1.377 months (CI_{95%}: 12.480-17.877) (Fig. 1).

As with PFS, we performed subgroup-analysis of OS by gender, ECOG status, prior surgical procedure and chemotherapy. Results can be seen on Table III. The localization of the tumour had no impact on OS (P=0.992) in the patient population studied.

Surprisingly, we found a tendency towards a higher median OS for patients over 70 years of age (18.398 \pm 3.869 months, CI_{95%}: 10.815-25.982 months) compared with patients younger than 70 years (15.014 \pm 1.329 months, CI_{95%}: 12.410-17.619 months), although this difference remained not significant (P=0.638).

A remarkably longer (P<0.001) OS was observed in patients receiving BEV maintenance therapy (median: 26.218 \pm 3.946 months, CI_{95%}: 18.484-33.952 months) than in those without maintenance BEV therapy (median: 10.152 \pm 0.975 months, CI_{95%}: 8.240-12.064 months) (Fig. 1D).

Safety and adverse events. As per the protocol, possible adverse events (AE) encountered during the study were recorded in the Case Report Form. Data on AE were recorded from the start of treatment until the end of treatment.

During the study, a total of 157 AEs were reported for 59 patients, 14 of which were serious (sAE) (Table IV).

Of all the adverse events, 63 (40.1%) events resolved without sequelae, the investigators reported improvement for 61 cases (38.9%) and the event resolved with remaining symptoms in 7 cases (4.5%). 2 AEs (1.3%) had not resolved, 14 AEs (8.9%) persisted unchanged from observation until the last follow-up of the patient, 5 AEs (3.2%) led to the death of the patient, and the outcome was unknown for 4 AEs (2.5%).

Of the above-mentioned AEs, 14 were categorized as sAE, which were the following: Anaemia (3 cases), pulmonary embolism (3 cases), haemoptysis (2 cases), deep vein thrombosis (2 cases), hypertension (1 case), neutropenia (1 case), thrombocytopenia (1 case), uraemia (1 case). 5 of these (two cases of pulmonary embolism, haemoptysis, hypertension and uraemia) led to the death of the patient.

During the study period, 16 (5.6%) of the 283 enrolled and evaluable patients died. The investigators reported the cause of death as disease progression in 11 cases (3.8%), while a serious adverse event was behind the death of the patient in 5 cases (1.7%).

In summary, the participating investigators did not encounter and report on any new information on the safety profile of BEV. Indeed, the rate of reported adverse events falls behind the rate expected based on literature data.

Discussion

Various randomised trials showed superior survival data and acceptable safety results with the use of BEV in

	Ge	nder	ECOG	status	Prior su	rgery	Prior chemo-/	radiotherapy	Platinum der	ivative used
/ariable	Male	Female	ECOG 0	ECOG 1	Yes	No	Chemotherapy	Radiotherapy	Cisplatin	Carboplatin
Aedian OS	12.583	17.511	18.891	13.306	26.218	13.306	Not significant P=0.237	Not significant P=0.237	16.953	12.977
N 95%	9.544-15.622	14.320-20.703	14.869-22.914	10.385-16.227	18.721-33.714	11.373-15.239			13.475-20.431	9.661-16.294
-value	0	0/1	0.0	04	0.0	T			0.0	00
)S, overall su	ırvival; CI, confide	ence interval; ECOO	G, Eastern Cooperat	ive Oncology Gro	up.					

Table III. Subgroup analysis of OS

NSCLC (24,25,28,29). Most of these trials, however, were not concluded in an unselected, real-world environment. Of note, there are still several questions yet to be answered regarding the drug's safety, efficacy and optimal treatment protocol. The AVALANCHE observational cohort study (OCS) provided an opportunity to examine the safety and efficacy of BEV in combination with chemotherapy in a real-life setting in Hungarian everyday practice.

Generally the results of observational studies cannot be directly compared with those of a randomized study. However, the indicators of effectiveness in the AVALANCHE study (which included a higher variety of patients) are consistent with those of several randomized trials shown in Table V.

The median PFS and OS in our study were longer than in the AVAiL (25,26), the E4599 (24) or the ARIES (28) studies. These OS outcomes are also comparable with the results of the phase IV SAiL trial conducted between 2006 and 2008 in Europe. SAiL reported 14.6 months (95% CI, 13.8-15.3) OS, that was shorter than the reported OS in AVALANCHE. The PFS in AVALANCHE was 7.162 \pm 0.282 months (CI_{95%}: 6.609-7.715). SAiL trial reported TTP of 7,8 months (95% CI, 7.5-8.1) but not PFS. The SAiL study let the choice of platinum doublet chemotherapy regimen to the investigator's decision similarly to our study. However, non-platinum doublets and single-agent chemotherapy regimens were also allowed in SAiL study unlike in AVALANCHE. Other differences included that SAiL enrolled a selected patient population that was generally healthier and younger (29).

ORR outcomes in AVALANCHE were also comparable with the ORR results of the above-mentioned studies. The 46.7% ORR was higher than the 34.6%, 37.8% and the 34.9% of the AVAiL 7.5 mg/kg, AVAiL 15 mg/kg and the E4599 trials, respectively. The SAiL and ARIES trials showed higher ORR. SAiL reported 3% CR and 48% PR (29) which is also comparable to the 2.3% CR and 44.4% PR rate of AVALANCHE.

Sandler *et al* (24) reported that women had significantly lower OS in the E4599 trial. They, however, also stated that this difference could be the result of imbalances of treatment regiments or baseline prognostic factors between the two groups (24). The AVAiL studies (26) and our AVALANCHE trial, on the other hand, found comparable results between women and men. Women had longer PFS and OS than men in the AVALANCHE, however, only OS was on the boundary of significance (P=0.071). Although, OS was reported higher in both AVAiL studies and the AVALANCHE trial, this survival advantage of women can also be accounted for by the generally longer survival of women with lung cancer that has been previously reported in statistical reports (1,30).

As for the patients' age, nearly 10% of the patient population with evaluable data were over 70 years of age and no significant difference was found between the two groups regarding PFS. Surprisingly, however, OS was reported to be longer in patients over 70 years of age, although this difference was not significant. Contrary to our findings, the E4599 study found that patients older than 65 years of age had a significantly higher HR for death and suggested that these patients might not benefit from BEV treatment (24). The AVAiL studies reported similar HRs for OS in both groups. One concern in previous studies was that the risk of bleeding could be higher in older patients, however neither Table IV. Summary of the adverse events reported in the present study.

Table IV. Continued.

Adverse event	n (%)
Esophageal ulcer	1 (0.7)
Duodenal ulcer	1 (0.7)
Suffusion without trauma	1 (0.7)
Dizziness	1 (0.7)
Thrombosis (left femoral vein)	1 (0.7)
Uremia	1 (0.7)
Urticaria	1 (0.7)
Iron deficiency	1 (0.7)
Bleeding following superficial injury	1 (0.7)
Clear-cell renal carcinoma	1 (0.7)
Numbness (of the soles)	1 (0.7)

the E4599, nor the AVAiL studies nor the SAiL study back up this hypothesis (31).

We observed higher PFS and OS in patients with an ECOG status of 0 at enrolment, although only OS showed a significant difference. This result is not surprising in light of the fact that ECOG performance status is an important prognostic factor in lung cancer (32-35). Of note, the E4599 and the AVAiL studies did not find a significant difference in the HR for OS between the ECOG 0 and the ECOG 1 group (24,26).

Johnson et al (22) assumed that central tumour location might cause pulmonary haemorrhage more often thus decreasing the OS. However, this was not supported by subsequent data. Neither SAiL, nor ARIES showed significantly more pulmonary bleeding with centrally located tumours (36,37). Based on a retrospective analysis of the E4599 study data, Sandler et al (38) suggested that pulmonary haemorrhage was connected to cavitation of NSCLC instead of central location. Further studies did not support this assumption. Our data do not reinforce any of these suggestions. Neither the PFS, nor the OS was significantly longer with central tumours, and cavitated tumours were not assessed separately.

Although previous chemo- or radiotherapy did not influence PFS or OS, we found significantly longer PFS and OS in the patient group that underwent surgery before enrolment in this study. There is no available data to back up this finding. The most probable reason behind it is that the number of cancer sites is lower in these patients. Further assessment would be needed to draw further conclusions.

Platinum based chemotherapy has been shown in multiple studies to result in a small but significant survival benefit when compared to supportive care (39,40). The most commonly used platinum derivatives are cisplatin and carboplatin. Neither of the above mentioned two drugs were associated with higher PFS, OS or lower toxicity when compared to each other (41-46). Interestingly, patients treated with cisplatin were found to have a longer OS (16.953±1.775 months) than those receiving carboplatin (OS: 12.977±1.692 months). The statistical difference was on the boundary of significance (P=0.06). Santana-Davila et al (42) showed that oncologists more often administered cisplatin to relatively younger patients with less comorbidities. This could be a reason for the longer OS. However, it has also been

1(0.7)

Adverse event	n (%)
Anemia	23 (14.7)
Thrombocytopenia	14 (9)
Neutropenia	12 (7.7)
Hypertension	7 (4.5)
Nausea	7 (4.5)
Epistaxis	6 (3.9)
Chest pain	5 (3.2)
Acute bronchitis	4 (2.6)
Weight loss	4 (2.6)
Bone pain	3 (2)
Diarrhea	3 (2)
Pulmonary embolism	3 (2)
Hemoptysis	3 (2)
Hyponatremia	3 (2)
Deep vein thrombosis	3 (2)
Hoarseness	3 (2)
Cough	2 (1.3)
Fever	2 (1.3)
Respiratory infection	2 (1.3)
Obstipation	2 (1.3)
Pneumonia	2 (1.3)
Pyuria	2 (1.3)
Tachycardia	2 (1.3)
Throat pain	2 (1.3)
Lung abscess	1 (0.7)
Agranulocytosis	1 (0.7)
Acute osteomyelitis (jaw)	1 (0.7)
Allergic dermatitis	1 (0.7)
Allergic reaction	1 (0.7))
Hip pain (right-sided)	1 (0.7)
Decubitus	1 (0.7)
Dermatitis (forehead, back)	1 (0.7)
Dermatitis (generalized)	1 (0.7)
Cholesterol increased	1 (0.7)
Exsiccosis	1 (0.7)
Ulcer (in the mouth, tongue)	1 (0.7)
Gastroesophageal reflux disease	1 (0.7)
Weakness	1 (0.7)
Vomiting	1 (0.7)
Abdominal pain	1 (0.7)
Ileus	1 (0.7)
Ischemic cerebral vascular lesions	1 (0.7)
Arthralgia	1 (0.7)
Swelling of arm	1 (0.7)
Hand swelling	1 (0.7)
Leg swelling	1 (0.7)
Laryngotracheitis	1 (0.7)
Febrile neutropenia	1 (0.7)
Prostration	1 (0.7)
Leukopenia	1 (0.7)

Breast swelling

			Baseliı	ie patien	t charac	teristi	cs					Domite		
		Gende	r (%)	ECOG	i status	(%)		Stage (%)			Kesults		
Trial	Age (years)	Female	Male	0	1	0	IIIB	N	Recurrent	Chemotherapy regimen used	Median follow-up (months)	Median PFS (months)	Median OS (months)	ORR ⁶ (%)
AVAiL 7.5 mg/kg (n=345 ITT)	<65: 70.95%	35.55	64.45	39.73	60.27	0	14.88	77.02	8.1	Gemcitabine +	≥7 for PFS,	6.5	13.4	34.6
(n=307 PP)	>65: 29.05%									CISPIAUII	SU 101 C.215		(1.61-1.11)	
15 mg/kg (n=351 ITT)	<65: 69.92%	36.67	63.33	40.1	59.9	0	15.9	76.64	7.3	Gemcitabine +	≥7 for PFS, ~12 5 for OS	6.7	13.6	37.8
(n=285 PP) E4599	>65: 30.08%									Cispiauit			(0.01-0.11)	
(n=434)	<70: 76%; >70: 24%	48	52	47	53	0	14	86	0	Paclitaxel + carboplatin	19	6.2	12.3 (11.3-13.7)	34.9
SAIL (n=2,212)	58.8 (24-86) ^a	40	60	37	57	9	20	80	0	Investigator's choice	12.5 (SD: 7.1-12.5)	7.8 (7.5-8.1)	14.6	51.5
ARIES (n=1,967)	>65: 51.5%; >75: 18.8%	46.7	53.3	36	48.7	9.3	Loca advan =16.6	lly ced	Metastatic =83.4 ^b	Investigator's choice	12.5 (SD: 0.2-65.5)	6.6 (6.3-6.9)	13 (12.2-13.8)	49
AVALANCHE (n=283)	58.16±9.032 ^b	49.5	50.5	33	67	0	19.2	80.8	0	Investigator's choice	п.а.	7.162±0.282 (6.609-7.715)	15.179 (12.480-17.877)	46.7
^a Age was report response); AVAi	ed as the average in L, Avastin in lung;	n the SAIL ; E4599, ea	, and AVA Istern coo	LANCHI perative (E studies oncology	^b Stage group	e was rep (ECOG)	arted as 4599; S	such in the A	RIES study. ORR, c f avastin in lung [T]	bjective response rat he SAiL study report	e °(patients who e) ted time to progres	xperienced a comple ssion outcomes inste	te or partial ad of PFS];

Table V. Baseline patient characteristics and effectiveness of Bevacizumab with First-Line Chemotherapy for nsNSCLC in the AVALANCHE OCS, ARIES OCS, the Phase IV SAIL Study, and the Phase III Clinical Trials E4599 and AVAiL. shown that morbidity is higher in patients receiving cisplatin and they experience a higher need for health care (42).

Our patients receiving BEV maintenance therapy showed significantly higher PFS and OS, which correlates with previous results published by Reck *et al* (25). In addition, Dranitsaris *et al* (47) found that BEV maintenance therapy contributed to a significant OS benefit. In the Phase IIIB AvaALL study, BEV was administered even after disease progression. A significantly higher PFS of 10.1 months was achieved in this experimental arm compared to the control arm where only supportive care was used after disease progression (48). There are several trials debating whether BEV or BEV with pemetrexed is more effective for maintenance therapy. AVAPERL and POINTBREAK, two phase III trials designed to evaluate BEV maintenance therapy with or without pemetrexed, showed significantly longer PFS, however the difference regarding OS was not significant in either of them (49,50).

Our rate of reported adverse events falls behind that of expected based on previous trials. Lynch et al (28) reported that in the ARIES trial 19.7% of patients experienced one or more protocol-specified adverse event, which is somewhat lower than the 20.8% of patients reported in AVALANCHE. However, when looking at the serious adverse events, the 10.9% reported in ARIES is appreciably higher than the 0.5% reported in AVALANCHE. Notably, the study protocols can vary in the qualification of serious adverse events. Crinò et al (29) reported a rate of 38% for serious adverse events, although only 13% was deemed related to BEV by the investigators. There is a special interest in similar studies regarding pulmonary bleeding, one of the most common serious adverse event following BEV therapy. AVAiL 7.5 mg/kg, AVAiL 15 mg/kg, E4599, ARIES and SAiL reported 4, 5, 4.7, 4.1 and 9.5% for the prevalence of any grade pulmonary haemorrhage, respectively. In contrary to this, pulmonary haemorrhage only occurred in 2 patients (0.7%) in AVALANCHE.

In summary, patients in Hungary commonly receive BEV for advanced NSCLC in combination with a range of chemotherapeutics. Despite the less strictly selected patient population and treatment regimens survival outcomes and treatment response rates are comparable with those of the previous large RCT (randomised clinical trials). In our study, both PFS and OS were significantly longer and ORR significantly higher in patients who received BEV maintenance therapy. The adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy or radiotherapy received prior to enrolment, the localization of the primary tumour, the presence of metastases or the age of the patient had no influence on the efficacy of BEV treatment. On the other hand, previous surgery and cisplatin chemotherapy were associated with better outcomes. We also found low rates of adverse events and acceptable safety profile.

The study design did not allow the comparison of PFS and OS assessed in the study, with placebo or any active comparator, and the comparative assessment of the significance of the prognostic factors studied, either. Due to the high censoring rate, the median OS could not be determined after the closure of the study; therefore, a retrospective data collection was required.

The Avalanche study, like most OCSs had limitations such as reporting errors, missing data, potential biases regarding data entry and confoundment. In this study, reporting centres were asked to enrol all eligible patients to reduce selection bias, however, unintended selection bias cannot be excluded. All known strong confounders were collected and analysed to reduce confounding bias. Clinical reporting errors were reduced by systematic data reviews occurring every 3 months.

A further limitation of the current study was that in 12/40 planned sites, due to their lower patient turnover, we did not identify eligible patients within the recruiting period. Thus, representing the real life setting, not all centres enrolled patients and there were also smaller centres where fewer patients were recruited.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank the AVALANCHE study investigators who collected the present data reported. The abstract was presented at the 2014 Annual Meeting of American Society of Clinical Oncology May 30-June 3 2014 in Chicago, IL and published as an abstract in J Clin Oncol 32 (15 suppl): 2014.

Funding

The present study was sponsored by F Hoffmann-La Roche AG (Basel, Switzerland).

Availability of data and materials

The datasets generated and analysed during the present study are not publicly available due to patient confidentiality but are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request and with permission of F Hoffmann-La Roche AG.

Authors' contributions

ET analysed and interpreted the data and contributed to the study design. ÁKG analysed and interpreted the collected data and wrote the manuscript. EJ, ZS, GL, PD, ZV, LH and EC enrolled the patients to the present study and collected the data. VS enrolled the patients and designed the study.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The present study was approved by the Hungarian Ethics Committee and Health Authority. All patients provided written informed consent.

Patient consent for publication

All patients provided written informed consent for the publication of any associated data.

Competing interests

The BEV used in the present study was obtained from Genentech/Roche (South San Francisco, CA, USA). The present study was also sponsored by F Hoffmann-La Roche. The funding body contributed to data collection and analysis; however, the sponsor did not influence the content of the report and did not contribute to the writing of this manuscript. The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- Siegel RL, Miller KD and Jemal A: Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin 66: 7-30, 2016.
- 2. Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, Parkin DM, Forman D and Bray F: Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: Sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 136: E359-E386, 2015.
- 3. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2015. Atlanta: American Cancer Society, 2015.
- 4. Kris MG, Johnson BE, Kwiatkowski DJ, Iafrate AJ, Wistuba II, Aronson SL, Engelman JA, Shyr Y, Khuri FR, Rudin CM, *et al*: Identification of driver mutations in tumor specimens from 1,000 patients with lung adenocarcinoma: The NCI's lung cancer mutation consortium (LCMC). J Clin Oncol 29 (18 Suppl): 787S, 2011.
- 5. Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, Vergnenegre A, Massuti B, Felip E, Palmero R, Garcia-Gomez R, Pallares C, Sanchez JM, *et al*: Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutationpositive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): A multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 13: 239-246, 2012.
- Gentzler RD, Yentz SE and Patel JD: Bevacizumab in advanced NSCLC: Chemotherapy partners and duration of use. Curr Treat Options Oncol 14: 595-609, 2013.
- Mattern J, Koomägi R and Volm M: Association of vascular endothelial growth factor expression with intratumoral microvessel density and tumour cell proliferation in human epidermoid lung carcinoma. Br J Cancer 73: 931-934, 1996.
 Brown LF, Berse B, Jackman RW, Tognazzi K, Manseau EJ,
- Brown LF, Berse B, Jackman RW, Tognazzi K, Manseau EJ, Senger DR and Dvorak HF: Expression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) and its receptors in adenocarcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract. Cancer Res 53: 4727-4735, 1993.
- Brown LF, Berse B, Jackman RW, Tognazzi K, Guidi AJ, Dvorak HF, Senger DR, Connolly JL and Schnitt SJ: Expression of vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) and its receptors in breast cancer. Hum Pathol 26: 86-91, 1995.
- Seto T, Higashiyama M, Funai H, Imamura F, Uematsu K, Seki N, Eguchi K, Yamanaka T and Ichinose Y: Prognostic value of expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its flt-1 and KDR receptors in stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 53: 91-96, 2006.
- 11. Ferrara N, Gerber HP and LeCouter J: The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nat Med 9: 669-676, 2003.
- Kim KJ, Li B, Winer J, Armanini M, Gillett N, Phillips HS and Ferrara N: Inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factorinduced angiogenesis suppresses tumour growth in vivo. Nature 36: 841-844, 1993.
- 13. Kabbinavar FF, Wong JT, Ayala RE, Wintroub AB, Kim KJ and Ferrara N: The effect of antibody to vascular endothelial growth factor and cisplatin on the growth of lung tumors in nude mice. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res 36: 488, 1995.
- 14. Armanini M, Gillett N, Phillips HS and Ferrara N: Importance of VEGF for breast cancer angiogenesis in vivo: Implications from intravital microscopy of combination treatments with an anti-VEGF neutralizing monoclonal antibody and doxorubicin. Anticancer Res 19: 4203-4214, 1999.
- Qu CY, Zheng Y, Zhou M, Zhang Y, Shen F, Cao J and Xu LM: Value of bevacizumab in treatment of colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol 21: 5072-5080, 2015.
- Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, Berlin J, Baron A, Griffing S, Holmgren E, *et al*: Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 350: 2335-2342, 2004.
- Yoshida H, Yabuno A and Fujiwara K: Critical appraisal of bevacizumab in the treatment of ovarian cancer. Drug Des Devel Ther 9: 2351-2358, 2015.
- Miller K, Armanini M, Gillett N, Phillips HS and Ferrara N: Paclitaxel plus bevacizumab versus paclitaxel alone for metastatic breast cancer. N Engl J Med 357: 2666-2676, 2007.
- Bear HD, Tang G, Rastogi P, Geyer CE Jr, Liu Q, Robidoux A, Baez-Diaz L, Brufsky AM, Mehta RS, Fehrenbacher L, et al: Neoadjuvant plus adjuvant bevacizumab in early breast cancer [NSABP B-40 (NRG Oncology)]: Secondary outcomes of a phase 3, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol 16: 1037-1048, 2015.

- 20. Turnbull JD, Cobert J, Jaffe T, Harrison MR, George DJ and Armstrong AJ: Activity of single-agent bevacizumab in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma previously treated with vascular endothelial growth factor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Clin Genitourin Cancer 11: 45-50, 2013.
- 21. Escudier B, Pluzanska A, Koralewski P, Ravaud A, Bracarda S, Szczylik C, Chevreau C, Filipek M, Melichar B, Bajetta E, *et al*: Bevacizumab plus interferon alfa-2a for treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma: A randomised, double-blind phase III trial. Lancet 370: 2103-3111, 2007.
- 22. Johnson DH, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny WF, Herbst RS, Nemunaitis JJ, Jablons DM, Langer CJ, DeVore RF III, Gaudreault J, Damico LA, *et al*: Randomized phase II trial comparing bevacizumab plus carboplatin and paclitaxel with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone in previously untreated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 22: 2184-2191, 2004.
- 23. Novotny WF, Holmgren E, Griffing S, *et al*: Identification of squamous cell histology and central, cavitary tumors as possible risk factors for pulmonary hemorrhage (PH) in patients with advanced NSCLC receiving bevacizumab (BV). Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol 20: A1318, 2001.
- 24. Sandler A, Gray R, Perry MC, Brahmer J, Schiller JH, Dowlati A, Lilenbaum R and Johnson DH: Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 355: 2542-2550, 2006.
- 25. Reck M, von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, Ramlau R, Gorbounova V, Hirsh V, Leighl N, Mezger J, Archer V, Moore N and Manegold C: Phase III trial of cisplatin plus gemcitabine with either placebo or bevacizumab as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: AVAil. J Clin Oncol 27: 1227-1234, 2009.
- 26. Reck M, von Pawel J, Zatloukal P, Ramlau R, Gorbounova V, Hirsh V, Leighl N, Mezger J, Archer V, Moore N, *et al*: Overall survival with cisplatin-gemcitabine and bevacizumab or placebo as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: Results from a randomised phase III trial (AVAiL). Ann Oncol 21: 1804-1809, 2010.
- Saad ED and Katz A: Progression-free survival and time to progression as primary end points in advanced breast cancer: Often used, sometimes loosely defined. Ann Oncol 20: 460-464, 2009.
- 28. Lynch TJ Jr, Spigel DR, Brahmer J, Fischbach N, Garst J, Jahanzeb M, Kumar P, Vidaver RM, Wozniak AJ, Fish S, *et al*: Safety and effectiveness of bevacizumab-containing treatment for non-small-cell lung cancer: Final results of the ARIES observational cohort study. J Thorac Oncol 9: 1332-9, 2014.
- 29. Crinò L, Dansin E, Garrido P, Griesinger F, Laskin J, Pavlakis N, Stroiakovski D, Thatcher N, Tsai CM, Wu YL and Zhou C: Safety and efficacy of first-line bevacizumab-based therapy in advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (SAiL, MO19390): A phase 4 study. Lancet Oncol 11: 733-740, 2010.
- Quaresma M, Coleman MP and Rachet B: 40-year trends in an index of survival for all cancers combined and survival adjusted for age and sex for each cancer in England and Wales, 1971-2011: A population-based study. Lancet 385: 1206-1218, 2015.
- Lauro S, Onesti CE, Righini R and Marchetti P: The use of bevacizumab in non-small cell lung cancer: An update. Anticancer Res 34: 1537-1545, 2014.
- 32. Simmons CP, Koinis F, Fallon MT, Fearon KC, Bowden J, Solheim TS, Gronberg BH, McMillan DC, Gioulbasanis I and Laird BJ: Prognosis in advanced lung cancer-A prospective study examining key clinicopathological factors. Lung Cancer 88: 304-309, 2015.
- 33. de Kock I, Mirhosseini M, Lau F, Thai V, Downing M, Quan H, Lesperance M and Yang J: Conversion of karnofsky performance status (KPS) and eastern cooperative oncology group performance status (ECOG) to palliative performance scale (PPS) and the interchangeability of PPS and KPS in prognostic tools. J Palliat Care 29: 163-169, 2013.
- 34. Sengupta A, Banerjee SN, Biswas NM, Jash D, Saha K, Maji A, Bandyopadhyaya A and Agarwal S: The incidence of hyponatraemia and its effect on the ECOG performance status among lung cancer patients. J Clin Diagn Res 7: 1678-1682, 2013.
- 35. Young J, Badgery-Parker T, Dobbins T, Jorgensen M, Gibbs P, Faragher I, Jones I and Currow D: Comparison of ECOG/WHO performance status and ASA score as a measure of functional status. J Pain Symptom Manage 49: 258-264, 2015.
- 36. Griesinger F, B.A, Eberhardt W, Garrido P, Isla D, Ko Y, Kohlhaufl M, Schneider C, Thatcher T and Palakis N: Safety of first line bevacizumab-based therapy in the SAiL (MO19390) trial: Central trumor location and hypertension in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 21 (Suppl 8): viii 144, 2010.

- 37. Kumar P, Fishbach NA, Brahmer JR, Spigel DR, Beatty S, Teng S, Flick ED, Sing A and Lynch TJ: Baseline radiographic characteristics and severe pulmonary hemorrhage in bevacizumab-treated non-small cell lung cancer patients: Results from ARIES, an observational cohort study. J Clin Oncol 28 (Suppl): 15s A7619, 2010.
- 38. Sandler AB, Schiller JH, Gray R, Dimery I, Brahmer J, Samant M, Wang LI and Johnson DH: Retrospective evaluation of the clinical and radiographic risk factors associated with severe pulmonary hemorrhage in first-line advanced, unresectable non-small-cell lung cancer treated with Carboplatin and Paclitaxel plus bevacizumab. J Clin Oncol 27: 1405-1412, 2009.
- 39. Chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: A meta-analysis using updated data on individual patients from 52 randomised clinical trials. Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Collaborative Group. BMJ 311: 899-909, 1995
- 40. Marino P, Pampallona S, Preatoni A, Cantoni A and Invernizzi F: Chemotherapy vs supportive care in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Results of a meta-analysis of the literature. Chest 106: 861-865, 1994.
- Ezer N, Smith CB, Galsky MD, Mhango G, Gu F, Gomez J, 41 Strauss GM and Wisnivesky J: Cisplatin vs. carboplatin-based chemoradiotherapy in patients >65 years of age with stage III non-small cell lung cancer. Radiother Oncol 112: 272-278, 2014. 42. Santana-Davila R, Szabo A, Arce-Lara C, Williams CD,
- Kelley MJ and Whittle J: Cisplatin versus carboplatin-based regimens for the treatment of patients with metastatic lung cancer. An analysis of Veterans Health Administration data. J Thorac Oncol 9: 702-709, 2014.
- 43. Smit E, Moro-Sibilot D, Carpeño Jde C, Lesniewski-Kmak K, Aerts J, Villatoro R, Kraaij K, Nacerddine K, Dyachkova Y, Smith KT, et al: Cisplatin and carboplatin-based chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of non-small cell lung cancer: Analysis from the European FRAME study. Lung Cancer 92: 35-40, 2016.
- 44. de Castria TB, da Silva EM, Gois AF and Riera R: Cisplatin versus carboplatin in combination with third-generation drugs for advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 8: CD009256, 2013.
- 45. Sun X and Zheng Y: Cisplatin or Carboplatin for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer? J Thorac Oncol 9: e70, 2014.

- 46. Tiseo M, Ardizzoni A and Boni L: First-line chemotherapy treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: Does cisplatin versus carboplatin make a difference? J Thorac Oncol 9: e82, 2014
- 47. Dranitsaris G, Beegle N, Ravelo A, Kalberer T, Yu E and Thomas S: Evaluating the impact of bevacizumab maintenance therapy on overall survival in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. Clin Lung Cancer 14: 120-127, 2013.
- 48. Gridelli C, Bennouna J, de Castro J, Dingemans AM, Griesinger F, Grossi F, Rossi A, Thatcher N, Wong EK and Langer C: Randomized phase IIIb trial evaluating the continuation of bevacizumab beyond disease progression in patients with advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer after first-line treatment with bevacizumab plus platinum-based chemotherapy: Treatment rationale and protocol dynamics of the AvaALL (MO22097) trial. Clin Lung Cancer 12: 407-411, 2011.
- 49. Patel JD, Socinski MA, Garon EB, Reynolds CH, Spigel DR, Olsen MR, Hermann RC, Jotte RM, Beck T, Richards DA, et al: PointBreak: A randomized phase III study of pemetrexed plus carboplatin and bevacizumab followed by maintenance pemetrexed and bevacizumab versus paclitaxel plus carboplatin and bevacizumab followed by maintenance bevacizumab in patients with stage IIIB or IV nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 31: 4349-4357, 2013.
- 50. Barlesi F, Scherpereel A, Gorbunova V, Gervais R, Vikström A, Chouaid C, Chella A, Kim JH, Ahn MJ, Reck M, et al: Maintenance bevacizumab-pemetrexed after first-line cisplatin-pemetrexed-bevacizumab for advanced nonsquamous nonsmall-cell lung cancer: Updated survival analysis of the AVAPERL (MO22089) randomized phase III trial. Ann Oncol 25: 1044-1052, 2014.



COSC BY NO ND Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) License.





Article

KRAS Mutations Predict Response and Outcome in Advanced Lung Adenocarcinoma Patients Receiving First-Line Bevacizumab and Platinum-Based Chemotherapy

Aron Kristof Ghimessy ¹, Aron Gellert ¹, Erzsebet Schlegl ², Balazs Hegedus ^{3,4,5}, Erzsebet Raso ^{4,5}, Tamas Barbai ^{4,5}, Jozsef Timar ^{4,5}, Gyula Ostoros ⁶, Zsolt Megyesfalvi ^{1,2}, Balazs Gieszer ¹, Judit Moldvay ^{2,4,7}, Ferenc Renyi-Vamos ¹, Zoltan Lohinai ², Mir Alireza Hoda ⁸, Thomas Klikovits ⁸, Walter Klepetko ⁸, Viktoria Laszlo ^{2,8,†,*} and Balazs Dome ^{1,2,8,†,*}

- ¹ Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Institute of Oncology-Semmelweis University, 1122 Budapest, Hungary; aronghimessy@gmail.com (A.K.G.); werte02@gmail.com (A.G.); megyesfalvi_2007@yahoo.com (Z.M.); dr.gieszer@gmail.com (B.G.); drrenyivamosferenc@gmail.com (F.R.-V.)
- ² Department of Tumor Biology, National Koranyi Institute of Pulmonology–Semmelweis University, 1122 Budapest, Hungary; erschlegl@gmail.com (E.S.); drmoldvay@hotmail.com (J.M.); l ohinaiz@gmail.com (Z.L.)
- ³ Department of Thoracic Surgery, Ruhrlandklinik, University Duisburg-Essen, 45239 Essen, Germany; Balazs.Hegedues@rlk.uk-essen.de
- ⁴ 2nd Department of Pathology, Semmelweis University, 1091 Budapest, Hungary; raso.erzsebet@med.semmelweis-univ.hu (E.R.); tbarbai@gmail.com (T.B.); jtimar@gmail.com (J.T.)
- ⁵ Tumor Progression Research Group, Hungarian Academy of Sciences-Semmelweis University, 1091 Budapest, Hungary
- ⁶ 8th Department of Pulmonology, National Koranyi Institute of Pulmonology, 1122 Budapest, Hungary; drostorosgyula@gmail.com
- ⁷ MTA-SE NAP, Brain Metastasis Research Group, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, 1091 Budapest, Hungary
- ⁸ Division of Thoracic Surgery, Department of Surgery, Comprehensive Cancer Centre Vienna, Medical University Vienna, A-1090 Vienna, Austria; mir.hoda@meduniwien.ac.at (M.A.H.); thomas.klikovits@meduniwien.ac.at (T.K.); walter.klepetko@meduniwien.ac.at (W.K.)
- * Correspondence: balazs.dome@meduniwien.ac.at (B.D.); viktoria.laszlo@meduniwien.ac.at (V.L.)
- + Equal contribution.

Received: 27 August 2019; Accepted: 3 October 2019; Published: 9 October 2019

Abstract: Bevacizumab, combined with platinum-based chemotherapy, has been widely used in the treatment of advanced-stage lung adenocarcinoma (LADC). Although KRAS (V-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog) mutation is the most common genetic alteration in human LADC and its role in promoting angiogenesis has been well established, its prognostic and predictive role in the above setting remains unclear. The association between KRAS exon 2 mutational status and clinicopathological variables including progression-free survival and overall survival (PFS and OS, respectively) was retrospectively analyzed in 501 Caucasian stage IIIB-IV LADC patients receiving first-line platinum-based chemotherapy (CHT) with or without bevacizumab (BEV). EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor)-mutant cases were excluded. Of 247 BEV/CHT and 254 CHT patients, 95 (38.5%) and 75 (29.5%) had mutations in KRAS, respectively. KRAS mutation was associated with smoking (p = 0.008) and female gender (p = 0.002) in the BEV/CHT group. We found no difference in OS between patients with KRAS-mutant versus KRAS wild-type tumors in the CHT-alone group (p = 0.6771). Notably, patients with KRAS-mutant tumors demonstrated significantly shorter PFS (p = 0.0255) and OS (p = 0.0186) in response to BEV/CHT compared to KRAS

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414

Cancers 2019, 11, 1514

wild-type patients. KRAS mutation was an independent predictor of shorter PFS (hazard ratio, 0.597; p = 0.011) and OS (hazard ratio, 0.645; p = 0.012) in the BEV/CHT group. G12D KRAS-mutant patients receiving BEV/CHT showed significantly shorter PFS (3.7 months versus 8.27 months in the G12/13x group; p = 0.0032) and OS (7.2 months versus 16.1 months in the G12/13x group; p = 0.0144). In this single-center, retrospective study, KRAS-mutant LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT treatment exhibited inferior PFS and OS compared to those with KRAS wild-type advanced LADC. G12D mutations may define a subset of KRAS-mutant LADC patients unsuitable for antiangiogenic therapy with BEV.

Keywords: bevacizumab; non-small-cell lung cancer; advanced-stage lung adenocarcinoma; platinum-based chemotherapy; KRAS mutation

1. Introduction

The KRAS (V-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog) protein, encoded by the KRAS proto-oncogene, is a small GTPase (guanosine triphosphatase) that plays a key role in regulating various cell functions [1]. Alterations of the *KRAS* gene are typically missense mutations that can lead to the oncogenic conversion of KRAS resulting in the constitutive activation of its effector pathways and thus cancer development and progression [2]. KRAS is frequently mutated in pancreatic and colorectal cancer (CRC), and in lung adenocarcinoma (LADC). With an incidence of up to 30%, KRAS mutation is the most common driver mutation in LADC. The most prevalent G12C and G12V KRAS mutation subtypes are associated with smoking, while the G12D subtype has been observed in those who have never smoked [3,4]. Several other rare mutations of KRAS codon 12, 13, and 61 have also been reported [3].

The prognostic and predictive power of the KRAS mutation in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) patients remains controversial. It was first reported in the late 1980s that KRAS mutation is associated with poorer survival [5,6], and since then several groups confirmed these findings [7,8]. However, most of these studies were rather heterogeneous in terms of histology, tumor stage, and methodologies of KRAS mutation detection. Although two different meta-analyses concluded that KRAS mutation is a negative prognosticator in LADC [9,10], the most comprehensive study of more than 1500 NSCLC patients (including 300 KRAS-mutant cases) from four trials of adjuvant chemotherapy (CHT) reported that KRAS mutation had no clear prognostic or predictive relevance with regards to response to CHT [11].

Previously, our group performed a mutation subtype-specific analysis of 505 stage III–IV LADC patients treated with platinum-based CHT and found that there were no significant differences in progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) among patients with wild-type (WT), codon 12, and codon 13 KRAS mutations. Importantly, however, G12V KRAS-mutant patients tended to have a higher response rate and a modestly longer median PFS [12].

The importance of subtype-specific KRAS mutation analysis was further highlighted in the preclinical study of Garassino et al. These authors investigated the role of different KRAS mutation subtypes (G12C, G12V, and G12D) in the in vitro chemosensitivity of human NSCLC cells and found that the expression of G12C was associated with a reduced response to cisplatin and an increased sensitivity to taxol and pemetrexed. In the same study, G12D mutation led to resistance to taxol and sensitivity to sorafenib, whereas the G12V mutation sensitized the cells to cisplatin [13].

Increased expression and the negative prognostic role of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF, the key angiogenic cytokine) have been reported in most solid tumors including NSCLC [14] [15]. Several phase 2 and 3 clinical trials demonstrated that the addition of bevacizumab (BEV, a humanized monoclonal antibody against the VEGF-A isoform) to CHT improves the PFS and OS of NSCLC patients [16–20]. Accordingly, BEV in combination with platinum-based CHT was approved for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced-stage NSCLC by the FDA (U.S. Food and Drug

Administration) and the EMA (European Medicines Agency) in 2006 and 2007, respectively. The efficacy of BEV in a real-life setting in Hungary was shown in the Avalanche study [21].

Although the RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK signaling pathway has been implicated in the regulation of VEGF expression and angiogenesis [22], only a few studies have investigated the effect of KRAS mutation on the efficacy of BEV therapy. Most studies focused on CRC, where the addition of BEV to CHT prolonged survival regardless of KRAS mutational status [23–26]. Two different groups, however, demonstrated that G12V, G12A [27], and G12D [28] KRAS mutations are associated with poor outcome in metastatic CRC patients receiving BEV. As for nonsquamous NSCLC, in a phase 2 trial evaluating the addition of neoadjuvant BEV to CHT, Chaft et al. found that no patient (0 out of 10) with KRAS mutation showed a pathological response to neoadjuvant BEV/CHT, in comparison to 11 of 31 KRAS WT patients [29]. In another small study of stage IV NSCLC, BEV therapy was associated with improved OS and PFS in KRAS WT (n = 26), but not in KRAS-mutant (n = 16) patients [30]. Here, we report the results of the first study, to our knowledge, of amino acid substitution-specific KRAS mutational status analysis in a large cohort of BEV/CHT-treated stage III–IV Caucasian patients.

2. Results

2.1. Incidence of KRAS Mutations in LADC Patients Treated with Bevacizumab and Chemotherapy

All patients had advanced LADC and Caucasian background. Patients with tumors harboring an EGFR mutation were excluded. One hundred and seventy patients of the full cohort of 501 cases were identified as KRAS-mutant (33.9%) and 331 (66.1%) as KRAS WT (see Table 1A,B). While 38.5% (n = 95) of the patients treated in the BEV/CHT group were KRAS-mutant (Table 1A), in the CHT group (Table 1B) this ratio was 29.5% (n = 75) (p = 0.012). There were no significant differences between the BEV/CHT and CHT groups with respect to age (p = 0.193), smoking status (p = 0.072), gender (p = 0.506), and tumor stage (p = 0.610) (data not shown). The only difference was seen in performance status (PS): there were more ECOG (Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group) 0 (vs. EVOG 1) patients in the BEV/CHT group than in the CHT-alone group (p = 0.031; data not shown), which might be due to the BEV selection criteria. In the BEV/CHT subcohort, 35 (36.8%), 19 (20%), and 20 (21%) cases were classified as G12C, G12D, and G12V mutants, respectively (Table S1). Other rare (i.e., n < 3) KRAS exon 2 mutation subtypes (G12A, G12R, G12S, G13C and G13D) were also found in the BEV group. Subtype-specific mutations were technically not assessable in 21 cases (Table S1).

		. ,	0 1		
	No. of Patients (%)		KRAS S	Status	<i>n-</i> value ^a
			Wild type (%)	Mutant (%)	p value
		A. BE	V/CHT		
All patients	247		152 (61.5%)	95 (38.5%)	
Age (years) ^b		Median: SD*: Range:	62 9.2 53	58 8.2 44	0.09
Smoking ^c Never-smoker Ever-smoker No data (<i>n</i> = 50)	30 (12%) 167 (68%)		24 93	6 74	0.008
Gender ^c Female	106 (43%)		52	54	0.002

 Table 1. Patient characteristics in the bevacizumab/chemotherapy (BEV/CHT) and chemotherapy (CHT) groups.

Male	141 (57%)	100	41	
ECOG ^c				
0	139 (56%)	87	52	
1	108 (44%)	65	43	0.056
Stage ^c				
III	55 (22%)	38	17	
IV	192 (78%)	114	78	0.16
Survival ^d				
Median PFS (month	hs)	8.63	7.03	0.0255
Median OS (month	ns)	21.57	14.23	0.0186

		B. C	HT		
All patients	254		179 (70.5%)	75 (29.5%)	
		Median:	63	61	
Age (years) ^b		SD *:	7.8	8.7	0.297
0 () /		Range:	46	46	
Smoking ^c					
Never-smoker	21 (8%)		15	6	
Ever-smoker	188 (74%)		135	53	0.435
No data $(n = 45)$					
Gender ^c					
Female	118 (46.5%)		79	39	
Male	136 (53.5%)		100	36	0.27
ECOG					
0	128 (50.5%)		94	34	
1	126 (49.5%)		85	41	0.335
Stage	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,				
III	66 (26%)		44	22	
IV	188 (74%)		135	53	0.351
1 V	100 (7470)		155	55	
Survival ^{d,e}					-
Median OS (months	;)		11	10	0.6771

^a *p* value is calculated between wild type and all mutant groups, ^b Mann–Whitney test is used in case of continuous variable (age) as the data are not normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk test), ^c Fisher's exact test is used between categorical variables, ^d survival difference between the wild type and the mutant group was calculated using log rank regression analysis, ^e PFS was not determined in the CHT group, * SD: standard deviation, BEV/CHT: bevacizumab/chemotherapy, KRAS: V-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog, ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group, PFS: progression-free survival, OS: overall survival.

In order to study the clinical relevance of KRAS mutations, we performed comparative statistical analyses of KRAS status and clinicopathological variables in both the BEV/CHT (Table 1A) and the CHT subcohorts (Table 1B). As for the BEV/CHT group, ever-smoking and KRAS mutational statuses showed a significant positive association (p = 0.008; see Table 1A). KRAS mutation was also significantly more common in female BEV/CHT patients (vs. males; p = 0.002; see Table 1A). ECOG status and clinical stage did not differ significantly between KRAS-mutant and KRAS WT patients in the BEV/CHT group (p = 0.056 and p = 0.16, respectively; see Table 1A). The presence of KRAS mutation was not associated with age in the BEV/CHT group (p = 0.09; see Table 1A). Of note, we did not detect significant associations of KRAS mutational status with age, smoking status, gender, ECOG status, stage, or OS in the CHT group (Table 1B). While the reasons for the differences in the associations between KRAS mutational status and clinicopathological variables in the BEV/CHT vs.

the CHT subcohorts are not entirely clear, a possible explanation is that they are due to the selection criteria for BEV therapy.

2.2. The Presence of KRAS Mutations has Clinical Utility in Predicting Disease Outcome in LADC Patients Receiving Concurrent Antiangiogenic and Chemotherapy

As expected, patients in the BEV/CHT group had significantly longer median OS than those receiving CHT only (p < 0.0001, log-rank test; Figure S2). This difference was even more remarkable when only KRAS WT patients were compared (p < 0.0001, log-rank test; see Figure 1A). Notably, the addition of BEV to CHT was also associated with a significant benefit in OS if KRAS-mutant patients were compared with those in the CHT-alone subcohort (p = 0.0002, log-rank test; see Figure 1A).



Figure 1. Kaplan–Meier plots for the overall survival (OS) (**A**) and progression-free survival (PFS) (**B**) in lung adenocarcinoma (LADC) patients according to V-Ki-ras2 Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog (KRAS) mutation status. (**A**) LADC patients with KRAS wild-type (WT) tumors and receiving bevacizumab/chemotherapy (BEV/CHT) had significantly increased median OS (vs. those with KRAS WT tumors and receiving CHT only; median OS 21.57 vs. 14.23 months, respectively, *p* = 0.0186, log-rank test). Median OS was also increased in KRAS-mutant LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT compared to those treated with CHT only (median OSs were 18 vs. 10 months, respectively, *p* = 0.0002, log-rank test). No significant differences in OS have been observed for patients receiving CHT only and with KRAS WT versus KRAS-mutant tumors (median OSs were 11 vs. 10 months, respectively *p* = 0.6771, log-rank test). Of note, in the BEV/CHT group, patients with KRAS WT LADC had a significantly better OS than those with tumors harboring KRAS mutations (median OSs were 39 vs. 18 months, respectively, *p* = 0.0186, log-rank test). (**B**) Similarly, in the BEV/CHT group, patients with KRAS WT LADC had significantly longer median PFS (vs. those with KRAS-mutant tumors; median PFSs were 8.63 vs. 7.03 months, respectively, *p* = 0.0255, log-rank test).

We next investigated whether the KRAS mutational status influences the efficacy of CHT with or without BEV in advanced LADC. There was no difference in OS between patients with KRAS- mutant versus KRAS WT tumors in the CHT-alone group (p = 0.6771, log-rank test; see Figure 1A). Importantly, however, in the BEV/CHT group we found that KRAS-mutant LADC patients had a significantly shorter median PFS and OS than did KRAS WT patients (p = 0.0255 and p = 0.0186, respectively, log-rank test; see Figures 1A,B). In support of this, multivariate Cox regression analyses revealed that KRAS status (mutant vs. WT) at diagnosis influenced OS (hazard ratio (HR) 0.645, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.458–0.908, p = 0.012) and PFS (HR 0.597, 95% CI 0.402–0.887, p = 0.011) independently from age (continuous; P values were 0.081 and 0.628, respectively), gender (female vs. male; p values were 0.005 and 0.001, respectively), smoking status (never vs. ever; p values were 0.907 and 0.835, respectively), ECOG PS (0 vs. 1; P values were 0.193 and 0.177, respectively) and tumor stage (III. vs. IV; p values were 0.048 and 0.617, respectively; see Table 2). These analyses also identified more advanced tumor stage as a significant independent negative prognostic factor for OS, but not for PFS (p values were 0.048 and 0.617, respectively; see Table 2). Gender proved to be an independent prognosticator for both OS and PFS in a multivariate Cox regression model as well (p values were 0.005 and 0.001, respectively; see Table 2).

Clinicopathological Variables	PFS	OS
Age (continuous)		
HR	0.628	0.978
95% CI	0.966-1.021)	(0.955 - 1.003)
р	0.628	0.081
Gender (female vs. male)		
HR	0.248	0.390
95% CI	(0.125-0.494)	(0.203-0.751)
p	0.001	0.005
Smoking (never- vs. ever-smokers)		
HR	0.944	0.968
95% CI	(0.548-1.626)	(0.562 - 1.669)
p	0.835	0.907
ECOG PS (0 vs. 1)		
HR	0.765	0.772
95% CI	(0.518-1.129)	(0.523-1.140)
р	0.177	0.193
Stage (III vs. IV)		
HR	0.879	0.603
95% CI	(0.531-1.455)	(0.365-0.996)
p	0.617	0.048
KRAS status (WT vs. mutant)		
HR	0.597	0.645
95% CI	(0.402–0.887)	(0.458 - 0.908)
p	0.011	0.012

Table 2. Clinicopathological variables and progression-free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS) of lung adenocarcinoma (LADC) patients treated with bevacizumab/chemotherapy (BEV/CHT) in the multivariate Cox proportional hazards model.

HR, hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; ECOG PS, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status.

2.3. Distinct Efficacy of BEV/CHT in Advanced LADC Patients with Different Subtype-Specific KRAS Mutations

Next, we looked at the clinicopathological characteristics of KRAS codon 12-mutant LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT and performed a statistical analysis on their associations with amino acid-specific mutational status. We identified 35 (36.8%) G12C, 19 G12D (20%), 20 G12V (21%), three G12A (3.2%%), one G12S (1%), one G12R (1%), three G13D (3.1%), and one G13C (1%) cases. Significant associations of subtype-specific KRAS mutational status with age, smoking status, gender, ECOG PS, or tumor stage were not detected (Table S1). Importantly, patients with KRAS G12D

mutant tumors had a significantly shorter OS than those presenting with KRAS WT or with other KRAS codon 12 or 13 mutant (G12/13x) tumors (p = 0.0223 and p = 0.0144, respectively; log-rank test; see Figure 2A). In line with the OS data, KRAS G12D mutation conferred a significant disadvantage for PFS compared with KRAS WT (p < 0.0001; log-rank test; see Figure 2B) or all the other codon 12 or 13 KRAS (G12/13x) mutations (p = 0.0032; log-rank test; see Figure 2B). Of note, the OS of G12D KRAS-mutant patients in the BEV/CHT group was comparable to that of patients in the CHT-alone subcohort (Figure S3).



Figure 2. Kaplan–Meier plots for the OS (**A**) and PFS (**B**) in LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT according to subtype-specific codon 12 KRAS mutations. (**A**) KRAS G12D mutation was associated with significantly shorter OS in LADC patients (vs. KRAS G12x and 13x mutations or WT KRAS; median OSs were 7.2, 16.1, and 21 months, respectively, *p* values were 0.0144 and 0.0223, respectively, log-rank test). (**B**) LADC patients with tumors harboring KRAS G12D mutations had also significantly shorter median PFS than those with other codon 12 (G12x) and 13 (G13x) KRAS-mutant or with KRAS WT tumors (median PFSs were 3.7, 8.27, and 11.7 months, respectively; *p* values were 0.0032 and <0.0001, respectively; log-rank test).

3. Discussion

Although KRAS is the most frequently mutated oncogene in NSCLC, our knowledge on the effect of KRAS mutation on the response to BEV in lung cancer is very limited. Biomarkers of BEV efficacy including imaging markers and circulating levels of angiogenic cytokines have been tested in both preclinical and clinical studies. For instance, VEGF levels in immunodepleted plasma of cancer patients were found to be significantly reduced following BEV treatment [31]. However, VEGF-A, as measured using an Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay that recognizes all VEGF-A

isoforms, was not predictive in a comprehensive evaluation of four phase III trials of BEV in CRC, NSCLC, and renal cancer [32]. Interestingly, recent data suggest use of TP53 (tumor protein 53) status as a biomarker for the response to BEV in NSCLC [33,34]. Nevertheless, as in other solid tumor types, a reliable biomarker to identify patients with LADC who will benefit from BEV is yet to be discovered. Here we analyzed the KRAS exon 2 mutational status in a large Caucasian patient cohort (n = 501) with stage III–IV, EGFR WT LADC treated with platinum-based chemotherapy alone or in combination with BEV.

In the current LADC cohort, 33.9% of the patients had a KRAS mutation. The incidence of KRAS mutations was higher in the BEV/CHT-treated group as compared to the CHT group (38.5% vs. 29.5%, respectively, p = 0.012). With an incidence of 36.8%, G12C was the most frequent subtype in the BEV/CHT group, followed by the G12V (21.1%) and G12D (20%) subtypes. Other rare mutational subtypes (i.e., G12A, G12R, G12S, G13C, and G13D) were identified in 22.1% of the patients. These findings are in line with data previously reported by us and others in large NSCLC studies [12,35].

Next, we investigated whether the KRAS mutational status had an effect on the response to BEV. Although KRAS status had no impact on the OS of LADC patients receiving CHT alone, in the BEV/CHT group patients with a KRAS mutation had a significantly shorter OS. Multivariate analysis also confirmed the role of KRAS as a negative predictor of response to BEV. In lung cancer, so far only two studies have addressed the impact of KRAS mutation on the efficacy of BEV. The results from both of these studies are in line with our data. Chaft et al. treated 50 stage IB–IIIA NSCLC patients in the neoadjuvant setting in combination with CHT and evaluated their pathological response [36]. None of the 10 KRAS-mutant patients responded, in comparison to 11 of 31 KRAS WT cases. Although these authors administered BEV in combination with CHT, based on our current data and also on previous reports from our group and others, the efficacy of CHT is not affected by KRAS status in NSCLC [11,12]. Thus, the better response rate in the KRAS WT group of the Chaft study can be attributed to BEV and not to CHT [29]. In further support of this, Brady et al. studied 93 stage IV NSCLC patients receiving CHT alone or in combination with BEV and observed that, while CHT was as effective in KRAS WT patients as in those with KRAS-mutant tumors, BEV improved OS and PFS in patients with KRAS WT, but not those with KRAS-mutant tumors [30].

Mechanisms of resistance to antiangiogenic agents such as BEV include hypoxia-mediated mechanisms [37], the downregulation of target receptors and the activation of compensatory angiogenic pathways [38-40], proangiogenic hematopoietic or endothelial progenitor cell release from the bone marrow [41], inadequate intratumoral distribution of antiangiogenic drugs [42], and a switch from endothelial sprouting to a nonangiogenic vascularization mechanism such as vessel cooption (a frequently occurring vascularization pattern in primary and secondary lung tumors that mediates resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy) [43–46].) It is not completely clear, though, whether and how KRAS mutation can contribute to these resistance mechanisms. Notably, however, tumor spread through air spaces (STAS) [47] and "tumor islands" [48] are closely related morphological features to vessel cooption [49] and were found to be significantly associated with KRAS mutations in NSCLC [47,48]. Moreover, mutant KRAS has been shown to induce the expression of VEGF in transformed fibroblasts or epithelial cells in vitro. KRAS mutation led to the increased expression of other angiogenic growth factors such as TGF (transforming growth factor)-beta and alpha [50]. Elevated VEGF mRNA levels were detected in tumor cell lines expressing mutant KRAS [51]. Genetic disruption of the mutant KRAS allele in human colon carcinoma cells resulted in decreased VEGF secretion [51]. The transfection of human pancreatic epithelial cells with KRAS12V induced the expression of VEGF and CXC (C-X-C motif) chemokines through Erk and c-Jun signaling and enhanced endothelial tube formation in co-cultures, which could be inhibited by CXC receptor 2 or VEGF targeting [52]. Lastly, doxycycline withdrawal led to tumor regression and endothelial apoptosis in a doxycycline-inducible RAS (rat sarcoma)-driven INK4a (inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinase 4a) deficient murine model of melanoma [22].

In CRC patients receiving BEV, results on associations between KRAS mutational status and outcome have been inconsistent, with a larger number of studies reporting no associations [23,25,26,53,54] than those demonstrating significant associations [27,28]. Interestingly, however, in a

recent CRC study, Fiala et al. demonstrated that G12V and G12A mutation were predictors of shorter PFS and OS, while patients with tumors harboring other KRAS mutations had a similar outcome to those with KRAS WT tumors [27]. Notably, another group reported that the presence of a KRAS G12D mutation was significantly associated with poorer outcome in CRC patients receiving BEV-containing regimens [55]. As for NSCLC, Scheffler et al. recently found that patients with KRAS G12D mutation exhibit a high frequency of co-occurring mutations in the angiogenesis-associated PDGF (platelet-derived growth factor receptor)/PDGF-receptor pathway [56]. In line with this, among the three major codon 12 KRAS mutation subtypes (G12C, G12V, and G12D) G12D proved to be a predictor of poor outcome in our BEV/CHT subcohort. Patients with LADC harboring this mutation had significantly worse PFS and OS than those with tumors harboring other KRAS mutations or WT KRAS.

The biological importance of KRAS mutational subtypes has been demonstrated in a study by Figueras et al., who introduced either a codon 12 or a codon 13 KRAS mutation into NIH3T3 cells and analyzed the VEGF levels and the activity of VEGF promoter in these transfected sublines. Despite the lower VEGF expression, codon 12 mutant tumors exhibited a higher microvessel density, while tumors harboring the codon 13 mutation developed angiogenic sprouts with larger diameters [57].

In our cohort, only two patients carried a codon 13 mutation of KRAS, so we could not evaluate the BEV response in this subgroup. Nevertheless, our study suggests that specific KRAS mutation subtypes can have a major impact on tumor vascularization and, potentially, on the response to antiangiogenic treatment.

Like all retrospective analyses, our study has limitations. First, although we excluded patients with EGFR-mutant tumors from our study, we did not analyze KRAS-WT patients for additional oncogenic driver mutations. Second, we did not study KRAS-mutant patients for co-occurring mutations in additional tumor-associated pathways [56]. Third, because this large retrospective cohort did not include reliable RECIST (response evaluation criteria in solid tumors) data [58] for all patients, we did not investigate the correlation between KRAS mutational status and tumor response according to RECIST criteria. Finally, because there is a massive body of literature on the predictive and prognostic role of KRAS mutations in CHT-treated LADC patients [9–13,56,58–60] and the main aim of the current study was to investigate the relationship between KRAS status and the efficacy of BEV, only the OS but not the PFS data were used in our analyses in the CHT-alone subcohort.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Study Population

In this single-center, retrospective study, 501 consecutive patients with advanced lung adenocarcinoma (LADC) were included and underwent first-line platinum-based (cisplatin or carboplatin) doublet chemotherapy (CHT) with or without BEV at the National Korányi Institute of Pulmonology, Budapest between 2007 and 2016 (Table 1, Figure S1). The addition of BEV to CHT was individually decided by the treating physician in line with the proof-of-concept BEV clinical trials [16,18] and with the EMA summary of BEV characteristics. According to our inclusion criteria, cytologically or histologically verified unresectable stage IIIB or IV LADC patients were included. Patients with uncontrollable hypertension, hypertensive encephalopathy, arterial or grade 4 venous thromboembolism, nephrotic syndrome (grade 4 proteinuria), pulmonary bleeding, gastrointestinal perforation, need for major surgery, or hypersensitivity to BEV were considered not eligible for BEV therapy (Figure S1).

In the BEV/CHT group (n = 247), platinum was given together with paclitaxel (84.7%) or gemcitabine (15.3%). In order to rule out the potential confounding effect of different treatment regimens, patients receiving other nonplatinum partners, such as pemetrexed or docetaxel, were excluded from the CHT group (n = 254). Additionally, all patients receiving tyrosine–kinase inhibitors in any further line of treatment were excluded. According to the therapy guidelines of the host institute, only ECOG PS 0 or 1 LADC patients were included in this study, since higher PS

DOI:10.14753/SE.2020.2414

Cancers 2019, 11, 1514

contradicted the use of cytotoxic chemotherapy. Smoking status, TNM stage, and molecular tumor characteristics (EGFR and KRAS mutational status) were defined at the time of diagnosis. For the calculation of PFS and OS, the date of the first CHT was used. Patients with known EGFR mutations were excluded. Clinical follow-up closed on 1 August 2017. The median follow-up was 21 months in the BEV/CHT group, and 10 months in the CHT group. The study and all treatments were conducted in accordance with the current National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines, based on the ethical standards prescribed by the Helsinki Declaration of the World Medical Association and with the approval of the national level ethics committee that included a waiver for this retrospective study (52614-4/2013/EKU). Due to the retrospective study design and the anonymity of the patient records, informed consent was not recommended.

4.2. Molecular Diagnosis

All mutational analyses were performed at the time of diagnosis at the 2nd Department of Pathology of the Semmelweis University, as previously described [12,61,62]. DNA isolation was performed from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tissue blocks, cytological specimens of primary tumors, or lymphatic or organ metastases (including pleural effusion).

KRAS exon 2 mutations were identified by microcapillary-based restriction fragment length analysis, as previously described [12,61]. Briefly, a tumor-rich microscopic area on H&E staining had been determined by pathologists prior to macro dissection from FFPE tissue or cytological smears. DNA was extracted using the MasterPure[™] DNA Purification Kit (Epicentre Biotechnologies, Madison, WI, USA) according to the instructions of the manufacturer. The microfluid-based restriction fragment detection system was characterized by 5% mutant tumor cell content sensitivity. The density ratio of the mutated band to the WT one was calculated and samples containing >5% of the non-WT band were considered mutation-positive due to the sensitivity threshold. The base-pair substitutions in the mutant samples were verified and determined by sequencing on the ABI 3130 Genetic Analyzer System (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) with the BigDye[®] Terminator v1.1 Kit.

4.3. Statistical Methods

Categorical parameters, such as gender (male vs. female), smoking status (never- vs. eversmoker), ECOG PS (0 vs. 1), and KRAS mutation status (KRAS-mutant vs. WT) were statistically analyzed by Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Age, as a continuous variable, was analyzed in the different KRAS mutational groups by Mann-Whitney U test as the data were not normally distributed in each group (as per the Shapiro–Wilk normality test). Kaplan–Meier survival curves and two-sided log-rank tests were used for univariate survival analyses. The median follow-up time was calculated by using the reverse Kaplan-Meier approach. The Cox proportional hazards model was used for uni- and multivariate survival analyses to detect the impact of both continuous and categorical factors and to calculate the hazard ratios (HR) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI). For multivariate survival analyses, the Cox regression model was adjusted for age (as a continuous variable), gender (female versus male), smoking (never- vs. ever-smoker), ECOG PS (0 versus 1) and stage (IIIB versus IV). In order to establish potential predictive factors, interaction terms were calculated between KRAS status and other variables (age, sex, smoking status, ECOG PS, and stage) in the adjusted multivariate Cox regression model. p values are always two-sided and considered statistically significant below 0.05. Metric data are always shown as median or mean and corresponding range or, in the case of OS and PFS, as median and corresponding 95% CI. All statistical analyses were performed using the PASW Statistics 18.0 package (Predictive Analytics Software, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Graphs were created with GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

5. Conclusions

Cancers 2019, 11, 1514

In conclusion, when combined with standard first-line chemotherapy, BEV has led to increased OS and thus has been approved in patients with advanced or recurrent nonsquamous NSCLC without targetable molecular abnormalities [16,17,19,20,63,64]. However, although serious efforts have been made to identify patients responsive to BEV, there is as yet no validated predictive biomarker in this field. Here, we present novel evidence for use of BEV in stage III–IV LADC patients with KRAS-mutant tumors- and especially with KRAS G12D-mutant tumors- demonstrating inferior activity of this drug compared to that in LADC patients with non-KRAS-mutant tumors. Our data may not only help to improve the efficacy of BEV, but, through better patient selection, could also help to decrease the unnecessary use of this expensive agent in subgroups of KRAS-mutant human LADC patients.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at www.mdpi.com/xxx/s1. Figure S1. Consort diagram for advanced LADC cases. Consort diagram to demonstrate the selection of stage IIIB/IV LADC cases for BEV/CHT or CHT alone in this study. Where patients were excluded, the reasons for exclusion are indicated. Figure S2. Comparison of survival outcomes in patients with advanced LADC according to treatment regimen. Advanced LADC patients receiving BEV/CHT showed significantly higher median OS compared to those treated with CHT only (median OSs were 24 vs. 10 months, respectively, p < 0.0001, log-rank test). Figure S3. Kaplan–Meier curves for the OS of LADC patients treated with CHTalone and LADC patients with KRAS G12D mutations in the BEV/CHT subcohort. Patients with tumors harboring KRAS G12D mutations and treated with BEV/CHT had comparable OS to that of patients with KRAS-WT or KRAS-mutant tumors in the CHT-alone subcohort. Table S1. Correlation of clinicopathologic features, outcome variables and KRAS codon 12 subtypes in patients with advanced LADC treated with BEV (n = 95).

Author Contributions: Á.K.G., V.L., B.D., B.H., G.O., B.G., J.M., F.R-V., Z.L., M.A.H., T.K., and W.K. analyzed and interpreted the data and contributed to the study design. Á.K.G., B.D., and V.L. wrote the manuscript. E.R., T.B., and J.T. analyzed the pathological samples. Á.G., E.S., and Z.M. contributed to the data assessment.

Funding: This work was supported by the Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office (KH130356, BD; NVKP-16-1-2016-0020, JT; KH126753, OG) and the Austrian Science Fund (FWF I 3522, VL; FWF I 3977, BD).

Acknowledgments: The authors thank the investigators who collected the data reported here and the Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office and the Austrian Science Fund for the financial support. The authors take full responsibility for the content of this publication.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Fernandez-Medarde, A.; Santos, E. Ras in cancer and developmental diseases. *Genes Cancer* **2011**, *2*, 344–358, doi:10.1177/1947601911411084.
- O'Bryan, J.P. Pharmacological targeting of RAS: Recent success with direct inhibitors. *Pharmacol Res.* 2019, 139, 503–511, doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2018.10.021.
- 3. Lindsay, C.R.; Jamal-Hanjani, M.; Forster, M.; Blackhall, F. KRAS: Reasons for optimism in lung cancer. *Eur. J. Cancer* **2018**, *99*, 20–27, doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2018.05.001.
- Timar, J. The clinical relevance of KRAS gene mutation in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Curr. Opin. Oncol.* 2014, 26, 138–144, doi:10.1097/CCO.00000000000051.
- Rodenhuis, S.; van de Wetering, M.L.; Mooi, W.J.; Evers, S.G.; van Zandwijk, N.; Bos, J.L. Mutational activation of the K-ras oncogene. A possible pathogenetic factor in adenocarcinoma of the lung. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1987**, *317*, 929–935, doi:10.1056/NEJM198710083171504.
- Slebos, R.J.; Kibbelaar, R.E.; Dalesio, O.; Kooistra, A.; Stam, J.; Meijer, C.J.; Wagenaar, S.S.; Vanderschueren, R.G.; van Zandwijk, N.; Mooi, W.J., et al. K-ras oncogene activation as a prognostic marker in adenocarcinoma of the lung. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **1990**, 323, 561–565, doi:10.1056/nejm199008303230902.
- Kern, J.A.; Slebos, R.J.; Top, B.; Rodenhuis, S.; Lager, D.; Robinson, R.A.; Weiner, D.; Schwartz, D.A. CerbB-2 expression and codon 12 K-ras mutations both predict shortened survival for patients with pulmonary adenocarcinomas. *J. Clin. Investig.* 1994, 93, 516–520, doi:10.1172/JCI117001.

- Mitsudomi, T.; Steinberg, S.M.; Oie, H.K.; Mulshine, J.L.; Phelps, R.; Viallet, J.; Pass, H.; Minna, J.D.; Gazdar, A.F. ras gene mutations in non-small cell lung cancers are associated with shortened survival irrespective of treatment intent. *Cancer Res.* 1991, *51*, 4999–5002.
- 9. Huncharek, M.; Muscat, J.; Geschwind, J.F. K-ras oncogene mutation as a prognostic marker in nonsmall cell lung cancer: A combined analysis of 881 cases. *Carcinogenesis* **1999**, *20*, 1507–1510.
- Mascaux, C.; Iannino, N.; Martin, B.; Paesmans, M.; Berghmans, T.; Dusart, M.; Haller, A.; Lothaire, P.; Meert, A.P.; Noel, S., et al. The role of RAS oncogene in survival of patients with lung cancer: a systematic review of the literature with meta-analysis. *Br. J. Cancer* 2005, *92*, 131–139, doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602258.
- Shepherd, F.A.; Domerg, C.; Hainaut, P.; Janne, P.A.; Pignon, J.P.; Graziano, S.; Douillard, J.Y.; Brambilla, E.; Le Chevalier, T.; Seymour, L., et al. Pooled analysis of the prognostic and predictive effects of KRAS mutation status and KRAS mutation subtype in early-stage resected non-small-cell lung cancer in four trials of adjuvant chemotherapy. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2013, *31*, 2173–2181, doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.48.1390.
- Cserepes, M.; Ostoros, G.; Lohinai, Z.; Raso, E.; Barbai, T.; Timar, J.; Rozsas, A.; Moldvay, J.; Kovalszky, I.; Fabian, K., et al. Subtype-specific KRAS mutations in advanced lung adenocarcinoma: A retrospective study of patients treated with platinum-based chemotherapy. *Eur. J. Cancer* 2014, *50*, 1819–1828, doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2014.04.001.
- 13. Garassino, M.C.; Marabese, M.; Rusconi, P.; Rulli, E.; Martelli, O.; Farina, G.; Scanni, A.; Broggini, M. Different types of K-Ras mutations could affect drug sensitivity and tumour behaviour in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann. Oncol.* **2011**, *22*, 235–237, doi:10.1093/annonc/mdq680.
- 14. Gentzler, R.D.; Yentz, S.E.; Patel, J.D. Bevacizumab in advanced NSCLC: chemotherapy partners and duration of use. *Curr. Treat. Options Oncol.* **2013**, *14*, 595–609, doi:10.1007/s11864-013-0255-3.
- Zhan, P.; Wang, J.; Lv, X.J.; Wang, Q.; Qiu, L.X.; Lin, X.Q.; Yu, L.K.; Song, Y. Prognostic value of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in patients with lung cancer: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 2009, *4*, 1094–1103, doi:10.1097/JTO.0b013e3181a97e31.
- Sandler, A.; Gray, R.; Perry, M.C.; Brahmer, J.; Schiller, J.H.; Dowlati, A.; Lilenbaum, R.; Johnson, D.H. Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2006, 355, 2542–2550, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa061884.
- Johnson, D.H.; Fehrenbacher, L.; Novotny, W.F.; Herbst, R.S.; Nemunaitis, J.J.; Jablons, D.M.; Langer, C.J.; DeVore, R.F., 3rd; Gaudreault, J.; Damico, L.A., et al. Randomized phase II trial comparing bevacizumab plus carboplatin and paclitaxel with carboplatin and paclitaxel alone in previously untreated locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2004, *22*, 2184–2191, doi:10.1200/jco.2004.11.022.
- Reck, M.; von Pawel, J.; Zatloukal, P.; Ramlau, R.; Gorbounova, V.; Hirsh, V.; Leighl, N.; Mezger, J.; Archer, V.; Moore, N., et al. Phase III trial of cisplatin plus gemcitabine with either placebo or bevacizumab as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: AVAil. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2009, 27, 1227–1234, doi:10.1200/jco.2007.14.5466.
- Twelves, C.; Chmielowska, E.; Havel, L.; Popat, S.; Swieboda-Sadlej, A.; Sawrycki, P.; Bycott, P.; Ingrosso, A.; Kim, S.; Williams, J.A., et al. Randomised phase II study of axitinib or bevacizumab combined with paclitaxel/carboplatin as first-line therapy for patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Ann. Oncol.* 2014, 25, 132–138, doi:10.1093/annonc/mdt489.
- Patel, J.D.; Socinski, M.A.; Garon, E.B.; Reynolds, C.H.; Spigel, D.R.; Olsen, M.R.; Hermann, R.C.; Jotte, R.M.; Beck, T.; Richards, D.A., et al. PointBreak: a randomized phase III study of pemetrexed plus carboplatin and bevacizumab followed by maintenance pemetrexed and bevacizumab versus paclitaxel plus carboplatin and bevacizumab followed by maintenance bevacizumab in patients with stage IIIB or IV nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2013, *31*, 4349–4357, doi:10.1200/jco.2012.47.9626.
- Tolnay, E.; Ghimessy, Á.; Juhász, E.; Sztancsik, Z.; Losonczy, G.; Dombi, P.; Vennes, Z.; Helf, L.; Csada, E.; Sárosi, V. The efficacy and safety of bevacizumab in addition to platinum-based chemotherapy for the first-line treatment of patients with advanced nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: Final results of AVALANCHE, an observational cohort study. *Oncol. Letters* 2018, doi:10.3892/ol.2018.9766.

- Chin, L.; Tam, A.; Pomerantz, J.; Wong, M.; Holash, J.; Bardeesy, N.; Shen, Q.; O'Hagan, R.; Pantginis, J.; Zhou, H., et al. Essential role for oncogenic Ras in tumour maintenance. *Nature* 1999, 400, 468–472, doi:10.1038/22788.
- Hurwitz, H.I.; Yi, J.; Ince, W.; Novotny, W.F.; Rosen, O. The clinical benefit of bevacizumab in metastatic colorectal cancer is independent of K-ras mutation status: analysis of a phase III study of bevacizumab with chemotherapy in previously untreated metastatic colorectal cancer. *Oncologist* 2009, 14, 22–28, doi:10.1634/theoncologist.2008-0213.
- Ince, W.L.; Jubb, A.M.; Holden, S.N.; Holmgren, E.B.; Tobin, P.; Sridhar, M.; Hurwitz, H.I.; Kabbinavar, F.; Novotny, W.F.; Hillan, K.J., et al. Association of k-ras, b-raf, and p53 status with the treatment effect of bevacizumab. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 2005, *97*, 981–989, doi:10.1093/jnci/dji174.
- Bencsikova, B.; Bortlicek, Z.; Halamkova, J.; Ostrizkova, L.; Kiss, I.; Melichar, B.; Pavlik, T.; Dusek, L.; Valik, D.; Vyzula, R., et al. Efficacy of bevacizumab and chemotherapy in the first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: Broadening KRAS-focused clinical view. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 2015, *15*, e37, doi:10.1186/s12876-015-0266-6.
- Stremitzer, S.; Stift, J.; Gruenberger, B.; Tamandl, D.; Aschacher, T.; Wolf, B.; Wrba, F.; Gruenberger, T. KRAS status and outcome of liver resection after neoadjuvant chemotherapy including bevacizumab. *Br. J. Surg.* 2012, *99*, 1575–1582, doi:10.1002/bjs.8909.
- Fiala, O.; Buchler, T.; Mohelnikova-Duchonova, B.; Melichar, B.; Matejka, V.M.; Holubec, L.; Kulhankova, J.; Bortlicek, Z.; Bartouskova, M.; Liska, V., et al. G12V and G12A KRAS mutations are associated with poor outcome in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with bevacizumab. *Tumour Biol.*: J. Int. Soc. Oncodevelopmental Biol. Med. 2016, 37, 6823–6830, doi:10.1007/s13277-015-4523-7.
- Bruera, G.; Cannita, K.; Di Giacomo, D.; Lamy, A.; Frebourg, T.; Sabourin, J.C.; Tosi, M.; Alesse, E.; Ficorella, C.; Ricevuto, E. Worse prognosis of KRAS c.35 G > A mutant metastatic colorectal cancer (MCRC) patients treated with intensive triplet chemotherapy plus bevacizumab (FIr-B/FOx). *BMC Med.* 2013, *11*, e59, doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-59.
- Chaft, J.E.; Rusch, V.; Ginsberg, M.S.; Paik, P.K.; Finley, D.J.; Kris, M.G.; Price, K.A.; Azzoli, C.G.; Fury, M.G.; Riely, G.J., et al. Phase II trial of neoadjuvant bevacizumab plus chemotherapy and adjuvant bevacizumab in patients with resectable nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancers. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 2013, *8*, 1084–1090, doi:10.1097/JTO.0b013e31829923ec.
- Brady, A.K.; McNeill, J.D.; Judy, B.; Bauml, J.; Evans, T.L.; Cohen, R.B.; Langer, C.; Vachani, A.; Aggarwal, C. Survival outcome according to KRAS mutation status in newly diagnosed patients with stage IV non-small cell lung cancer treated with platinum doublet chemotherapy. *Oncotarget* 2015, 6, 30287–30294, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.4711.
- Loupakis, F.; Falcone, A.; Masi, G.; Fioravanti, A.; Kerbel, R.S.; Del Tacca, M.; Bocci, G. Vascular endothelial growth factor levels in immunodepleted plasma of cancer patients as a possible pharmacodynamic marker for bevacizumab activity. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2007, 25, 1816–1818, doi:10.1200/JCO.2006.10.3051.
- Hegde, P.S.; Jubb, A.M.; Chen, D.; Li, N.F.; Meng, Y.G.; Bernaards, C.; Elliott, R.; Scherer, S.J.; Chen, D.S. Predictive impact of circulating vascular endothelial growth factor in four phase III trials evaluating bevacizumab. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2013, 19, 929–937, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2535.
- Said, R.; Hong, D.S.; Warneke, C.L.; Lee, J.J.; Wheler, J.J.; Janku, F.; Naing, A.; Falchook, G.S.; Fu, S.; Piha-Paul, S., et al. P53 mutations in advanced cancers: Clinical characteristics, outcomes, and correlation between progression-free survival and bevacizumab-containing therapy. *Oncotarget* 2013, 4, 705–714, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.974.
- Schwaederle, M.; Lazar, V.; Validire, P.; Hansson, J.; Lacroix, L.; Soria, J.C.; Pawitan, Y.; Kurzrock, R. VEGF-a expression correlates with TP53 mutations in non-small cell lung cancer: Implications for antiangiogenesis therapy. *Cancer Res.* 2015, *75*, 1187–1190, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2305.
- 35. Martin, P.; Leighl, N.B.; Tsao, M.S.; Shepherd, F.A. KRAS mutations as prognostic and predictive markers in non-small cell lung cancer. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* **2013**, *8*, 530–542, doi:10.1097/JTO.0b013e318283d958.
- Chaft, J.E.; Dagogo-Jack, I.; Santini, F.C.; Eng, J.; Yeap, B.Y.; Izar, B.; Chin, E.; Jones, D.R.; Kris, M.G.; Shaw, A.T., et al. Clinical outcomes of patients with resected, early-stage ALK-positive lung cancer. *Lung Cancer* 2018, 122, 67–71, doi:10.1016/j.lungcan.2018.05.020.

- 37. Rapisarda, A.; Melillo, G. Overcoming disappointing results with antiangiogenic therapy by targeting hypoxia. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* **2012**, *9*, 378–390, doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2012.64.
- 38. Giuliano, S.; Pages, G. Mechanisms of resistance to anti-angiogenesis therapies. *Biochimie* **2013**, *95*, 1110–1119, doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2013.03.002.
- 39. Smith, N.R.; Wedge, S.R.; Pommier, A.; Barry, S.T. Mechanisms that influence tumour response to VEGF-pathway inhibitors. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **2014**, *42*, 1601–1607, doi:10.1042/BST20140261.
- 40. Jayson, G.C.; Kerbel, R.; Ellis, L.M.; Harris, A.L. Antiangiogenic therapy in oncology: current status and future directions. *Lancet* **2016**, *388*, 518–529, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01088-0.
- Dome, B.; Timar, J.; Ladanyi, A.; Paku, S.; Renyi-Vamos, F.; Klepetko, W.; Lang, G.; Dome, P.; Bogos, K.; Tovari, J. Circulating endothelial cells, bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells and proangiogenic hematopoietic cells in cancer: From biology to therapy. *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 2009, 69, 108–124, doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2008.06.009.
- 42. Torok, S.; Rezeli, M.; Kelemen, O.; Vegvari, A.; Watanabe, K.; Sugihara, Y.; Tisza, A.; Marton, T.; Kovacs, I.; Tovari, J., et al. Limited tumor tissue drug penetration contributes to primary resistance against angiogenesis inhibitors. *Theranostics* **2017**, *7*, 400–412, doi:10.7150/thno.16767.
- 43. Dome, B.; Hendrix, M.J.; Paku, S.; Tovari, J.; Timar, J. Alternative vascularization mechanisms in cancer: Pathology and therapeutic implications. *Am. J. Pathol.* **2007**, 170, 1–15, doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.060302.
- 44. Donnem, T.; Reynolds, A.R.; Kuczynski, E.A.; Gatter, K.; Vermeulen, P.B.; Kerbel, R.S.; Harris, A.L.; Pezzella, F. Non-angiogenic tumours and their influence on cancer biology. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **2018**, *18*, 323–336, doi:10.1038/nrc.2018.14.
- 45. Frentzas, S.; Simoneau, E.; Bridgeman, V.L.; Vermeulen, P.B.; Foo, S.; Kostaras, E.; Nathan, M.; Wotherspoon, A.; Gao, Z.H.; Shi, Y., et al. Vessel co-option mediates resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy in liver metastases. *Nat. Med.* **2016**, *22*, 1294–1302, doi:10.1038/nm.4197.
- Bridgeman, V.L.; Vermeulen, P.B.; Foo, S.; Bilecz, A.; Daley, F.; Kostaras, E.; Nathan, M.R.; Wan, E.; Frentzas, S.; Schweiger, T., et al. Vessel co-option is common in human lung metastases and mediates resistance to anti-angiogenic therapy in preclinical lung metastasis models. *J. Pathol.* 2017, 241, 362– 374, doi:10.1002/path.4845.
- 47. Warth, A.; Beasley, M.B.; Mino-Kenudson, M. Breaking new ground: The evolving concept of spread through air spaces (STAS). *J. Thorac. Oncol.* **2017**, *12*, 176–178, doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2016.10.020.
- Onozato, M.L.; Kovach, A.E.; Yeap, B.Y.; Morales-Oyarvide, V.; Klepeis, V.E.; Tammireddy, S.; Heist, R.S.; Mark, E.J.; Dias-Santagata, D.; Iafrate, A.J., et al. Tumor islands in resected early-stage lung adenocarcinomas are associated with unique clinicopathologic and molecular characteristics and worse prognosis. *Am. J. Surg. Pathol.* **2013**, *37*, 287–294, doi:10.1097/PAS.0b013e31826885fb.
- Y. Yagi, R.A., K. Tabata, N. Rekhtman, T. Eguchi, J. Montecalvo, K. Manova, P. Adusumilli, M. Hameed, W. Travis. Three-dimensional immunofluorescence analysis of dynamic vessel co-option of spread through air spaces (STAS) in lung cancer. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 2018, 13, e327, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtho.2018.08.250.
- 50. Rak, J.; Filmus, J.; Finkenzeller, G.; Grugel, S.; Marme, D.; Kerbel, R.S. Oncogenes as inducers of tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* **1995**, *14*, 263–277.
- Rak, J.; Mitsuhashi, Y.; Bayko, L.; Filmus, J.; Shirasawa, S.; Sasazuki, T.; Kerbel, R.S. Mutant ras oncogenes upregulate VEGF/VPF expression: Implications for induction and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 1995, 55, 4575–4580.
- Matsuo, Y.; Campbell, P.M.; Brekken, R.A.; Sung, B.; Ouellette, M.M.; Fleming, J.B.; Aggarwal, B.B.; Der, C.J.; Guha, S. K-Ras promotes angiogenesis mediated by immortalized human pancreatic epithelial cells through mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. *Mol. Cancer Res.* 2009, *7*, 799–808, doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-08-0577.
- 53. Price, T.J.; Hardingham, J.E.; Lee, C.K.; Weickhardt, A.; Townsend, A.R.; Wrin, J.W.; Chua, A.; Shivasami, A.; Cummins, M.M.; Murone, C., et al. Impact of KRAS and BRAF gene mutation status on outcomes from the phase III AGITG MAX trial of capecitabine alone or in combination with bevacizumab and mitomycin in advanced colorectal cancer. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 2011, 29, 2675–2682, doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.34.5520.
- Masi, G.; Loupakis, F.; Salvatore, L.; Fornaro, L.; Cremolini, C.; Cupini, S.; Ciarlo, A.; Del Monte, F.; Cortesi, E.; Amoroso, D., et al. Bevacizumab with FOLFOXIRI (irinotecan, oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and

folinate) as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: A phase 2 trial. *Lancet. Oncol.* **2010**, *11*, 845–852, doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70175-3.

- 55. Bruera, G.; Cannita, K.; Tessitore, A.; Russo, A.; Alesse, E.; Ficorella, C.; Ricevuto, E. The prevalent KRAS exon 2 c.35 G>A mutation in metastatic colorectal cancer patients: A biomarker of worse prognosis and potential benefit of bevacizumab-containing intensive regimens? *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 2015, 93, 190–202, doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2014.10.004.
- Scheffler, M.; Ihle, M.A.; Hein, R.; Merkelbach-Bruse, S.; Scheel, A.H.; Siemanowski, J.; Bragelmann, J.; Kron, A.; Abedpour, N.; Ueckeroth, F., et al. K-ras mutation subtypes in NSCLC and associated cooccuring mutations in other oncogenic pathways. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 2019, 14, 606–616, doi:10.1016/j.jtho.2018.12.013.
- 57. Figueras, A.; Arbos, M.A.; Quiles, M.T.; Vinals, F.; Germa, J.R.; Capella, G. The impact of KRAS mutations on VEGF-A production and tumour vascular network. *BMC Cancer* 2013, *13*, e125, doi:10.1186/1471-2407-13-125.
- Eisenhauer, E.A.; Therasse, P.; Bogaerts, J.; Schwartz, L.H.; Sargent, D.; Ford, R.; Dancey, J.; Arbuck, S.; Gwyther, S.; Mooney, M., et al. New response evaluation criteria in solid tumours: Revised RECIST guideline (version 1.1). *Eur. J. Cancer* 2009, *45*, 228–247, doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2008.10.026.
- Renaud, S.; Guerrera, F.; Seitlinger, J.; Reeb, J.; Voegeli, A.C.; Legrain, M.; Mennecier, B.; Santelmo, N.; Falcoz, P.E.; Quoix, E., et al. KRAS-specific amino acid substitutions are associated with different responses to chemotherapy in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Clin. Lung Cancer* 2018, 19, 919– 931, doi:10.1016/j.cllc.2018.08.005.
- Ricciuti, B.; Brambilla, M.; Cortellini, A.; De Giglio, A.; Ficorella, C.; Sidoni, A.; Bellezza, G.; Crino, L.; Ludovini, V.; Baglivo, S., et al. Clinical outcomes to pemetrexed-based versus non-pemetrexed-based platinum doublets in patients with KRAS-mutant advanced non-squamous non-small cell lung cancer. *Clin. Transl. Oncol.* 2019, doi:10.1007/s12094-019-02175-y.
- Lohinai, Z.; Klikovits, T.; Moldvay, J.; Ostoros, G.; Raso, E.; Timar, J.; Fabian, K.; Kovalszky, I.; Kenessey, I.; Aigner, C., et al. KRAS-mutation incidence and prognostic value are metastatic sitespecific in lung adenocarcinoma: Poor prognosis in patients with KRAS mutation and bone metastasis. *Sci. Rep.* 2017, 7, e39721, doi:10.1038/srep39721.
- Lohinai, Z.; Hoda, M.A.; Fabian, K.; Ostoros, G.; Raso, E.; Barbai, T.; Timar, J.; Kovalszky, I.; Cserepes, M.; Rozsas, A., et al. Distinct epidemiology and clinical consequence of classic versus rare EGFR mutations in lung adenocarcinoma. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 2015, 10, 738–746, doi:10.1097/JTO.00000000000492.
- 63. Reck, M.; von Pawel, J.; Zatloukal, P.; Ramlau, R.; Gorbounova, V.; Hirsh, V.; Leighl, N.; Mezger, J.; Archer, V.; Moore, N., et al. Overall survival with cisplatin-gemcitabine and bevacizumab or placebo as first-line therapy for nonsquamous non-small-cell lung cancer: Results from a randomised phase III trial (AVAiL). *Ann. Oncol.* **2010**, *21*, 1804–1809, doi:10.1093/annonc/mdq020.
- 64. Shimizu, R.; Fujimoto, D.; Kato, R.; Otoshi, T.; Kawamura, T.; Tamai, K.; Matsumoto, T.; Nagata, K.; Otsuka, K.; Nakagawa, A., et al. The safety and efficacy of paclitaxel and carboplatin with or without bevacizumab for treating patients with advanced nonsquamous non-small cell lung cancer with interstitial lung disease. *Cancer Chemother. Pharmacol.* **2014**, *74*, 1159–1166, doi:10.1007/s00280-014-2590-x.



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).